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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

Chairman EE
Shi Kancheng ik

Dear shareholders, BMEARE -

On behalf of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (*Zhong An” or the AAZREXZLEEERAR(REZ|H[EXAD
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to  F] |):EREWEB NG (4B [AEH]) - RARIE2
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December  AREEEHE2015F 12 A31AIFFE((EEERN])
2015 (the “year under review”). ZREELE -

REVIEW OF RESULTS e =]

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the turnover of the Group & ZE2015F 12 31 BILFEE - NEERLELELY
was approximately RMB2,883 million, representing an increase A& ARMK28.831E7T @ #2014 F1LIN4186% ;: £
of approximately 86% as compared with 2014; gross profit was  F|Z&) A AR A57ETT » B 2014 FEIMNLI17%
approximately RMB457 million, representing an increase of approximately — ARQAR)EREFE AEEFBOARK421ET
17% as compared with 2014. The profit attributable to the equity holders #2014 FI1EHN14932% : R ERERNER A AR
of the Company was approximately RMB421 milion, representing an 01870 c AR EE L ([BEEE® ) FEZEHEA A
increase of approximately 32% as compared with 2014; and basic  FJEEEE 2015 FERHIPEE (20144 : ) o
earnings per share were RMB0.18. The board of directors of the

Company (the “Board”) did not propose to declare a final dividend to the

shareholders of the Company for 2015 (2014: nil).

8 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2015 Annual Report



MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The PRC real estate market was recovering from downturn atmosphere
during 2015. As the government has loosened home-purchase restrictions
progressively since 2014 and the stimulation measures such as money
easing, reduction of interest and deposit reserve ratio issued by the
People’s Bank of China as well as the multi-market policies promulgated
by the central government, the sales and prices recorded different levels of
increment in first-tier, second-tier and third-tier or below cities.

Adhering to prudent and healthy operating policies, focusing on the area
with competitive advantages such as Yangtze River Delta region, deploying
operating and marketing strategies in response to the market conditions and
in a timely manner and introducing products with high price-performance
ratio for own use, the volume of contract sales of the Group was substantially
the same as last year’s under a fierce competitive environment.

During the year under review, the Group had twelve residential projects
on sale located in six cities and districts in the Yangtze River Delta Region
and the overall sales result was basically in line with our expectation. For
the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded contracted sales
of approximately RMB3,413 million, which was substantially the same as
compared with that of 2014, and contracted GFA sold of approximately
375,000 sg. m., representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
9% as compared with that of 2014, with contracted average selling price of
approximately RMB9,098 per sg. m., representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 6%.

Besides devoting in residential property development, China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “China New City”), a subsidiary of
the Company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, has brought
in a professional management team to operate the commercial and
investment properties business, and to develop urban complex creating
value for cities as well as expand distinctive property management and
value-added services so as to build up a diversified business portfolio for
enhancing the overall competitiveness as well as mitigating operational
risks. China New City has also developed new homestay business and
utilized the 020 (online-to-offline) platform to engage in self-operated bed
and breakfast chain named “Another Village (X —%F)” in order to build a
famous brand in homestay industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFE®|E

During the year under review, the Group’s Holiday Inn located in Xiaoshan,
Hangzhou was in smooth operation with an increase of occupancy rate
as compared with 2014. Revenue from hotel operation was slightly
increased as compared with 2014. Currently, the Group has five high-
end hotels under construction or in planning stage, including the hotels
managed under the “Run Zhou” brand in Qiandao Lake, Hangzhou and
Huaibei, Anhui Province which will be put into operation at the end of 2016
and in the mid of 2017. The remaining three hotels will be managed by
internationally renowned hotel operators and will be successively put into
operation.

The leasing of Highlong Plaza and Hidden Dragon Bay, the flagship
project of the Group in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou were satisfactory,
which continued to provide a stable cash flow for the Group. At present,
the Group has three major investment properties under construction
or planning. These include high-end shopping centres and grade A
office buildings located in Yuyao of Ningbo, Qianjiang Century Town of
Hangzhou and the district centre of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, which will
also be put into operation starting from 2016.

In 2015, subsequent to the implementation of the new urbanization
development strategy by the government, the professional team of China
New City led the Group into the land development market, which the
Group considered to have huge growth potential. The Group cooperated
with local governments to develop new towns and related infrastructures
planning. Furthermore, the Group also has engaged in developing
overseas properties market, 11 townhouses will be developed in 2 phases
in wealthy low-density residential area in Vancouver, Province of British
Columbia, Canada. The development is expected to be completed by
2018. The site is located at prime location with about 20 minutes’ drive to
downtown Vancouver City. It is expected that it can generate considerable
return to the Group.

PRUDENT LAND ACQUISITION FOR
REPLENISHING LAND BANK

Adhering to the healthy acquisition policy, the Group persistently
implements its prudent land replenishment strategy of acquiring high
quality land which meets market demand at low cost at appropriate time,
S0 as to optimize the structure of its land bank.

On 15 May 2015, the Group acquired the land use right of an allocated
land with an area of 17,281.5 sg.m. located at Xiao Weidi Road, Hexi
District, Tianjin, the PRC for future land development uses through open
tender auction, at a total consideration of approximately RMB125 million.
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On 3 July 2015, the Group acquired the land use right of a site situated
at east to the land of Huawu Village, south to 02 Provincial Road, west to
Dongxi Road, north to Jingyu Road, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC for future residential and commercial development uses
through open tender auction, at a total consideration of approximately
RMB259 million. The area of the site is approximately 52,359 sg.m. with
GFA of approximately 146,605 sg.m..

On 15 September 2015, China New City acquired the land use right of a
parcel of land located at Lot XHO603-21 of Jiangcun unit, east to Hedong
Harbour, south to Wener West Road, west to Longzhang Road, north
to Xixi Garden West District, Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province,
the PRC for future commercial development uses through open tender
auction, at a total consideration of approximately RMB281 million. The
area of the site is approximately 39,703 sg.m. with GFA of approximately
59,555 sg.m..

On 23 December 2015, the Group acquired the land use right of a parcel
of land located at east to Xinkang Road, south to a plot of auctioned
land and north to the planned Hengwu Road, Beigan East Unit, Tangwan
Community, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC for
future residential development uses through open tender auction, at a total
consideration of approximately RMB271 million. The area of the site is
approximately 13,597 sq.m. with GFA of 33,993 sg.m..

On 21 January 2016, the Group and Shanghai Xu Deng Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. (“Xu Deng Enterprise”) acquired the land use right of a parcel of
land located at east to Panshui River, south to Panshui River and the
planned Greenland, west to Xiaoran West Road and north to the planned
plot of land (G13), Chengxiang Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC through open tender auction, at a total consideration
of approximately RMB673 million. It is intended that the Company and
Xu Deng Enterprise will form a joint venture (which is owned as to 50%
by each of them) for the development of the land parcel for residential
purposes. The area of the site is approximately 57,394 sq.m. with GFA of
114,788 sq.m..

While bringing synergies to the Group’s projects under construction in
Hangzhou, these projects enhance the Group’s brand influence in the
Yangtze River Delta Region.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFE®|E

As at the date of this annual report, the Group had a land bank of
approximately 6.38 million sg. m., which is scattered in ten cities and
districts in the Yangtze River Delta Region. The land bank is expected to
support its development in the next five years. The average land cost is
approximately RMB1,125 per sg.m..

OUTLOOK AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

Looking forward to 2016, the Chinese economy will still face challenges
with uncertainties in the global market, and the ongoing economic
reforms and structural adjustments may hamper the growth momentum
in the short term. It is expected that under appropriate regulatory control
by the central government, the real estate market shall remain steady
and with different development. The continued implementation of the
new urbanization policy by the central government will provide room for
continued growth of the real estate industry. Therefore, the demands
for value-for-money and end-user’s products with potential appreciation
remain to persist. The Group will remain prudent in the near term and is
optimistic in the long term, and will proactively seize market opportunities
and adjust marketing and pricing strategies and product mix to maintain
sustainable development of the Group and bring satisfactory return to our
shareholders. The Group will continue to promote its business model of
‘acquiring land and selling products at a fair price; developing projects
and collecting sales proceeds in quick process’, and, through Zhong An,
develop more quick-sale products targeting end users and high value-
added, low-density residential units in order to accelerate asset turnover.
We will continue to fully leverage on our strong brand name and optimize
marketing strategy with active marketing as the dominant mode for more
rapid growth of sales. As regards its operational management, the Group
will strengthen its internal control, implement a series of management
policies, e.g. detailed planning management, hierarchical control and
review at critical points, further improvements in the standardization of
product, process and system, in order to enhance management and
operational efficiency. At the same time, the Group will continue to steadily
push forward the development of commercial and investment properties
by China New City whose specialised management team will be in charge
of development of commercial properties, hotel management, leasing and
management of investment properties and urbanization development that
will lead to appropriate expansion in downstream services in real estate
industry, thereby generating stable revenue and dispersing operational
risks.

2015 Annual Report
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As one of the main target regions for new urbanization and modern town
development, the Yangtze River Delta Region will be set for building
a world-class city cluster. A veteran developer in the Yangtze River
Delta Region, Zhong An has accumulated extensive experience in the
development of complex real estate projects in the region and has built up
its own premium brand advantage. Therefore, the Group will continue its
established development strategy of seeking investment opportunities in
the affluent second and third-tier cities in the Yangtze River Delta Region
and the Top 100 counties across the country, strengthen cooperation
with its strategic partners to further expand its market share and maintain
its competitive edge in the industry. The Group will continue to uphold
a prudent financial policy. China New City provides an independent
funding channels to support the development of the Group’s commercial
properties business. At the same time, the finance costs will be lowered
and the debt structure will be optimized. These will maintain a stable
and sufficient cash flow that can support the Group’s development with
ample funding and branding. By gradually building highly efficient investor
relations management system, the Group can develop a long-lasting,
interactive and favourable relation with the capital markets and the media,
S0 as to enhance corporate transparency and corporate governance, and
promote the understanding, recognition and support of the Group among
the general public, thereby strengthening the shareholder base. Looking
forward, the Group is committed to become one of the most competitive
real estate developers in the Yangtze River Delta Region, as well as in
China, and to build up a diversified and synergetic business and product
portfolio, in order to maintain sustainable development, and maximize
values and generate excellent return for our shareholders.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
support and trust of our shareholders and business partners as well as the
dedicated efforts of all our staff.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2015 was RMB2,883.1
million, representing an increase of about 86.0% from that of 2014. The
gross profit for 2015 was RMB457.0 million, representing an increase of
about 17.0% from that of 2014. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2015 was about RMB420.6 million, representing an increase of
about 31.6% from that in 2014. Net core loss (excluding fair value gains
in investment properties, after tax) was RMB26.2 million representing a
decrease of about 77.4% from that in 2014. The basic earnings per share
was RMBO0.18 (2014: RMBO0.14). The Board did not propose to declare a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014 nil).

Industry Review

In 2015, the real estate industry in China had improved following a series of
interest rate cuts made by The People’s Bank of China to bolster flagging
economic growth during the year under review. Accordingly, the mortgage
interest rate and individuals’ housing provident fund deposit and lending
interest rates were also reduced. The demand for housing from property
buyers had increased as their cost of home purchases was significantly
reduced.

According to National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross floor area
(GFA) of residential properties sold in 2015 was recorded at about 1.28 billion
sg.m., representing an increase of about 6.5% compared to that of 2014,
which is slightly lower than the increment of about 7.6% recorded in 2014.

According to the portal site of www.tmsf.com (FTMEEFEELE), the GFA
of residential properties sold in Hangzhou of the Zhejiang Province was
about 13.32 million sg.m., representing an increase of about 39.6% as
compared to that of 2014, whereas the average selling price per sgq.m. was
RMB16,182, representing a decrease of about 3.4% as compared to that
of 2014.

According to www.house.365jia.cn, the GFA of residential properties sold
in Hefei of the Anhui Province was about 9.69 million sg.m., representing
an increase of about 4.3% as compared to that of 2014. The average
selling price per sgq.m. was RMB8,606, representing an increase of about
11.0% as compared to that of 2014. According to the portal site of www.
huaibei.fang.com, the GFA of residential properties sold in Huaibei of the
Anhui Province was about 1.06 million sg.m., representing a decrease
of about 60.5% as compared to that of 2014. The average selling price
per sg.m. was RMB5,421, representing an increase of about 3.0% as
compared to that of 2014. According to the portal site of www.eyuyao.
com, the GFA of residential properties sold in Yuyao of the Zhejiang
Province was about 0.76 million sg.m., representing a decrease of about
13.2% as compared to that of 2014. The average selling price per sq.m.
was RMB9,299, representing a decrease of about 5.6% as compared to
that of 2014.

According to the portal site of www.house.zxip.com, the GFA of residential
properties sold in Cixi of the Zhejiang Province was about 0.94 million
sg.m., representing an increase of about 36.8% as compared to that of
2014. The average selling price per sg.m. was RMB9,036, representing a
decrease of about 12.0% as compared to that of 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmESH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recognised revenue of properties sold and delivered by the Group in
2015 was about RMB2,882.0 million, representing an increase of about
95.8% compared to that of 2014. The increase was due to the increase in
GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2015.

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2015 was about
249,673 sg.m. (2014: 137,653 sg.m.), representing an increase of about
81.4% as compared to that of 2014.

The recognised average selling price per sg.m. achieved by the Group in
2015 was about RMB11,543, representing an increase of about 7.9% from
RMB10,693 in the previous year. It is due to the increase in greater portion
of sales of properties in the Zhejiang Province with an overall relatively
higher selling price than that of the sales recognised in 2014.

During the year under review, the total recognised GFA sold for the major
projects of the Group and the respective recognised revenue are as
follows:

R¥OE

KEBR20156FE LRI MY E 2B BRI
AN BARKE28820FEB T B2014FHEY
95.8% ' JYHRASBEEHE I MEREE
R 2015 FIEHITEEEL ©

2015%F  AEEEHE RNV EHEEEEL
5249,673F /K (20144F : 137,653F 5K) » 8
2014 FIEINHAI81.4% ©

2015%F - AEBEEHEREFL I RHEHNEBLOAA
R¥11,543 0 » | EFER AR 10,693 7T1E 10
#497.9% o RERE2014FOEREERLLE - &
B RENESNTAEHERBREETSLT
BlEIE R o

CBEFER  AEETERAMNCERHEEEER
ERERHEWALT

Percentage of
interest in the
project attributable
to the Group

Recognised Recognised AEH
GFA revenue hEZIEH
Projects EH CRAHERR ERAHEERA EENES L
sg. m. RMB million
TRk ARBEET
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou BN
Hidden Dragon Bay i 10,339 80.8 67.6%
Jiarun Mansion SN 22,239 310.8 73.1%
Landscape Bay =5E 13,952 161.9 92.6%
White Horse Manor A5 106,813 1,210.6 90.0%
Others* Hift~ - 6.2
Yuyao Rk
Dragon Bay 15 e e 8,923 286.2 90.0%
Jade Mansion IERE 21,115 392.6 93.0%
Anhui Province ZHWE
Hefei GIES
Green Harbour LERE 27,370 2271 84.2%
Huaibei JEdET
Vancouver City B ETEE 38,922 205.8 100.0%
249,673 2,882.0
& Including: Landscape Garden, New White Horse Apartments and White Horse B WKL - RSB ABERASBEE -

Noble Mansion.
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The average cost of properties sold per sgq.m. of the Group was about
RMB9,515 in 2015, representing an increase of about 19.9% from
RMB7,939 in the previous year. It was due to the increase in construction
costs recognised from projects with relatively higher construction costs in
Hangzhou which made up a greater portion than those in 2014.

Progress of development on the major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Landscape Bay

This is a residential project located on the south bank of Qiantang River,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, which was completed in
phases in previous years, with a total GFA of about 300,012 sg.m.. The
project includes island-style townhouses, high-rise apartments with river
view, car park lots and clubhouse. The entire project was completed in
2011. The volume of sales of this project during the year under review was
within expectation.

Hidden Dragon Bay

This is an integrated commercial complex in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 241,695
sg.m.. The project includes low-rise luxurious leisure mansions for
corporations, high-rise serviced apartments, a shopping mall, street shops
and car park lots. The project was completed in April 2013. The volume of
sales of this project during the year under review was within expectation.

International Office Centre

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Qianjiang Century
Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province with a total planned
GFA of about 1,896,860 sg.m. in 3 phases, Phases A to C. Phase A of the
International Office Centre includes two hotels, office buildings, a shopping
mall, serviced apartments and underground car parking lots. The serviced
apartments, a shopping mall and underground car parking lots of Plot A3
of Phase A, with a total GFA of about 327,996 sq.m., were completed but
the renovation works were in progress as at 31 December 2015. Plots A1
and A2 of the International Office Centre are expected to be completed by
December 2018.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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mEERBER  RERBADE - KREBEDH
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BB 2 10

AT B BN T ER L @ 8Tt 4 A — T KA
FEMEEIAR - EAREIRERELN 1,896,860 T
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EEEREDN
White Horse Manor

This is a residential project in Xiaoheshan, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 243,497 sg.m.. It consists
of high-rise residential buildings and low-density residential townhouses
situated at a hilly terrain with beautiful scenery and green vegetation. The
townhouse units are built with American architectural design and on the
terrain with spacious view. The project is in proximity to local universities
and Xixi Wetland. As at 31 December 2015, the construction was
completed. The result of the pre-sale of the project during the year under
review was within expectation.

Ideal Bay

This is a residential project in Linping, Yuhang District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a total GFA of about 538,856 sg.m.. The
project consists of townhouses in British architectural design and high
rise apartment units. As at 31 December 2015, the construction was
in progress. It is expected that the townhouse portion and the high-
rise residential portion will be completed in around June 2016. The
pre-sale of the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Chaoyang No. 8

This is a project with multi-storey residential apartments and commercial
amenities in Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 199,224 sq.m.. It is at the prime
location with Hangzhou Metro Line No.2 terminal in the proximity. As at
31 December 2015, the construction was in progress. The project, as a
whole, is expected to be completed in around May 2017. The pre-sale of
the project during the year under review was within expectation.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel

This is a hotel project in Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province with a GFA of about 46,691 sg.m.. This hotel will be built
at the shore of Qiandao Lake with a beautiful lake view and natural habitat.
As at 31 December 2015, the construction was in progress. It is expected
that the project will be completed by the second half of 2016.
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College Square

This is a residential project located at Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province and its total GFA is about 146,605 sqg.m.. It consists of high rise
residential apartments and shopping units. It is very close to the old city of
Yuhang District and situated at the planned hi-tech center of Hangzhou.
The construction will be commenced in the second quarter of 2016 and is
expected to be completed in around the second quarter of 2018. The pre-
sales will be commenced in June 2016.

White Horse Palace

This is a residential project located at Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province and its total GFA is about 68,345 sq.m.. It consists of
high rise residential apartments and townhouses. It is at one of the core
areas of Xiaoshan District. The construction will be commenced in the
second quarter of 2016 and is expected to be completed in around the
second quarter of 2018. The pre-sales will be commenced in June 2016.

Yuyao, Zhejiang Province

Dragon Bay

This is a high-end low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, which was completed in 2013, with a total GFA of 196,809
sg.m.. The project consists of French, European and Spanish-style low-
rise residential buildings. The sale during the year under review was within
expectation.

Jade Mansion

This is a low-density residential project in Yuyao, Zhejiang Province with
a total GFA of 292,807 sg.m.. The project consists of 3 phases with
townhouses and residential apartments and it is next to the Dragon Bay.
As at 31 December 2015, the construction of Phase | with townhouse
was completed and Phase Il is in the planning stage. The construction
of Phase Il with residential apartments will be completed in around June
2016. The pre-sale of this project during the year under review was within
expectation.
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Zhong An Times Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial project in Yuyao, Zhejiang
Province, with a total GFA of about 628,408 sg.m. in 2 phases. It is next to
the Dragon Bay and the Jade Mansion, which are projects spanning along
a river. The project consists of 2 phases. Phase | is planned to include a
shopping mall, a boutique hotel and two commercial office towers and
underground car parking spaces while Phase Il is planned to include two
hotels, one Grade A office tower and six high-rise serviced apartment
buildings, underground car parking spaces and street shops. As at 31
December 2015, the construction of Phase Il of this project is nearly
completed while Phase | of this project is still in progress and is expected to
be completed by the end of 2016. The pre-sales of residential apartments,
offices and shops in Phase Il have been commenced during the year under
review while property leasing is expected to commence in September
2016.

Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi

This is a residential project with commercial portion which provides
ancillary services to the local residents. The total GFA is about 510,125
sg.m.. It consists of multi-storey apartments and commercial block
which will be constructed in phases. As at 31 December 2015, the first
phase of the multi-storey apartments was under construction and it
will be completed in around May 2016. The pre-sale of the multi-storey
apartments during the year under review was within expectation.

Hefei, Anhui Province

Green Harbour

This is a low-density residential project in Hefei, Anhui Province, which was
completed in previous years. The pre-sale of this project during the year
under review was within expectation.

Huaibei, Anhui Province

Vancouver City

This is a low density residential project in Huaibei, Anhui Province, which
includes townhouses, multi-storey apartments and shopping units. The

project is developed in phases, out of which five phases were completed.
The pre-sale during the year under review was within expectation.
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The construction of a hotel, VC Hotel, with GFA of about 67,061 sg.m. in
Phase 6D will be completed in the second half of 2016.

Jiangsu Province

Jia Run Square

This is a large-scale integrated commercial property project in Suzhou,
Jiangsu Province and it is close to Jinji Lake. It consists of offices, shopping
mall, serviced apartments and a hotel with a total GFA of about 251,391
sg.m.. The construction will be completed in around December 2016.

During the year under review, the project was held and developed by a
property development company (the “Joint Venture”). The Joint Venture
was held as to 50% by the Group (through an indirect, non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and 50% by Jiangsu GCL Real Estate
Company Limited (“Jiangsu GCL”"). On 24 December 2015, the Group
entered into an agreement with Jiangsu GCL for the disposal of its entire
equity interest of the Joint Venture to Jiangsu GCL as the Group intended
to concentrate its resources on the development of commercial projects in
other cities in the Yangtze River Delta Region where higher asset turnover
and return on investment are anticipated and the disposal was completed
as at 31 December 2015.

Tianjin

This is a land re-development project in Hexi District, Tianjin. The
reallocation and demolition works will be commenced in around April
2016. It is expected that this allocated land will, upon completion of the re-
development project, be transferred to the local government by June 2016.
This re-development project is a part of the urban renewal project of the
Tianjin government.

Overseas

Amber Rise

A project was set up in Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, Canada
with a GFA of about 7,719 sq.m.. The site is located at wealthy district
with about 20 minutes drive to downtown of Vancouver city. Totally 11
townhouses with individual swimming pools and deluxe design will be built
in 2 phases. Construction will be commenced in the fourth quarter of 2016
and it is expected that the entire project will be completed by end of 2018.
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EEEmED T

Contracted sales in 2015

As at 31 December 2015, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 375,188 sg.m. (2014: 410,848 sg.m.) with the amount of about
RMB3,413.3 million (2014: RMB3,532.9 million). Set out below are the

details of the contracted sales from the major projects:

2015 F S RIHE

HZE2015F12A318  AEEMNEREEEELD
5375188 F K (20144 : 410,848 F 1K) * &
RIHEWAAHARES 41335 E T (20144 ¢

AR®3532988T)  TREANGRHERF

BT
Percentage of
interest in
the project
attributable
to the Group
Contracted Contracted TEE
Projects HH GFA sold amount hEZIEH
ERGEES ERHBEKRA EENEDE
(sg.m.) (RMB million)
(FFFK) (ANREBETT)
Zhejiang Province HIE
Hangzhou M
Chaoyang No. 8 A5 8 9% 44,105 598.4 90%/65.8%
Hidden Dragon Bay pEaE 8,124 60.8 67.6%
Ideal Bay B8 75,414 512.2 45.9%
Jiarun Mansion EEYN 28,878 402.9 73.1%
Landscape Bay =8 15,745 182.2 92.6%
White Horse Manor HE L 26,283 288.9 90.0%
Others* Eib~ 80 7.1
Yuyao Rk
Dragon Bay 15 Be e 6,373 191.6 90.0%
Jade Mansion R 23,165 261.7 93.0%
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ll) R ES (—H) 31,757 282.3 93.0%/68.0%
Cixi 2y
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi ~ ZER % IL7KFE 32,978 142.5 90.0%/65.8%
Anhui Province ZRE
Hefei GIES
Green Harbour HesE 19,684 172.7 84.2%
Huaibei BT
Vancouver City BETER 62,602 310.0 100.0%
375,188 3,413.3
* Including: Landscape Garden, New White Horse Apartments and White Horse BFE WK - TESABREFEE -

Noble Mansion.
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It is expected that the GFA available for sale or operation from the projects
to be completed in 2016 would be about 1,685,406 sg.m., the details of

which are as follows:
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Percentage of

FERT 2016 F 52 TIH B MY A] i H B sl A& ML

MmiE4)/51,685,406F /52K » BT -

interest in
GFA available the project
Expected for sale/lease attributable
completion /operation to the Group
date AEHE HE/ AEBEN Usage
Projects EE BIAIAE RENEEER  EEEREIL A&
(sam.)
(ERK)
Ideal Bay bdich June 2016 538,856 45.9% For sale
20166 A HE
Jade Mansion (Phase Il) HEEE(ZH) June 2016 128,450 93% For sale
20166 A HE
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake MMTEH September 2016 46,691 73.1% For operation
Run Zhou Resort Hotel EMNERDE 201649 A i
Zhong An Times Square REHRES(ZH) June 2016 322,935 93.0%/68.0% For sale
(Phase Il 20166 A HE
Vancouver City (Phase 3) BEE (F3H) December 2016 132,537 100.0% For sale
2016 12 A HE
Vancouver City (Phase 4) BEES (F4H) June 2016 60,513 100.0% For sale
20166 A HE
VG Hotel (Vancouver City BEFERE December 2016 67,061 67.6% For operation
(Phase 6D)) (RIFERZEEDE) 2016512 A ge
Zhong An Landscape Garden, Cixi BEFRLIIKIE June 2016 82,890 90.0%/65.8% For sale
20166 A HE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ) REHRES(—H) December 2016 305,473 93.0%/68.0% For operation
201612 A and sale
EERE
Total st 1,685,406
REEERRAR Z—E—AFFR
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Land bank

As at 31 December 2015, the total GFA of the Group’s land bank was
about 6,383,190 sg.m., out of which the total unsold or undelivered GFA
of the completed properties projects was about 918,651 sg.m.. As at 31
December 2015, the average acquisition cost of the Group’s overall land
bank was about RMB1,125 per sg.m..

During the year under review, the GFA of properties of which the
construction was newly commenced by the Group was about 60,752
sg.m..

Other business development

The Group strives to build up a diversified business portfolio so as to
provide more stable income in the future and to mitigate operational risk.
We will broaden the scope of property services which includes hotel
operation, leasing, property management services, nursery stock and
agricultural plantation, in order to extend the downstream services of
our property development business and to maintain a steady and solid
operation of our Group.

Hotel operation

Holiday Inn Xiaoshan Hangzhou, a hotel of the Group, is located next to
the Highlong Plaza in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province. It is
managed by Holiday Inn (China) Co., Limited, a well-known international
hotel brand within the InterContinental Hotels Group, and recorded a
revenue of about RMB48.1 million for 2015, which was slightly higher than
the revenue of about RMB47.6 million recorded in 2014. The occupancy
rate was about 54.5% (2014: 46.6%).
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Leasing

The leasing revenue for 2015 was about RMB90.1 million, representing a
decrease of about 3.2% compared to RMB93.1 million in 2014.

Currently, Highlong Plaza provides the main source of leasing income.
This plaza consists of office buildings, a shopping centre, a hotel, serviced
apartments and underground car parking lots. The serviced apartments
at Highlong Plaza were sublet to and managed by independent operators,
Ningbo Sanbi Hotel and Hangzhou Youbang Hotel, during the year under
review. The performance of the operation was satisfactory.

The shopping units of Hidden Dragon Bay with GFA of about 24,211 sg.m.
had contributed another source of rental income during the year.

The overall leasing rate was 75% (2014: 85%).

Property management

The Group provides quality property management services to the
communities located in properties developed by the Group and other
developers. The services are further enhanced by including the provision
of travel tours, housekeeping and nanny services, etc.. The provision of
customer-oriented services and the wide variety of services offered have
strengthened the Group’s corporate brand management.

Other services

The Group is also developing nursery stock plantation for agricultural
purposes and managing organic plantations for producing agricultural
products. The customers are mainly the home-owners of the properties
to which property management services are provided by the Group. Such
value-added downstream services will form an integral part of the Group’s
property development and management businesses, and are expected to
fortify further the Group’s corporate branding.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The Group had received the following awards and accolades from the PRC
government and recognized authorities during the year under review:

Awarded by
RS

RS -

Awards

#®15

RIAREE

AEEREEFEEBRF MR A SERED T

Awarded parties/projects

®%5,/HE

China Real Estate Research Association, China Real
Estate Association, China Real Estate Appraisal
FREHEREE  PEEMEERS  PE
FEHERIFT

China Real Estate Research Association, China Real
Estate Association, China Real Estate Appraisal
FEEMERRE  TEEMEXGE  HH
B RIET A O

China Real Estate Research Association, China Real
Estate Association, China Real Estate Appraisal
PEEMERRTS  TEEMEXRS - FEH

P 2 BIRT AR

China Real Estate Research Association, China Real
Estate Association, China Real Estate Appraisal
FEEMERRE  FREMEEGE  HE

B 2 BRI

Ministry of Commerce of Xiaoshan District

ALUEEER

Beigan Road of Xiaoshan District
#lElFaE

People’s Government of Xiaoshan District

FELRAREAG

Top 100 China Real Estate Development
Enterprise for 2015
2015 Bl fE AR E (b ¥ 10058

Top 10 China Real Estate Development
Enterprise by Regional Operation for 2015
2015 FEIEERE P ERIGEE 105

Top 100 China Real Estate Listed Companies of
Comprehensive Strength
2015 HEIFEE EMARSAE /10058

Top 20 China Real Estate Development
Enterprise (Zhejiang Province)
2015 FBIFMERBE R FNTE 205

The Top 10 Chairman of Board (General
Manager) 2014
4 FFETEERR (BEFR)

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong Commercial
Buildings Co., Ltd. is awarded the title of
“Advance Enterprise 2014” and RMB 30,000 as
a prize of achieving scale economics effect

MMNBRLEEEEAR A RERT20145 %
12 B LR IEE B 126 AR ¥ 30,000 7T
Modern Service Concentrated Zone of Xiaoshan

District
BLERARREEER

2015 Annual Report
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REFEERRAH

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RREEERLE

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
REEERRLF

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RLFERRAA

Ms. Jin Ni, the Chairman of the
Board of Hangzhou Zhong An
Highlong Commercial Buildings
Co., Ltd., (a subsidiary of the
Company)

&feat  MNRREERES
RARI(RARIMMEAR)EE
LR

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.
MMNBRREEEERRAR

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.
MMNBRREEEERRAR
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Awards

®15

EEE WD T

Awarded parties/projects

®%5,HE

People’s Government of Xiaoshan District

BB ARBA

Publicity Department of Xiaoshan District
Committee, Education Bureau of Xiaoshan
District, Women Development Association of
Xiaoshan District, Xiaoshan Daily
BUEZSES BLEHER  BLERFZ
weg - RLAR

Talented Teenage Award Fund of Zhejiang

“Overall Tax Creation Commercial Building
Management Entity 2014” and RMB 100,000
014 FRBEMABERLIEBI AR
100,000 7T

“Care for Children” a series of activities for the
first-year teenage countdown party in Xiaoshan
District 2016 — Outstanding Organizational Unit
016FRILE[TFTERE | ELRZBEERER
FEE) —BAAREN

Charitable Activity Caring Unit 2015

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.
MR BEEEARAR

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.

MR L EREEERR AR

Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong

Province

MTABVFES RBESE

Human resources

As at 31 December 2015, the Group employed a total of 2,247 staff (2014
2,225). In 2015, the staff cost of the Group was about RMB173.9 million
(2014: about RMB134.3 million), representing an increase of about 29.5%.
The increase was mainly due to hiring higher caliber staff during the year
under review. The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by
reference to factors such as remuneration information in respect of the
local market, the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation
level, corporate operating efficiency and performance of the employees.
The Group conducts performance appraisal on a yearly basis for its
employees, the results of which are taken into account of in the annual
salary review and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees are
considered for the entitlement of annual discretionary bonus according
to certain performance conditions and appraisal results. To attract
high calibre people and solidify the management of the Group, eligible
participants (including employees of the Group) may be granted options
to subscribe for shares in the Company pursuant to the share option
scheme adopted by the Company. The Group also provides continuous
learning and training programs to its employees to enhance their skills and
knowledge, so as to maintain their competitiveness.

Dividend policy

The Board determines the dividend policy of the Company according to
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, shareholders’
equity, contractual restraint and other factors considered relevant by the
Board.

2015 FEENFEHT LEM

Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.
MMNBRREEEERRAR

ANEIR
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded audited gross
profit of about RMB457.0 million, representing an increase of about 17.0%
as compared to that of about RMB390.5 million in the previous year. The
increase in gross profit is the net effect of (i) the increase in recognised
revenue from the properties sold and delivered which contributed to
an increase in gross profit and (i) the decrease, due to adverse market
conditions, in the scale of selling prices for the pre-sales that had taken
place in the periods between 2013 and 2014, of those properties sold and
delivered in the year under review.

Other income

Other income increased by more than 5 times to about RMB276.3 million
in 2015 from about RMB43.6 million in 2014. The increase was primarily
due to an increase in interest income earned from a joint venture and the
disposal of the Group’s entire equity interest of a joint venture during the
year under review.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution expenses increased by about 54.1% to about
RMB208.8 million in 2015 from about RMB135.5 million in 2014. This
increase was primarily due to the increase in the marketing expenses
spent for the pre-sales of launched projects to counter fierce competition
in the unfavourable market condition in 2015. The level of contracted sales
achieved for 2015 was similar to that of 2014.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by about 1.4% to about
RMB299.8 million in 2015 from about RMB304.1 million in 2014. This was
primarily due to the non-recurrent, one-off expenses incurred in 2014 in
connection with the listing of a subsidiary during the year under review.

Other expenses

The other expenses decreased by about 20.0% to about RMB5.6 million in
2015 from about RMB7.0 million in 2014 which was due to the decrease
in charitable donation made during the year under review.
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Fair value gain upon transfer to investment
properties

The fair value gain increased by about 21.3% to about RMB796.6 million in
2015 from about RMB656.8 million in 2014. This was due to the valuation
of a property of International Office Centre A3 with GFA of 83,585 sg.m.
which were classified as investment properties in 2015 and the value was
greater than that recognised in 2014.

Finance costs

The finance costs decreased by about 9.4% to about RMB34.3 million in
2015 from about RMB37.8 million in 2014. This drop was primarily due to
a decrease in bank loans in 2015.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses increased by about 74.7% to about RMB415.3
million in 2015 from about RMB237.7 million in 2014. The rise was due to
an increase in assessable profits in 2015 arising mainly from the increase
in (i) recognised revenue of property business and (i) fair value gain upon
transfer of completed properties to investment properties.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of about RMB1,706.8 million (2014:
RMB1,589.4 million). It was the same level of that in 2014. The current ratio
was 1.20 (2014:0.94).

As at 31 December 2015, the bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group repayable within one year and after one year were about
RMB2,213.2 million and RMB3,981.7 million respectively (2014:
RMB2,045.6 million and RMB4,920.6 million respectively). The decrease
was mainly due to the increase in repayment of bank loans and borrowings
in the year under review.

The consolidated interest expenses in 2015 amounted to about RMB34.3
million (2014: RMB37.8 million) in total. Interests in the amount of about
RMB513.4 million (2014: RMB532.7 million) were capitalized during
the year under review. Interest coverage (including amount of interests
capitalized) was 0.43 times (2014: 0.02 times). As at 31 December 2015,
the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the Group was 0.66 (2014:
0.66).
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The ratio of bank loans and other borrowings to total assets was 0.28
(2014: 0.34). The net gearing ratio of the Group (defined as net debt
divided by total equity) was 0.59 (2014: 0.77) (net debt is defined as total
debt less cash and cash equivalent, and total restricted cash).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2015, the capital commitments of the Group were
about RMB1,266.6 million (2014: RMB2,071.4 million), which were mainly
capital commitments for construction costs. It is expected that the Group
will finance such commitments from its own funds and external financing
(such as bank loans).

Guarantees and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the contingent liabilities of the Group was about
RMB3,867.1 million (2014: RMB2,520.8 million), which were mainly the
guarantee given by the Group in favour of certain banks for the grant of
mortgage loans to buyers of the Group’s properties.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2015, investment properties of the Group with carrying
value of about RMB3,692.3 million (2014: RMB2,094.0 million), properties
under development of about RMB2,741.7 milion (2014: RMB2,658.7
million), completed properties of about RMB2,378.4 million (2014: 2,160.1
million), property and equipment of about RMB144.3 million (2014:
RMB1583.7 million), time deposits of about RMB123.1 million (2014: 320.0
million) and the 100% equity interest of a subsidiary of the Company with
total equity of about RMB6.0 million (2014: nil) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities and other borrowings for the Group.
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Foreign exchange risk

As the sales, purchase and bank borrowings of the Group in 2015 and
2014 were made mainly in Renminbi, the foreign exchange risk exposed
by the Group was relatively minor. The Group did not use foreign exchange
hedging instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks in 2015 and 2014.

Interest rate risks

The interest rates for certain portion of the Group’s loans were floating.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the interest cost of new
loans and existing loans. The Group currently does not use derivative
instruments to hedge its interest rate risks.

Subsequent events

As announced on 21 January 2016, Zhong An Group Co, Ltd. (a 90%
owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC) and Shanghai Xu Deng
Enterprise Co., Ltd., an independent third party, jointly made a successful
bid, through open tender auction, for the land use right of a piece of
land situated at east to Panshui River, south to Panshui River® and the
planned Greenland, west to Xiaoran West Road and north to the planned
plot of land (G13), Chengxiang Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the “Site”) at the total land grant price of
RMB673,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$801,973,355). The Site
is granted for residential development for a term of 70 years. The area of
the Site is approximately 57,394 sgq.m. and its total GFA is approximately
114,788 sq. m..

Save as disclosed above, there was no matter occurred that bears
significant effect to the Group between the year end date and the date of
this annual report.
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Prospects

As the central government of China will continue to maintain a sustainable
GDP growth and promulgate various proactive policies to stimulate
economic growth, it is expected that the People’s Bank of China will
remain prudent but more accommodative on China’s monetary policies in
2016.

The Group believes that with the continuous advocation of urbanization by
the central government, there is always a demand for value-for-money and
end-use residential properties.

The Group continues to adopt a prudent approach in acquiring land for
development of projects which will be sold at a fair price and lead to quick
cash inflow. This will, in turn, result in a quick asset turnover. Furthermore,
the Group will continue to maintain sufficient cash flow and to achieve
relative low finance cost through enhancing the financing structure of the
Group.

Last but not least, the Group will continue to focus on property
development in cities, particularly, second and third tier-cities, with
relatively high GDP per capita in the Yangtze River Delta. Leveraging on
the Group’s capabilities in quality property management and the provision
of other value-added services to the communities within the properties
developed by the Group, corporate branding is expected to be enhanced
further and synergetic results will be produced.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEREE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to
maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) and certain recommended best practices
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Year”), the Board
had applied the principles of the Code Provisions contained in, and
complied with, the Code with the exception of the deviation from the
Code Provision A.2.1 (as the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company were not separate and were both
performed by Mr Shi Kancheng).

The Board believes that the performance of the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer by the same person provides the
Company with consistent leadership and enables the Company to
formulate its business strategies and implement its business plans
and decisions efficiently.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.
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(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors confirmed
with the Company that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the Year.

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
(Re-elected on 20 May 2015)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr Lou Yifei

Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (with professional qualification in accordance
with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules)
(Re-elected on 20 May 2015)

Mr Zhang Huagiao (Re-elected on 20 May 2015)

During the Year, the Board had at all times met the requirements
of rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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ERWE

The three independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board, the proportion of which is higher than what
is required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders.

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall
strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

A total of five Board meetings were held during the Year. The
individual attendance of each Director was as follows:

—EBUFPTESBRAEZTENE ALY
=9z — WhlER EWRAIE310AER
T oEREIEE EFSRENEREREH
S AvA AV R

ERgNFATHRETmARENERS
B SERMBRE c EEHRE2MERK
REANEABERZARA([HA))EBE
FHASMER -

FREFRRTALTREFRESE - BE
FROEBLEEDT ;

Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 5
Mr Lou Yifei B—mREE 5
Ms Shen Tiaojuan PSRt 5
Mr Zhang Jiangang SR ER 8 ST A 5
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 5
Dr Loke Yu P NIE LT 5
Mr Zhang Huagjiao RALIE S 3

All Directors had attended the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) held on 20 May 2015 except for Mr Zhang
Huagiao because of prior engagement to attend some other
matters.

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. In addition, the Board has also specifically resolved that all
transactions/contracts/other matters of the Group that are subject
to the disclosure requirement in accordance with the Listing Rules
should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the Year, the Directors (namely Mr Shi Kancheng,
Mr Lou Yifei, Ms Shen Tiaojuan, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Professor
Pei Ker Wei, Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao) had taken
external trainings in the form of seminars and courses provided
by educational institutions and professional bodies. The Board
considered such trainings attended by the Directors are sufficient to
discharge their duties.

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage in respect of legal action against the Directors arising from
their duties performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in the annual report of the Company, there
are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Functions of the Board and the Senior
Management

The Board is responsible for providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Board is responsible for formulating
the Group’s overall objectives and strategies, monitoring and
evaluating its operating and financial performance and reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, accounting
policies, proposal of declaration of dividends, major transactions,
appointment or re-appointment of directors after considering,
when necessary and appropriate, the recommendations from the
committees established by the Board.

Senior management is delegated by the Board with the responsibility
for the execution of the business plans and strategies adopted by
the Board, assisting the Board in the preparation of the financial
statements for approval by the Board, the implementation of
adequate procedures put forward by the Board and/or the
committees established by the Board and reporting regularly to and
seeking approval from the Board on important matters from time to
time.
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Appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The
members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened
and held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by
ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his/her period
of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by
ordinary resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the governance committee
(the “Governance Committee”). All the Board committees perform
their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference which are available for inspection by Shareholders on
the Company’s website. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

OFFICER

During the Year, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were performed by Mr Shi Kancheng.

The Chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No
specific or other issues had been raised or discussed as it had
been concluded that all issues which would be discussed had been
properly dealt with in the meetings of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for
a term of two years commencing on 1 January 2015 for Mr Zhang
Huagiao and 30 June 2015 for Dr Loke Yu, and 1 November 2015
for Professor Pei Ker Wei.

The director’s fee specified in the service contract of each of Dr Loke
Yu, Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao is RMB200,000
per annum.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive
academic, professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advice to the
Board.
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(F) REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Professor Pei Ker
Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and the members
are Ms Shen Tiaojuan (an executive Director) and Dr Loke Yu (an
independent non-executive Director).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for
the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d)  toreview and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive for the Company;

(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any compensation
payment is otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

M to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(9  toreview and approve the remuneration report of the Group, if
any.
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The basis of the emolument payable to the Directors is determined
with reference to the range of prevailing directors’ fee for director
of listed companies in Hong Kong and is subject to the approval of
the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, experience and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of
performance-based remuneration.

Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the
Year. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
policy of the Group, assessed the performance of all Directors
and their terms of employment under their respective service
contracts and (if applicable) their renewal including but not limited
to the remuneration packages of those Directors who had offered
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting held on
20 May 2015 during the Year. In fulfilling its roles and functions, the
Remuneration Committee had ensured that no Director or any of his
associates was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The
individual attendance of each member was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HE R B
Professor Pei Ker Wei BREHR 2
Dr Loke Yu R g Mg 2
Ms Shen Tiaojuan LRIt 2

(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng
(an executive Director) and the members are Professor Pei Ker Wei,
Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao (both are independent non-
executive Directors).

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;
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to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Diversity Policy, and
to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting under
Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, to review and provide
recommendations to the shareholders of the Company (other
than shareholders who are directors with a material interest in
the relevant service contracts and their respective associates)
as to whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and
reasonable and whether such service contracts are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon his/her
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The determination and review by the Board during the Year of

the Diversity Policy involved the consideration of various elements

including gender, age, culture, qualification, ability, work experience,

leadership and professional ethics of the candidates and against

the objective criteria set out by the Board. The Board recognizes

the importance of having a diverse Board and considers the above

essential elements (which have been taken into account when

determining the existing composition of the Board) in maintaining

a competitive advantage and achieving sustainable growth for the

Group.
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The nomination procedures are as follow: candidates for directorship
are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to the review
and approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles. The
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
approving candidates for directorship are based on the Diversity
Policy including whether the candidates are appropriate in terms
of experience and the potential contribution to the Group and with
reference to the candidates’ professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills.

Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during
the Year. The Nomination Committee nominated, and the Board
recommended Mr Shi Kancheng, Dr Loke Yu and Mr Zhang Huagiao
to be re-elected at the annual general meeting held on 20 May 2015
and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

The individual attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee was as follows:
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Number of attendance

HERE
Mr Shi Kancheng FERAX 55 2
Dr Loke Yu R NIE LT 2
Mr Zhang Huagjiao RACAE S 2

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided
by the Independent Auditors, Emst & Young, for the Year was
RMB1,900,000 (2014: RMB1,650,000).

During the Year, the Independent Auditors were also engaged to
review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB420,000

(2014: RMB670,000).

Except as disclosed above, there were no non-audit services
provided by the independent Auditors during the Year.
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() AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dr Loke Yu and the
members are Professor Pei Ker Wei and Mr Zhang Huagiao. Al
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to discuss before the audit commences, with the external
auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations any matters where action or improvement
is needed. The Audit Committee should also review the non-
auditor services provided by the external auditor on an annual
basis, to ensure that the independence of such external
auditor will not be affected;

(e)  to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;
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) to review, in draft form and before submission to the Board,
the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report

and, if prepared for publication, quarterly report, focus

particularly on:

Vi

Vil

Viii.

X.

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards;

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions (if any) have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cashflow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

in regard to (e) and (f) above:

M

(i)

52 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with
the Company’s auditors; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting functions, compliance officer or
auditors;
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to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or
by the Board itself, to review the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control and risk management systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to review the Company’s statement on internal control
systems (where one is included in the annual report) prior to
endorsement by the Board;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal audit manager upon their resignation in
order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;
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to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, a company secretary, auditors and
accounting staff either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Audit Committee member, company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions
contained in the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (as amended from time to
time) and/or any of the matters set out above as well as the
Audit Committee’s decisions or recommendations, unless
there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to
do so (such as restriction on disclosure due to regulatory
requirements);

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are
in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.
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A total of three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during
the Year. The work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Year included the following:

- reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2014;

- reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2015;

- reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

- reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

S reviewed the results of internal audit and had discussion with
internal auditors on any significant findings and internal control
issues;

- discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the external
auditors for the Year.

The individual attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
was as follows:
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(J) GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

56 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

The Company has set up a governance committee (the
“Governance Committee”) and the terms of reference adopted
complied with the requirement of the Listing Rules.

The chairman of the Governance Committee is Mr Shi Kancheng (an
executive Director). The remaining members are Ms Shen Tiaojuan
(an executive Director), Mr Zhang Jiangang (an executive Director),
Professor Pei Ker Wei (an independent non-executive Director) and
Mr Zhang Huagiao (an independent non-executive Director).

The role and functions of the Governance Committee include the
following:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code
Provisions and the disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Two meetings of the Governance Committee were held during the
Year. The Governance Committee had reviewed the effectiveness of
the policies and practices on corporate governance for the Group,
discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the Group’s compliance
with the Code Provisions and the prevailing Listing Rules during the
Year.
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The individual attendance of each member of the Governance
Committee was as follows:
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Mr Shi Kancheng FEARAX 55 2
Ms Shen Tiaojuan ICARIE X+ 2
Mr Zhang Jiangang SR EX 8 S0 A 2
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The terms of reference of the Governance Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

(K) DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN

(L)

PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in the annual report of which
this report forms part.

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL
CONTROL OF THE GROUP

The Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control of the Group and resolved that
the system of internal control of the Group during the Year was
effective. Such review had covered all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors considered that there are adequate resources and
budget available for the staff with appropriate qualifications and
experience in the aspect of training and discharging the accounting
and financial reporting functions.
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(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

58 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

The Company had appointed Mr Lam Yau Yiu as its company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”). Mr Lam had taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biography of Mr
Lam is set out on page 66 of the annual report of which this report
forms part.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the extraordinary general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of
the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on
the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to
Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the
nominating shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or
she should give to the Secretary notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier
than the 7 clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant
general meeting and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date
appointed for the relevant general meeting.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.
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The Company welcomes enquiries from its Shareholders. The Board
or designated senior management or the Company Secretary will
review Shareholders’ enquiries on a regular basis. Specific enquiries
and suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary by e-mail at ir@zafc.com or at the
address of the Company’s head office in the PRC or principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there were no changes to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

(P) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means
of access includes the release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company via the website of the
Stock Exchange and the website of the Company (http://www.
zafc.com). Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to
attend general meetings of the Company where the Chairman of
the Company and other members of the Board and (if appropriate)
the auditors of the Company are available to answer questions.
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company
for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders
may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in
the PRC or principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail at
ir@zafc.com.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 22 March 2016
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Social Responsibility
HtEEE

GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY 2015

Zhong An - participation in charity and the
pursuit of our mission “Giving Back to the
Society”

Zhong An has always been pursuing the mission of “Giving Back to the
Society”.

The Group embraces the belief of contributing to the society. We strive
to have better economic performance with the goal of benefitting the
society to the greatest extent in mind. Therefore, we devote ourselves
to the development of charitable affairs. We also proactively participate
in community welfare activities. We have from time to time expressed
concerns over the livelihoods of the underprivileged groups and are willing
to undertake our corporate social responsibilities.

We have devoted ourselves to participation of charitable affairs. During the
year under review, we made donations to various organisations so as to
fulfill the essence of “Giving Back to the Society”. Totally, we had donated
about RMB493,000 to various organisations during the year under review.

We had donated RMB50,000 to “Spring Breeze Operation” in Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou to fund the social services which target the needy
grassroots. This is a local project that Zhong An has been supporting
for years. We also donated RMB200,000 to local welfare organizations
of Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou as a patronage to their assistance to the
poors.

Besides, Zhong An provided patronage to non government organisation.
We donated RMB30,000 to the Lion Club in Shenzhen. We also extended
the patronage to “Sunflower Children Assistance Fund” with a donation of
RMB40,000.

Furthermore, Zhong An cares about the society in Hong Kong. We
donated RMB173,000 to three charitable bodies.

Zhong An will continue to fuffill its corporate philosophy “Giving Back to the
Society”.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan), aged 53, is the Chairman, an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(the “Company”). He also serves as the chairman of the nomination
committee and the governance committee of the Company. Mr Shi is
also the Chairman and the non-executive director of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“China New City”), a subsidiary of
the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Shi
also holds directorships in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr Shi
is primarily responsible for the strategic and development planning of
the Group. He also supervises project planning and the overall business
operation. Mr Shi joined the Group since the establishment of the first
member of the Group, Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known
as Zhejiang Zhong'an Property Development Co., Ltd.) (“Zhong An
Group”). Mr Shi served as a tax officer in the finance and revenue bureau
of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan City)
and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Milkyway Real Estate”). Mr Shi graduated from
an Executive Master of Business Administration program co-organized
by the State University of Arizona and Shanghai National Accounting
College in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed a program
for executive officers, focusing on globalization and real estate developers,
co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The University of
Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy. In the same period,
Mr Shi completed a program for presidents of real estate companies
organized by Zhejiang University. Mr Shi has over 23 years of experience in
property development and property investment. Mr Shi is the sole director
and the sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited, which is
the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Lou Yifei, aged 66, is an executive Director and the general manager of
Hangzhou Anyuan Property Development Co., Ltd. (a company owned
as to 45.9% by the Group) and holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for the operation and project
management of the Group. He joined the Group in March 2006. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr Lou was the vice president and manager of the
engineering department of Laiyinda Real Estate Co., Ltd., a supervisor
of Laiyin Property and had served various positions in the same group of
companies from 2000 to 2006. Mr Lou was a deputy general manager
of Milkyway Real Estate from 1994 to 2000. From 1984 to 1994, Mr Lou
worked for a government bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou, where
he was primarily responsible for infrastructure construction management.
From 1978 to 1983, he served as construction and engineering manager
of Linpu Construction Company. He received an associate degree in
architectural engineering from Wuhan University of Technology in 1992
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREBAEERE

and completed a graduate degree in structural engineering at Zhejiang
University of Technology in 2002. Mr Lou obtained his engineering
qualification in 1999. Mr Lou has 37 years of experience in the construction
operations and management of property development.

Shen Tiaojuan, aged 53, is an executive Director and the Vice President
of the Company and also holds directorships in certain of its subsidiaries.
Ms Shen also serves as a member of the remuneration committee and the
governance committee of the Company. She is primarily responsible for
the financial operation and financial management of the Group. She joined
the Group in December 1997. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Shen was the
chief accountant of White Swan Industry Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997, the
chief accountant of Hangzhou Hualing Electrics Co., Ltd. in 1994, and the
chief accountant and finance manager of Hangzhou Guanghua Chemical
Fibres Factory from 1980 to 1993. Ms Shen has 34 years of experience in
the financial operation of property development.

Zhang Jiangang, aged 46, is an executive Director and a member of the
governance committee of the Company. He is also the general manager
of Hangzhou Zhong’an Service Holding Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the
Company) and also holds directorship in a subsidiary of the Company.
He is primarily in charge of strategy implementation and operation
management. Mr Zhang joined the Group in March 2003. He served
as the general manager and vice president of Zhong An Group and the
general manager and assistant to the Chairman of Anhui Zhong An Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company). From 1995 to 2003, Mr
Zhang served as the office manager, assistant to general manager and
vice general manager of Milkyway Real Estate. Mr Zhang has 21 years of
experience in construction and property development.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pei Ker Wei (PhD), aged 59, was appointed an independent non-
executive Director in October 2007. He also serves as the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the governance committee of the Company. Dr
Pei worked as assistant professor, associate professor and professor at
Arizona State University, chairman of North America Chinese Accounting
Professors Academy and chairman of global commission of American
Accounting Academy. He is currently the Executive Dean of China at the
W.P. Carey School of Business of Arizona State University, the U.S. and a
member of the American Accounting Academy. Dr Pei is also serving as an
independent non-executive director of Want Want China Holdings Limited
and Zhejiang Expressway Co., Ltd., both companies whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, and a director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Co.,
Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Dr Pei received his MBA from the Southern lllinois University, the U.S. in
1981 and PhD from the University of North Texas, the U.S. in 1986.

2015 Annual Report

R 1999 FES TIZANEE - A ENEELER
EHEMBERE T EES 37 £ -

EHRIB © B35% © BARRIMIMITE = R EIAFAM
ETHBARIMNES - L L IFEE AR BB
ZEERERZEBEGNE - METBEEALEEN
WISEENPHERE « ML EM1997F 12 AIA
REE o fIAKREER - L TR 1995F £ 1997
FEAOXRBEEERARZYHEE - K1994
FRAMMEZERBR AR ZETEE - UK
M1980F E 1993 F FEEMM M E L MMM L 5T
BN ET54EIE - MZ TR EERBEY SEER
MEE 34 FKEE -

RER - 465% 0 AARRINBITESRERE
K8 o i IMAMMBRLREIZERER AR (AR
AN —RNBEBAR]) BEEBER—RBARES -
fthFEZEBEHMEPTNEEER « RFEER 2003
FIAMARER - RELEFARLEBBLIER
BEH  RRRLREXER AR (NREH—KH
BRTE]) AN EFBNIE o REEN1995F
Z2003FEBEFRIFHEREHAZTEMR -
BB MBI B - REETERERFEHE
P EA 21 F1E5 °

3=

BYFHITES

RRfEEL - 5955 - M2007F 10 AEZ T AEL
EHITES - thMEEARRFHEE S RN
RBEZEZES REZESRERZEGHKE -
AT e EEXBTANEIIMNLAZHIEY
BB EHOR - bEEAGHHREE
ENEHEGHE2E2HEESER - BAEERD
FIEBMIKRBH ISR BERENTRE R
EFHGE2eeE8 - BT IETPEEEER
BERAGBMIEMBeSRAKRKRNBRAR (5
AR ETMHRAD AR B IERITEERE
WERGBRAR (—KELBEFZSH LT
WARDES - B TR 1081 FREERm FF
AARNEIREERET RN 1986 FHUSEBIL/E
mEETASEL -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Dr Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 66, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2009. He also serves as the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Dr Loke is currently the
company secretary of Minth Group Limited, and serves as an independent
non-executive director of Chiho-Tiande Group Limited, China Fire Safety
Enterprise Group Holdings Limited, China New Energy Power Group
Limited, China Household Holdings Limited, Matrix Holdings Limited,
SCUD Group Limited, Sino Distillery Group Limited (formerly known as Bio-
Dynamic Group Limited), Tianjin Development Holdings Limited, Tianhe
Chemicals Group Limited, V1 Group Limited (formerly known as VODone
Limited), Winfair Investment Company Limited and Wing Tai Investment
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Wing Lee Holdings Limited), the
shares of which companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a
fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. He holds MBA from the University Teknologi Malaysia
and DBA from the University of South Australia. He has over 40 years of
experience in accounting and auditing for private and public companies,
financial consultancy and corporate management.

Zhang Huagqiao, aged 53, was appointed an independent non-executive
Director on 1 January 2013. He also serves as a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the governance committee of
the Company. Mr Zhang is the Chairman and non-executive director of
China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Oriental City
Group Holdings Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, Fosun International Limited, Logan
Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group Ltd., Sinopec
QOilfield Service Corporation (formerly known as Sinopec Yizheng Chemical
Fibre Company Limited) and Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited,
and a non-executive director of Boer Power Holdings Limited, the shares
of which companies are all listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Yancoal Australia Limited (a
company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange). He was the Chairman
of Guangzhou Wansui Micro Credit Co., Ltd. between June 2011 and July
2012 and an executive director and chief executive officer of Man Sang
International Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, between September 2011 and April 2012. From June 1999 to
April 2006, Mr Zhang had worked with UBS Securities Asia Limited and
served as a managing director and the co-head and head of its China
research team. Prior to this, Mr Zhang had worked as a principal staff
member with the People’s Bank of China in Beijing between July 1986
and January 1989. Mr Zhang graduated from the Graduate School of
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the People’s Bank of China with a master’s degree in economics in 1986
and from the Australian National University with a master’'s degree in
economics in January 1991. Mr Zhang has about 25 years of experience in
the financial sector.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Jin Jianrong, aged 47, is the co-president of the Group, the executive
vice president of the Zhong An Group and the general manager of
certain subsidiaries of the Group in Zhejiang Province. He is in charge of
engineering management of the projects of the Group. Mr Jin joined the
Group in September 2004. Prior to joining the Group, he was the deputy
general manager in charge of construction matters of Zhejiang Lvdu Real
Estate Development Company from 2003 to 2004, and a construction
manager of Zhejiang Wanxiang Real Estate Company from 1997 to 2002.
He was responsible for project management of Milkyway Real Estate
from 1995 to 1997, and was a project manager and worker of Xuxian
Construction Co., Ltd. from 1987 to 1994. Mr Jin received a bachelor
degree in civil engineering and management from the Sichuan University
in 2006. He has 28 years of experience in operation and management of
property companies.

Sun Zhihua, aged 37, is the chief operating officer of the Group and the
officer of the president office of the Group. He is in charge of the operation
management of the Group. Mr Sun joined the Group in July 2001 and had
held various administrative posts of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Sun received a bachelor degree in technological economy from
College of Business Administration of Zhejiang University of Technology
in 2001. He has 14 years of experience in property administration and
management.

Pan Lei, aged 32, is the chief marketing officer of the Group. He is in
charge of the marketing of the Group. Mr Pan joined the Group in June
2014. Prior to joining the Group, he was the sales director of a property
developer in Jiangsu Province from March 2012 to May 2014. He had been
the planning director of subsidiaries of Top Spring International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
from May 2010 to February 2012 and Shenzhen World Union Property
Consultant Co., Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, from March 2008 to March 2010. Mr Pan received a
bachelor degree in management from Qingdao University in 2005. He has
9 years of experience in property marketing.

Dong Shuixiao, aged 51, is the executive director and chief executive
officer of China New City. Mr Dong holds directorships of certain
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subsidiaries of China New City. He is responsible for administration and
general project management of China New City and its subsidiaries. He
joined the Group since 1997. He served as the deputy general manager
(in charge of finance) in Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. in January 2003. He was responsible for the on-site technology
supervision, construction and cost control of the project in Yisheng in
February 2004. In March 2006, he was promoted as the deputy manager
of Zhong An Group, and in charge of financial operation. From 2007 to
November 2012, he served as the general manager of Anhui Zhong An
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and certain subsidiaries of the Group in
Anhui Province. From December 2012 to June 2015, he had been serving
as vice president and holding directorships of certain subsidiaries of the
Company until he joined China New City. Prior to joining the Group, he was
the accountant and deputy finance manager of Xiaoshan Material Bureau
from 1985 to 1993. From 1994 to 1996, he was the manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Co., Ltd. and responsible for operational
management. Mr Dong received his college diploma in industrial and civil
construction from the China University of Geosciences. He has over 19
years of experience in property operation and management.

Jin Ni, aged 40, is the executive director and vice chairlady of the board
of directors of China New City. She also holds directorships of certain
subsidiaries of China New City. She is responsible for overall strategic
development, and leading the business development of China New
City. She was appointed as an executive director of China New City
on 30 September 2013. Ms Jin resigned from her position as the vice
president of the Group in May 2014 and ceased to have any directorial
and/or executive roles in the Group, except for those of China New City
and its subsidiaries. She joined the Group in December 1997. She has
been the general manager of Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial Investment
Management Co., Ltd. since August 2011 and Yuyao Zhong An Times
Square Commercial Management Co., Ltd. since December 2011 and
is mainly responsible for managing commercial operations and our
development project in Yuyao. She was the vice president of the Group
from July 2011 to May 2014, the assistant to the president of the Group
from January 2010 to November 2010, the general manager of Hangzhou
Zhong An Highlong Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd. from March 2006 to
January 2010, the deputy general manager from March 2006 to October
2010 and office manager and deputy sales manager from August 1999
to March 2006 of Zhong An Group. Ms Jin obtained a bachelor degree in
administrative management from the Zhejiang University of Technology in
July 2003 and obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the Oriental
Institute of the Zhejiang University* (currently known as Oriental Institute of
Finance and Economics* (T4 REHR FEE7T)) in July 1997. Ms Jin
has over 17 years of experience in sales, and operation and management
of commercial projects.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam Yau Yiu, aged 52, is the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in October 2008. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked for a company with property development
business in China for more than 2 years. He also acted as the finance
manager, financial controller and company secretary for three listed
companies in the United States of America and Hong Kong for a total
of about 7 years. He also worked for an international accounting firm for
over 3 years. Mr Lam graduated from the City University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor Degree in Accounting. He also holds a degree of Master
of Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has about 27 years of experience in external auditing,
finance and accounting.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the
“Company”) are pleased to present their annual report to shareholders of
the Company and the audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group are property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during the
year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 93 to 99.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 252. This summary does not form part
of the audited financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The audited consolidated revenue of the Group for 2015 was RMB2,883.1
million, representing an increase of about 86.0 % from that of 2014. The
gross profit for 2015 was RMB457.0 million, representing an increase of
about 17.0% from that of 2014. The profit attributable to owners of the
parent for 2015 was about RMB420.6 million, representing an increase of
about 31.6% from that in 2014. Net core loss (excluding fair value gains
in investment properties, after tax) was RMB26.2 million representing a
decrease of about 77.4% from that in 2014. The basic earnings per share
was RMB0.18 (2014: RMBO0.14).

Property Development

The recognised revenue of properties sold and delivered by the Group in
2015 was about RMB2,882.0 million, representing an increase of about
95.8% compared to that of 2014. The increase was due to the increase in
GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2015.

The GFA of properties sold and delivered by the Group in 2015 was about
249,673 sg.m. (2014: 137,653 sqg.m.), representing an increase of about
81.4% compared to that of 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, the contracted GFA sold by the Group was
about 375,188 sg.m. (2014: 410,848 sg.m.) with the amount of about
RMBS3,413.3 million (2014: RMB3,532.9 million).

Other Businesses

The leasing revenue for 2015 was about RMB90.1 million, representing a
decrease of about 3.2% compared to RMB93.1 million in 2014.

The revenue of the hotel business was RMB48.1 million for 2015 which
was almost in line with the revenue of about RMB47.6 million recorded in

2014.

Further details regarding the business of the Group are set out from pages
19 to 36.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 244 and
245.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in
the Company (the “Shares”) and share options of the Company during
the year under review are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 41 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB268,303,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB2,966,252,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(A) Zhong An Real Estate Limited - the Scheme

On 15 May 2009, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company

pursuant to and in compliance with the requirements of Chapter

17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The salient

terms of the rules of the Scheme are set out below:

1.

Purpose of the Scheme:

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the

Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

Participants of the Scheme:

@)

any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
any equity entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
members of the Group holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(@  any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for subscription:

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30
per cent. of the share capital of the Company in issue from
time to time.

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4 below)
provided that the total number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For the purpose of
calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group will not be counted.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding such options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Group) to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme
(the “General Scheme Limit”) or upon the date of approval
of the refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (and, in the
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case of the Company, not exceeding 236,763,540 Shares
(the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"), representing
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 23
September 2013). As at 31 December 2015, the number of
Shares that remained available for issue under the Refreshed
General Scheme Limit was 49,152,684.

Maximum entitliement of each participant under the Scheme:

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Scheme and other share option scheme(s) of the Group (if
any) (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant
of options, which would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) under the Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Group (if any), in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant in excess of
the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting of the Company with such participant and
his associates abstaining from voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of option:

A nominal amount of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised and the exercise period of the option:

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under
the Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to the relevant
grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date
upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall
end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.
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10.

Basis of determining the exercise price of an option:

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors but
shall not be less than the highest of the nominal value of the
Shares; the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and the average closing price of the
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Performance targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer for the grant of the options to a grantee, a grantee is
not required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the Scheme can be exercised.

Life of the Scheme:

The Scheme will expire on 14 May 2019.

10.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE BT EIZ AR 1T ERY AR AR 4E
SCHEME

Details of options (the “Options”) granted under the Scheme and REIBEEVIRERKIBEZSZCHEEMEKRTE
outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year under review are as ~ FBEASAE ([ BBIRFE ) SFI50 T -

follows:
Outstanding Number Number Number Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at1dJanuary  of Options  of Options of Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 2015 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2015 Options granted period HKS per share
20155 20155
1818 BRi Bt B B&N 128318 BIRENREE
SEENL WAGE  BREER  BREHE  BREER  BREHE HATTE RUAH A =L
Category 1: Directors
£10:8%
ShiKancheng 2,883,720 2,883,720 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 258
Ml 09%7A9A 1)
2,300,000 2,300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.8
N11F1A2E 21 January 2021
NUE1ANEE
ANE1ANA
(Note 2)
(#it2)
5,183,720 5,183,720
Shen Tiaojuan 1,441,860 1,441,860 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
TR 200957498 (Hit1)
1,200,000 1,200,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.85
N11E1F28 21 January 2021
N4E1ANAZ
2001518218
(Note 2)
(o)
2,641,800 2,641,860
Lou Yifei 1,321,705 1,321,705 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
B-R 2097798 (1)
1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.8
N1ETA2R 21 January 2021
N145182AZ
XNF1ANE
(Note 2)
(#it2)

2,421,705 2,421,706
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Outstanding Number Number Number Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at1January  of Options  of Options  of Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 2015 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2015 Options granted period HK$ per share
Ro015% R2015%
1A1A BRE B it BAM 128318 BRETEE
SaRe HAE  RRESE  BRESE BRESE  BREHE AT RUAH TR BRER
Zhang Jiangang 1,821,705 1,321,705 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
REH 200957A98 (it1)
1,100,000 1,100,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.8
N1ETA2R 21 January 2021
N145182A%
ANE1R1 A
(Note 2)
(it2)
2,421,705 2,421,705
Professor Pei Ker Wei 360,465 360,465 9.July 2009 (Note 1) 258
ARRHR 2009%7A9A (it 1)
300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.8
01E1A2E 21 January 2021
MUFIANAE
NNE1A2A
(Note 2)
(it2)
660,465 660,465
Dr. Loke Yu 360,465 360,465 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
BEHEL 209%7A9A (Wit1)
300,000 300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 1.85
N1ETA2E 21 January 2021
N1451A2AZ
0214518218
(Note 2)
Wi2)
660,465 660,465
13,989,920 13,989,920
BREEARAT —Z2-nEF®R 15
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EERHRE
Outstanding Number Number Number Numberof ~ Outstanding at Exercise price
at1January  of Options  of Options  of Options Options 31 December Date of Exercise of Option
Name of participants 2015 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2015 Options granted period HK$ per share
20155 20155
1A1A BRE Bfif Biif BM 128318 BRETEE
BEENL HAGE  BRERE  BREEE BREHE  BREHS HAGE REAH TR BRER
Category 2: Employees 12,976,750 (1562,015) 1,414735 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
#0%:[E8 09%7A9A 1)
13,600,000 (1,300,000) 12,300,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 185
N1ETA2R 21 January 2021
N145182AZ
ANE1AN A
(Note 2)
(#t2)
26,576,750 (2,862,015) 23,714,735
Category 3: Suppliers of 2,403,100 2,403,100 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
goods or services 09F7A9H (Hit1)
£38 ERIRERER 37,000,000 37,000,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 185
AMETA2A 21 January 2021
MFIANAE
2021518218
(Note 2)
(it2)
39,403,100 39,403,100
Category 4: Others 17,903,101 17,903,101 9 July 2009 (Note 1) 2.58
F4EE 200957498 (it 1)
14,600,000 14,600,000 22 January 2011 22 January 2014 to 185
AMETA2A 21 January 2021
NUFIANAZ
2001518218
(Note 2)
(it2)
78,000,000 78,000,000 10Juy 2013 10July 201310 146
M13E7A108 9 July 2013
01357R10RZ
01357H9H
(Note 3)
(i)
110,503,101 110,503,101
Total 190472,8M (2,862,015) 187,610,856
&5t
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Notes:

The Options may be exercisable at any time during the period from 9 July 2009 to
8 July 2019 (the “Option Period”) provided that the maximum number of Options
which each Grantee is entitled to exercise shall not exceed:

(@) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the expiry
of the first anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before
the second anniversary of the date of grant;

(b) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the
second anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the
third anniversary of the date of grant;

(c) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the third
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant;

(d) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fourth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant; and

(e) 20 per cent. of the total number of Options during the period from the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant to the date immediately before the sixth
anniversary of the date of grant.

On 22 January 2011, the Company had granted 80,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable after three years from the date of grant (the “Lock-in Period”) provided
that the Grantee has achieved the prescribed performance target during the Lock-
in Period and has passed the Company’s assessment, and be exercisable before
the expiry of the Option Period on 21 January 2021. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.85 per share.

On 10 July 2013, the Company had granted 78,000,000 Options which may be
exercisable between 10 July 2013 and 9 July 2023. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date of granting the Options was HK$1.43 per share.

The exercise price of the Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief

Executives’ interests in securities of the Company” and note 32 to the

financial statements.

Hiaz
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(B) China New City Commercial Development
Limited — the CNC Scheme

On 20 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “CNC Scheme”) of China

New City Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”, together

with its subsidiaries, the “CNC Group”)), a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands

whose issued shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:

1321). The adoption of the CNC Scheme was also approved by the

shareholders of CNC on 20 May 2015. The salient terms of the rules

of the CNC Scheme are set out below:

1.

Purpose of the CNC Scheme

As incentives or rewards to the eligible participants under the
CNC Scheme for their contribution to the CNC Group.

Participants of the CNC Scheme

@

78 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director) of CNC, any of CNC’s subsidiaries or any entity
(the “CNC Invested Entity”) in which any member
of the CNC Group holds an equity interest (the “CNC
Eligible Employees”);

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of CNC, any of the CNC’s
subsidiaries or any CNC Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the CNC Group or any
CNC Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

2015 Annual Report

(B) HEFHHFEERRERAD -

B st &

20155 A20H + AN A A IR R AL A& B 4N
BT T EEER AR DR (P EHE
W ERENBARGRE [PEFHTE
B (RREIHEREMBAR - NS
SEMKL - HEBITROEB M LT
(B RSE - 1321)) KIRE R MEET &I ([ E
Tt &l]) o BRANH BRI R R
201545 420 B & BIFI AR R BLE ©
BT T ET EIAR R E ZIEREFN AT ¢

1. FREEEmHE R E A

tEREPBEFN T &S RS EE
i eh BT T 5 B P {E BB RO 22 B 3
Bl o

2. FEFHMMAEINSEE

(@ HEFTWT - REER T RE
AT B /B8 X B s R B ¥k T SR
EIRK B A RIS A RS
EEE(FEFETRRE
Bl ) WEMER (TwAzR
SHEE - BEEARTES
ENBIEIFATESE) ([PEIH
HHEERER]

b) BT - PR TE
e B /B8 2% B AR fa P BRI
iR E BRI MIENITES
(BREBIFRITESR)

© FEHBETEBETAKE AR
FAER PRI TAIREE R
ZAEE sk RIS e

(d) FEFETEBEETAKE AR
FAERP R TAIREE R
HIEAIEP

© MTEFATEEBEAREA
TS AT AR B R R A
IR B E T R B
EMALHER :



) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any
member of the CNC Group or any CNC Invested Entity;

(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the CNC Group;

and, for the purposes of the CNC Scheme, the offer for the
grant of CNC option may be made to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

Maximum number of CNC Shares available for subscription

The maximum number of CNC Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding CNC options granted and
yet to be exercised under the CNC Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) adopted by the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of CNC in issue
from time to time.

Subject to the rules of the CNC Scheme, CNC may seek
approval of its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
CNC General Scheme Limit (as referred to in paragraph 4
below) provided that the total number of CNC Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all CNC options
to be granted under the CNC Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not exceed 10%
of the CNC Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. For the purpose of calculating the refreshed
limit, such CNC options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the CNC
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the CNC
Group) previously granted under the CNC Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group will not be
counted.
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Total number of CNC Shares available for issue under the
CNC Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all CNC options (excluding such
CNC options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group) to be granted under the CNC Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the CNC Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the CNC Shares in issue on the
date of approval of the CNC Scheme on 20 May 2015 (that is,
not exceeding 173,800,000 CNC Shares, representing 10%
of the total issued share capital of CNC as at that date) (the
“CNC General Scheme Limit"). As at 31 December 2015,
the number of CNC Shares that remained available for issue
under the CNC Scheme was 173,800,000.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the CNC
Scheme

The total number of CNC Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the CNC Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the CNC Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of CNC for the time
being (the “CNC Individual Limit”). Any further grant of CNC
options in excess of the CNC Individual Limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant must
be separately approved by the CNC shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Amount payable on acceptance of CNC Option

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of a CNC option.
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7.

10.

Minimum period for which a CNC option must be held before
it can be exercised and the exercise period of a CNC option

Unless otherwise determined by the CNC directors and stated
in the offer to a grantee, there is no minimum period under the
CNC Scheme for the holding of a CNC option before it can
be exercised. A CNC option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the CNC Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the CNC directors to the
relevant grantee, which period may commence on a day after
the date upon which the offer for the grant of CNC options is
made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the CNC option subject to the provisions
of early termination thereof.

Performance targets

Unless the CNC directors otherwise determined and stated in
the offer for the grant of CNC options to a grantee, a grantee
is not required to achieve any performance targets before
any CNC options granted under the CNC Scheme can be
exercised.

Basis of determining the exercise price of a CNC option

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the CNC
directors but shall not be less than the highest of the nominal
value of a CNC Share; the closing price of the CNC Shares on
the Stock Exchange; and the average closing price of CNC
Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.

Life of the CNC Scheme

The CNC Scheme will expire on 19 May 2025.

10.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS UNDER THE
CNC SCHEME

CNC had not granted any options under the CNC Scheme during the year
under review.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for about 4% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the year under

review.
The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group

accounted for about 26% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.
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The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 8% of the Group’s
consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders of the
Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors as at 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)
Mr Lou Yifei

Ms Shen Tiaojuan

Mr Zhang Jiangang

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Pei Ker Wei

Dr Loke Yu (alias, Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr Zhang Huagiao

In accordance with articles 108 (A) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr Lou Yifei, Ms Shen Tiaojuan and Mr Zhang Jiangang will
retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
subsisting during or at the end of the year under review in which a Director
(or an entity connected with a Director) either directly or indirectly, is or was
materially interested.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 61 to 66 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr Shi Kancheng, Mr Zhang Jiangang, Mr Lou Yifei and Ms Shen
Tiaojuan has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant
to which he/she agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 1 November 2013.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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(1)

(2

Long positions in Shares of the Company

Number of Shares held and nature of interest in the Company:

Number and
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(1) RAEQXTROHEE
RAATEEORIDEE RIESME -

Approximate

Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
EEpnE SORERENE RS HE RER ERBNEIL 3987}
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 1,628,760,000 shares of HK$0.1 69.35% Long
MEAR AR ST A corporation (Note)) each in the capital of the "
SyEtlEEE R (M) Company

ARBEBRAFZREBEO0NBITZ
1,628,760,000 B 7

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good
Management Limited.

Long positions in underlying shares of the
Company:

Ha RS i Whole Good Management Limited
BE H2HERTRAZTE2HEMK L
EEHBEA MK % &£ BWhole Good
Management Limited #) —E = o

(2 REQTHEERDWEER

Number of Approximate

Capacity and underlying percentage of

Name of Director nature of interest Shares held the Company’s

(Note) issued share capital

FrisEE R B A EARATEBIT

EEgE SO RERME (H172) REBANBED L

Mr Shi Kancheng Beneficial owner 5,183,720 0.22
MBSt A BB A

Ms Shen Tiaojuan Beneficial owner 2,641,860 0.11
WRCS R EmBAA

Mr Lou Yifei Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
B—MEE BB A

Mr Zhang Jiangang Beneficial owner 2,421,705 0.10
SR ERSH S A EmBAA

Professor Pei Ker Wei Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
BREHX BB A

Dr Loke Yu Beneficial owner 660,465 0.03
R ANE L EmBAA

Note: These represent the number of Shares which will be allotted and issued
to the respective Directors upon the exercise of the share options granted
to each of them pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 15 May 2009.

KtaF - WWABRBIEAA RN 2009 5 A 15 HERAA
BRiETE RS EERENEREETER
RS EERERETHRMNEE -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed
under the SFO to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(3) Long positions in shares of the associated
corporation

Number of shares held and nature of interest in China New City
Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed on the Stock

bR EXCPTHRERESN - R20154F 12 A31H -

ARRIEMEEREZTRABHRERELR
AR EH AR EE (R FH REEEHIZE XV E
Fitaz dzk) 2 ixfn - MR REEE
BERAMREFARRAEKRGIE I526EFE
ZEEMZ A MESSAE - SRIEZ%EST
AESITAE AN R RE R AT 2 Al fEeE sk

KB
8) MNEAERTRBHGFR
YNBSS (i PN L el e

BRARAR ([HEFHET ) (ERORBER
P BT PSRN 80 B R

Exchange:
Number and Approximate
Capacity and class of percentage Long/Short
Name of Director nature of interest securities held of interest position
FiEES
BEEgS BORERME BERER BBt KB
Mr. Shi Kancheng Interest of controlled 31,308,594 shares of HK$0.1 1.80% Long
MR S corporation (Note) each in the capital of CNC e

B AR R (M) R BT T AR AN R AR A
0.17%870,2 31,308,594 BA% 1D

Note: These shares are held by Whole Good Management Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is solely and beneficially owned by Mr
Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of Whole Good
Management Limited.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTEREST IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, so far as are known to any Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or
deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the

Directors’ Report
EsgRE

FERRRELFEFHER

BARBMERESZREZTHRABA - $H2015
F12A31H BREARRESHEEITHAESIN
KRR RIRIEEF LB GH #3367 E 2 &
Fracsk - AR TMEARRAR]  EEKEEHES
RN AEA RN A A EITIRARE% A L=
AT

Company:
Percentage of the
Number of Company’s issued Long/Short
Name Capacity shares held share capital Position
ARAREBRIT
£ 56 FERGEE BRAEBNE DL #RE
Whole Good Management Beneficial owner 1,628,760,000 69.35% Long
Limited (Note) (#fa3) BmlEA A HE

Note: The entire issued share capital of Whole Good Management Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr Shi Kancheng. Mr Shi Kancheng is the sole director of
Whole Good Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

None of the related party transactions constituted non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2015.

H#5£ - Whole Good Management Limited #2582 2 1T%
REZHMEMKEEERER o MBI AR Whole
Good Management Limited B — & % o

B EXXFrIREESN - 72015512 A31 H  {HEF
AAL(RRARKEETREZITHRABRIN BAA

REM IR MR A AR AREREF L
BIGPIZEIBHEMEFENERM 2 EEIAR

R BE 75 B B Bk 32 5

AEE SR T XS F TN IEHRRM 34 -

HZE2015F12A31HLEFERN  MERBAIRS
B TERCABIZUTERCIFERHI S
WAIER EmRAF AR -

REFEERRAT
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2015.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB493,000 (2014: RMB4,000,000).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company strives to balance business growth with environmental
protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property development, leasing
and hotel operation in China, we evaluate, manage and mitigate from
time to time environmental issues within the context of the Group’s
business activities and objectives for the conservation of energy and other
natural resources; (i) devise environmental policies and measures for the
Group so as to keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable; and (i)
apply our philosophy on environment protection to our supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection
of our business partners or services providers and award the bids of
construction and other projects of which the Group is involved to reputable
and environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.

Our hotel in Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, the PRC, is managed by
a reputable international hotel management company that has been
promoting environmental protection policies for energy management,
water management and waste management to minimize the ecological
footprint of the hotel operation for years. To name a few, all lightings and
appliances will be replaced in phases by energy saving ones. Guest rooms
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have room card insert energy saving switches and reduction in paper
usage in the office and promote storage of files in electronic forms instead
of in paper files. On the front of our leasing business, we are careful in
the selection of our lessees and implemented environmental policies and
measures in the operation of leasing business, including the management
of the properties leased by the Group.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the workplace
through (i) appropriately designing, constructing, maintaining and, if
required, modifying facilities wherever applicable; (i) using or to replacing
gradually existing appliances with more energy efficient appliances for
lighting, heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (jii) raising awareness of environmental protection at workplace..

During the year under review, there had been no record of material
breach or violation by the Group of applicable environmental laws, rules or
regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has kept itself abreast with the development of laws, rules and
regulations which have or may have an impact on, and has been abiding
the laws, rules and regulations applicable to, the operation of its business.

The Group has implemented procedures and policies, employed
suitable personnel and engaged professional advisers to ensure that (i)
such approvals, permits and licences necessary for the operation of its
businesses are obtained; and (i) its operations are being run in line with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year under review, there
had been no material violation of the applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company is committed to maintaining, and has maintained good
relationships with, its employees, customers and suppliers with a view to
fostering better mutual understanding and/or a sense of belonging towards
the Company. This is conducive to implementing the Group’s strategies
and business objectives, as well as the Group’s business development and
sustainability in the long run.

Directors’ Report

EEERS

AW RE AR RSB AT F Iy M IEARE XHE
BEXM - HEEKTH  AEEFREREAR
A TEMESEBLEBET (BEASECAY
MENEER) WITRERBELIER

BB (VEERBRTNEER  BE #ER
(WAFE) BUERM - (i) RAA - HEBRRRE
HIRARERAEE SRV LA 2 ERIRESET
VABREBERE ¢ R (i) IR TIESRIRIREH -
SEVE TIES PRI TERBE B A

REOEFE  ASEHSECAURERLIERE
RBRREE - RAKIGHIACE -

P ERESR

AEERETHRAOEEBREELZERME
AR EBRER - RRIRIEPIZABREFIER - Wik
RETHEBELERAER - RAIRIGED) -

AEEEATIEFRBEK  BRGEABALZE
BERERH - RIS EEBE S LHEAHERRLL
- FFATRGRIR ¢ R (i) K BRE AR - BB R AE
Pl EHER ROBEFE  ARBEUEBLE
MREERERAE - RAREOIEDR -

BER - EF R H#ERMOERE

RIBERETHE/SHARRNFBE - AR
AHMANERE TP REEARS (LESRF
F) RIFEAR - BABRAITARE B ROSRES K ¥55
B BREMETANRARENEBERK
AIFEAENE o

REFEERRAT

—z-hgsR 89



90 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Directors’ Report

Esegs

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As announced on 21 January 2016, Zhong An Group Co, Ltd. (a 90%
owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC) and Shanghai Xu Deng
Enterprise Co., Ltd., an independent third party, jointly made a successful
bid, through open tender auction, for the land use right of a piece of
land situated at east to Panshui River, south to Panshui River and the
planned Greenland, west to Xiaoran West Road and north to the planned
plot of land (G13), Chengxiang Unit, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the “Site”) at the total land grant price of
RMBG673,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$ 801,973,355). The
Site is granted for residential development with land use right of 70 years.
The area of the Site is approximately 57,394 sq.m. and its total GFA is
approximately 114,788 sg. m..

Save as disclosed above, there was no matter occurred that bears

significant effect to the Group between the year end date and the date of
this report.

AUDITORS

Emst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Shi Kancheng

Chairman

The People’s Republic of China, 22 March 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report

EYzx

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 93
to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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B ZBENHRE

To the shareholders of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
31 December 2015 and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRSs and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

22 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOHEFER

Year ended 31 December 2015 & Z= 20154 12 A 31 HILEE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue PN 5 2,883,146 1,550,105
Cost of sales SHE A (2,426,128) (1,159,561)
Gross profit EF 457,018 390,544
Other income and gains E A YA K i m 5 276,344 43,567
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko iE X (208,848) (135,519)
Administrative expenses TR (299,769) (304,073)
Other expenses Hip X (5,616) (7,022)
Fair value gain upon transfer to R EIEYIER
investment properties D EERE 13 796,581 656,784
Changes in fair value of REMENRR
investment properties BEEE 13 29,361 33,200
Finance costs WIFER 7 (34,269) (37,809)
Share of profits and losses of DIEEEBER
joint ventures Y 1) K 518 18 (2,208) (259)
Profit before tax BR% AT A 6 1,008,594 639,413
Income tax expense PSR 10 (415,292) (237,657)
Profit for the year FRFE 593,302 401,756
Attributable to: AT RS -
Owners of the parent [STNEIE YN 420,608 319,725
Non-controlling interests FERERR A 172,694 82,031
593,302 401,756
Earnings per share attributable BAREBREEA
to ordinary equity holders of EhEREFR
the parent 11
Basic E=N RMB18 cents RMB14 cents
AR¥18% AR#E14 5
Diluted e RMB18 cents RMB14 cents
AR¥185 AR¥E145
BrEEARAT —T-—afs® 93
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SOFEEERR

Year ended 31 December 2015 &= 20154 12 A 31 HILEE

2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit for the year FRFHE 593,302 401,756
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mE iz
Other comprehensive income REZ RS HHE
to be reclassified to profit or EETMNEMER
loss in subsequent periods: s
Exchange differences on translation of BMEFINB A E]
the financial statements of WIS RERE LR
foreign subsidiaries b =58 (12,933) 3,980
Net other comprehensive REZBEEN DR
income to be reclassified EETMEMER
to profit or loss in subsequent periods Wz 558 (12,933) 3,980
Total comprehensive FRE2EWRZEE
income for the year 580,369 405,736
Attributable to: AT A
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZ =N 407,675 323,705
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A 172,694 82,031
580,369 405,736
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB AR R

31 December 2015 2015412 A 31 B

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property and equipment BEKHEE 12 182,711 188,068
Investment properties "LEME 13 5,244,100 3,773,200
Properties under development FEE R 14 4,588,912 8,444,787
Restricted cash ERERE 26 90,100 -
Goodwill GEES 15 - =
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 16 3,300 3,300
Long term prepayments RAEAFEI K 17 359,321 80,712
Investments in joint ventures REEBENRE 18 774 46,228
Loans and receivables from RE—EEETEN
a joint venture EM R EYRIE 19 - 390,931
Deferred tax assets RIETIREE 20 184,258 201,926
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 10,653,476 13,129,152
Current assets REEE
Completed properties held for sale FESHE B AR 22 4,506,299 4,339,181
Properties under development FEE R Y2 14 4,661,802 1,181,754
Inventories FE 10,628 9,608
Trade and bills receivables BN E SRR R EE 24 72,198 16,954
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FB R ~ iz& R EMEWFIE 25 537,972 433,045
Equity investments at fair value through AR EE= B &)
profit or loss FTAE BB ERIE 23 558 815
Loans and receivables from a joint venture R E A& SN E R
K peWRIA 19 - 29,769
Restricted cash R EIRE 26 162,216 620,123
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 26 1,454,458 969,306
11,406,131 7,600,555
Investment property classified DR IELHERIREYE
as held for sale 13 29,800 31,000
Total current assets BB EE 11,435,931 7,631,555
Current liabilities k=R
Trade payables eI B SRR 27 2,320,479 1,784,709
Other payables and accruals HibfERIERERTE A 28 782,531 507,943
Advances from customers BEENR 29 3,569,147 3,124,840
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ~ #F 2 $R1TE 7K & EAth fE 5K 30 2,213,181 2,045,636
Tax payable i ANE A 10 677,684 619,909
Total current liabilities wREEE 9,563,022 8,083,037
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE (AE)FE 1,872,909 (451,482)
BREEARAT —T-—hnEs® 95




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BT BERIR R

31 December 2015 20154 12 A 31 H

2015 2014
2015 F 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
g3 ARETT ARBT T
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBAE 12,526,385 12,677,670
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and STESRITE R R H M ERK
other borrowings 30 3,981,662 4,920,598
Deferred tax liabilities BEIEAE 20 991,957 763,675
Total non-current liabilities HIERBEE 4,973,619 5,684,273
Net assets BEE 7,552,766 6,993,397
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners B AEHE AELERE
of the parent
Share capital A% 31 220,811 220,811
Reserves G 33 6,189,412 5,781,737
6,410,223 6,002,548
Non-controlling interests R A 1,142,543 990,849
Total equity HEERS 7,552,766 6,993,397
Shi Kancheng Shen Tiaojuan 3 EZE
Director Director iR N LIRS
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EHERR R

Year ended 31 December 2015 & Z= 20154 12 A 31 HILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAEGARE
Share Share  Stafutory  Statutory  Exchange Proposed Non-
Share  premium  Contributed Capital opion  suplus  reseve fluctuation  Retained final controling Total
captal  accont  surplus  reserve  reseve  reseme find  reserve profits ~ dividend Total  interests equity
Bl ieEs iE EdgE e R
Br RBEEE  EERH  ReERt ERE ARE ERY EEE REEW  AERS it B 4R
RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'00
AR%TR  ARBTn  ARMTR  ARMTn ARMTn ARMTn  ARETn  ARMTR  ARMTr ARMTn ARMTR  ARBTR AR
Note3t Notes3i633e  Noled3p)  Noled3c)  Noed)  Nole33d  Note33(d)
Wi MEsiRae  WEND  WENG KRN KENg RN
At 1 Janvary 2014 MAEIATR 20319 2983238 30318 %2t 21087 8280 (01619 2368088 Q6T 5886902 302700 6189602
P e ERflE - - - - - - - - B YR I Y
Othercomprehensie noome forthe year. EAEHAENE
Echenge dfiencesontrnsin ~ BESEHEL
offoregn operfons LENER - - - - - - - 3980 - - 390 - 3980
Totd comprehensive ncome for eyesr - ERERZENE - - - - - - - 390 31975 e Y[ T 71 N
Repuchaseand cancelefonof shares.~ BEERGHERG (1509 (169%0) - - - - - - - - (8 - (8
Ceptal contoutonbyron-contolng.— FEEERRGE
Shargholders - - - 316,063 - - - - - - 316,063 163200 169,263
Diidends pld toron-oontoling BTsHER
harcholders Tzhe - - - - - - - - - - - (%0 (1230
Fod 201 hierd dere SROBERERE - - - - - - - - s s - e
Eouiysetled s opfonarengements RERERRERE - - - - 220 - - - - - 20 - 220
Trensfrof shere oton resene RERER
wnteidtueoisrecptons  GERERERE - - - - By - - - - - - -
Diution dueto ssance ofrew R-EHBARES
shates by a subsiday fhenas - - - - - ([ - - Moy AT I i -
Transler fom retained o mAEETER - - - - - 38 - - b - - - -
At 31 December 2014 DUERENE 2081 296625 30318 212,161 166,32 202,306 8,20 (07839 2204975 - 6000548 990849 6,993,307
At 1 January 201 DHFIATE 2081 296628 30318 212,161 166,32 202,306 8,29 (07839 2204975 - 6000548 990849 6,993,307
Proft for theyear iR - - - - - - - - 4000 1 11 R K )
Othercomprehensve ncomefor e year. EAEHATNE :
Echenge dfeeoesontrensiin  BEENEREL
offoregn operaions EREER - - - - - - - (29 - - (129 - (129
Totd comprehensieoomefortheyer - EMERZENE - - - - - - - (1% 42608 - e 1M 580360
Didends pld toron-contoling ERTHARER
sherghoders R8 - - - - - - - - - - - (21,000 (21,000)
Transter of share opton resene RERERN
wieltueo seecptons  KERERERE - - - - B - - - 35m - - - -
Trengler fom ened pofs BREETER - - - - - M - - B - - - -
At 31 December 2015 DHFRENE 20811 2966252 N8 M6t e 205,078 8200t (072 265483 - 6410228 114254 7,562,766

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of

RMB6,189,412,000 (2014: RMBS5,781,737,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

ZERERERREAHUBRARANA G EM
f% #5 A R #6,189,412,000 7T (20144 : A R #&
5,781,737,000 7T °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2015 &= 20154 12 A 31 HILEE

2015 2014
20155 20144
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
A AR¥TT ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities REZLBENRSRE
Profit before tax BT AIRIE 1,008,594 639,413
Adjustments for: L
Depreciation e 12 17,677 19,236
Fair value gain upon transfer to BRERENFE
investment properties AnEERE 13 (796,581) (656,784)
Changes in fair value of REMEN
investment properties AnEEZS 13 (29,361) (33,200)
Fair value losses, net: AnEEEETE:
Equity investments at fair value NARBEFEAHE
through profit or loss AR HERNOERRE 257 262
Equity-settled share option expense REEEERERS 32 - 2,207
Write-down of properties under MFERYES
development to net realisable value AEREE 14 58,620 14,204
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures AMERECENFIBRER 2,208 259
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREYER K 5 (1,397) -
Gain on disposal of joint ventures BRELENKE 5 (125,954) -
Finance costs B%ER 7 34,269 37,809
Interest income from a joint venture RE—HEEELENFIBLA 5 (115,633) (29,769)
Bank interest income RITFIBIMA 5 (27,310) (7,379
25,389 (13,736)
Decrease/(increase) in properties under development — FIZ#15ER4 /(3 n) 214,227 (2,181,839)
(Increase)/decrease in completed properties held for sale #5{ESHE B &M% (20),/ (167,118) 47,174
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables [ERE SRR R ZE (M), Hd (55,244) 6,026
Increase in prepayments, deposits B Be RE MR KGRIEE
and other receivables (104,927) (192,041)
Increase in long term prepayments R FE M (278,609) (32,128)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (), m (1,022) 470
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash for BEMBREZBRHESRD/(Em)
pre-sales Proceeds 182,290 (147,837)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables ERESRZEM,/ (D) 535,770 (9,512)
Increase in other payables and accruals ELfth e N T T E RN 234,593 23,635
Increase in advances from customers REBAFUEM 444,307 1,252,847
Cash generated from/(used in) operations WEEREE/ (RA)HRS 1,029,658 (1,246,941)
Interest received BUF & 27,310 7,373
Interest paid ERHE (540,508) (570,107)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid ERFEH R ETR (111,567) (249,363)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) TEERELE /(%A WESRETE
operating activities 404,893 (2,059,038)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHEESRER

Year ended 31 December 2015 #Z= 20154 12 A 31 HILFE

2015 2014
2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wizt ARETT ARETIT
Cash flows generated from investing activities REEBKELENTERE
Acquisition of a new joint venture MBE—REeELE (800) -
Interest received from a joint venture WE—FHAECENTFE 145,402 =
Repayment from a joint venture —RAERERR 420,931 =
Loans to a joint venture REF-RAELEER (30,000) (24,970)
Increase in investment property under construction TERIE AL (30,329) -
Proceeds from disposal of joint venture HESECEMERE 170,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMSTIA 4,387 =
Purchases of items of property and equipment REREKKEEE (13,550) (5,351)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HERERZEER
property and equipment FriSs0E 1,230 180
Increase in restricted cash S PR I ER & 1 (105,926) (195,634)
Decrease in restricted cash ZRRHF LR 291,443 120,820
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REEKEE/(¥R)
investing activities MESHREBFE 852,788 (104,955)
Cash flows generated from financing activities METHEENELSRE
Capital contributions by non-controling FEEAR AR R A
shareholders - 469,263
Dividends paid ERRE - (42,617)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BN T IFERRER AR (21,000) (12,300)
New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTBRTERNEMER 2,356,347 3,936,566
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and B BRITERREMER
other borrowings (3,127,738) (2,426,626)
Repurchase of shares EER G 31 - (18,494)
Decrease/(increase) in an amount due to a FETFEIEARARER
non-controling shareholder FUER D (32 0) 28 11,644 (9.974)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from METE () ELENRE
financing activities REFHE (780,747) 1,895,318
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRBASEEMEN(RD) FE
cash equivalents 476,934 (268,175)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FReRREEED 969,306 1,234,975
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EREHH L - TR 8,218 2,506
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRBELEEY 1,454,458 969,306
Analysis of balances of cash and BEeRBEEENERIM
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHE SR 26 1,454,458 969,306
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 13 March 2007 under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is
principally engaged in property development, leasing and hotel
operation. The Group’s property development projects during the
year were all located in Zhejiang, Anhui and Jiangsu provinces, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”), the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Whole Good Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 3 May 2007. Whole Good Management
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan, Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of the Company.

2015 Annual Report

LAFREKEEH

REFEERRAR([ARATF)E2007F3 A
1I3EREFEHE QA (KER]) ERS
HEEMAR L REREERATF - KARH
S fif 9% =5 B2 3 1E 4 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

AREREMBE AR (G ARE D EER
EWERE HENBESE - R A%
B R FEIE R X P E AR AR ([
BT - ZBITE#HE - FAKRKENE
EEBMHETBELEAEE -

WKAEARREEF(EEFDRR - NRAH
PERR A Al R S 42422 AR A B 8 Whole Good
Management Limited © —Z % 2007 45 A
SHAERBARFSHEMKIZHRTE - AR
AEERFRERPTERTREELERS
Whole Good Management Limited °



1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. 2FREERH (#&)

Information about subsidiaries EBENMEQRNER
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: B ARRERT
Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERERERS L Principal
Name of company S/ LK 20151231 H 2015 2014 activities
NEEHR ERERAH BRATEE/AMER 20156 N14F  IBER
MIRZRMERL PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 59.2% 59.2%  Property leasing
FEERAR 3 April 1997 ARE2,000,00070 NxHE
Zhejiang Zhong An R/ RE N
Property Development 1997 F4A3H
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd. ¥
RRERERAR PRG/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhong An Group 26 December 1997 ARE50,000,0007C and leasing
Co., Ltd. ® e/ RE N MEREREE
1997 €12 A 26 B
MLRZ D= REARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Property service
Zhejiang Zhong An 18 November 1998 AR%10,000,0007C MRS
Property Co., Ltd. ¢ E /AR
1998411 A18H
ZRRREHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 9 August 2001 5,000,000%7C MERE
Development Co., Ltd. (! R/ B
20018 A9H
mMBESEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property development
Hangzhou White Horse Property 27 June 2002 AR¥50,000,0007C e
Development Co., Ltd. mE /R E R
200246 A 27 A
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. XFREERH (]&)

FRNBARNER (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 AREEERREL Principal
Name of company SR/ RILR 2015F 12831 8 2015 2014 activities
ARER EBERAH BRTEE/ TRER 20155 0145 TEEH
LHRZERERA PRC/Meainland China RMB57,000,000 84.2% 84.2%  Property development
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate 17 January 2003 AR 57,000,0007 S
Co,, Ltd. i/ hER
2003F1 178
MNEHIEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.6% 92.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate 7 March 2003 AR#50,000,0007 VEE
Co., Ltd.® HE/ B
2003F3A7H
ERRERFEXARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 73.1% 731%  Property development
Chunan Minfu Property 24 Qctober 2003 AK%6,000,00070 MERE
Co, Ltd. ® e/ Bl
2003107248
RHRREEERR AT PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Anhui Zhong An Property 24 November 2003 AK3,000,0007C MEER
Management Co., Ltd. ¥ mE /R,
2003F11 A 248
HERZEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 658%  Property leasing
Shanghai Zhong An Property 19 January 2004 AR%10,000,0007C NERE
Development Co., Ltd. E /R
20041 198
HIESRE X ERAR PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 72.9% 72.9%  Property development
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate 1 April 2005 77,600,000% 7T VEE
Co., Ltd.? HE /B
2005F 4810
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 AREEERRED L Principal
Name of company SR/ RILR 2015F 12831 8 2015 2014 activities
NRER EBERAH BRITEE/ DER 20155 014  ETEEH
MNRREEEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Zhong An 20 September 2005 AR#2,000,0007 MEER
Highlong Commercial HE/FERH
Buildings Co., Ltd. 20059 A20H
HRbRER (M) BRAT PRC/Meainland China US$14,900,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Qirui Enterprise Management 21 November 2005 14,900,000% 7T REER
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. mE /e Rt
200511 218
MNEIEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 67.6% 67.6%  Property development
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang 16 March 2006 AR®50,000,0007 VESE
Real Estate Development fE /RN,
Co., Ltd. 20064316 A
BRIGEER (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 73.1% 731%  Property development
Henlly Enterprise Management 4 December 2006 149,061,280 7 EES
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. el /Bl
200612 A4 A
mNELRZRAEEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Hotel management
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong'an 28 May 2007 AK¥10,000,0007C BEER
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. fE /R E R
20075 H 288
AlrireisemE PRG/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90%  Property management
EEBRAT] 1 August 2007 ARE500,0007 NEER
HeFei Green Bay Property B /hE R
Management Co., Ltd. 20078 A1H
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2015%12A31H 2015 2014 activities
nAER EBHERAM BRTER/HfER 20155 0145  IEER
MNEAREERER AR PRC/Mainland China 1S$29,990,000 100% 100%  Investment management
Hangzhou Junjie Investment 4 December 2007 29,990,000 7T REER
Co,, Ltd.© HE/RER
200712 A48
MMESESRIERAR PRC/Mainland China US$59,700,000 100% 100%  Consultation
Hangzhou Huijun Information 5 December 2007 59,700,000% T management
Technology Co., Ltd. ! thiE /BN, ZHER
2007F12 A58
MMNEEAEENERAR PRG/Mainland China US$29,900,000 731% 731%  Manufacture of
Hangzhou Dehong New 1 February 2008 29,900,000 T construction materials
Constructions Materials thiE /BN BEMHEE
Management Co., Ltd. " 2008F2A1H
MNERREERERAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$49,990,000 73.1% 731%  Investment management
Hangzhou Huihong Investment 19 February 2008 49,990,000 T REER
Management Co., Ltd. © RE/RERL
20082 4194
AERZRABEERARA PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 73.1% 73.1%  Hotel management
Hefei Zhong'an 18 March 2008 AR 350,000,000 BEER
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. & HE/RER
200835 18R
EERMNEE S (M) PRC/Mainland China US$12,000,000 731% 731%  Material trading
ARAA 16 July 2008 12,000,000 7 NEES
Huijun Construction Materials g/ E R,
Trading (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. 2008%7A 167
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. XFREERH (]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

BEMBATNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company S/ LK 2015%12 311 2015 2014 activities
nRER EBHERAH BRTER/AfER 20155 0145  IEER
IR EEEREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture 11 June 2009 AR%10,000,0007 BERE
Development Co., Ltd. HE/RERL
20096 A 11 A
RERBEREEBRAT] PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Zhong'an Service 13 August 2009 AR 50,000,000 RERK
Holding Group Co., Ltd. mE /RN,
20098 513
IR BES L ERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Real estate agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Real 30 October 2009 AK®10,000,0007C FHERE
Estate Agent Co., Ltd. ¥ fE /RN,
200910 A30H
LR ER RS AR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Housekeeping service
Zhejiang Anyuan Housekeeping 30 October 2009 AR%10,000,0007C FHRHE
Senvice Co., Ltd. mE /R
200910 A30H
TN B REG Es PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.9% 459%  Construction design
TERHBRAR 10 December 2009 AR%1,000,00070 AR
Hangzhou Zhong An Image HE/RER
Construction Design Co., Ltd. “ 200012 A10H
MNBZEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Property 1 February 2010 AR 200,000,000 WERE
Co, Ltd." e/ eI
201062A18
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. ZFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BB ATINESR (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARIFRIUT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBELERRE L Principal
Name of company SMARYL/RILR 2015F 12831 B 2015 2014 activities
nRER EBHERAH BRTER/ER 20155 0145  IEER
AURLEHEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 5 March 2010 AR 100,000,007 RS
Development Co., Ltd. E,/FER
2010F3 350
MIRRRITHERDE PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Travel agency
Zhejiang Anyuan Travel Agency 17 August 2010 AR#10,000,0007 IEATH
Co, Ltd. ® HE/ B
20108 417 A
MNEREHEER AR PRG/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 45.9% 459%  Property development
Hangzhou Anyuan Property 14 September 2010 AR%100,000,00070 MERE
Development Co., Ltd. fE /R E R
20109714 A
AURREZBRAR PRC/Mainland China US$150,000,000 93% 93%  Property development
Yuyao Zhong An Property 10 December 2010 150,000,000 7T RS
Co., Ltd. ® e/
2010124108
MNENEEERERAF PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Hangzhou Fukai Management 2 March 2011 AR%500,0007T MEER
/P ER
2011F3A2A
MISREXREERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Zhejiang Jinnong Investment 15 March 2011 AR 100,000,0007C REER
Co, Ltd." HE/ B
2011F3 7158
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. XFREERH (]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EREMBATNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARIFRT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company FMARYL/ IR 2015F 12831 B 2015 2014 activities
REER EHHHRES BRTER/HMER 20155 014 TEER
MM REEFREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Hangzhou Xingidian Agriculture 22 June 2011 AK%3,000,00070 BERE
Development Co., Ltd. ¢ HE/RERL
2011F6H228
MR EEREEEARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 65.8% 65.8% Investment holding
Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial 1 August 2011 AR%10,000,0007 REER
Investrment Management RE/REN,
Co., Ltd. ¥ 2011F8A1H
LR ZEHEREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Zhejiang Zhong An Property 4 August 2011 AR®20,000,0007 VESE
Development Co., Ltd. mE /R E R
2011E8A4H
MNRZRREREERERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 57.7% 57.7%  Investment holding
Hangzhou Zhong An Changhong 26 August 2011 AR#1,000,00070 RAER
Investment Management E/FER
Co., Ltd. ® 2011%F8 268
RRZEEREERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Agriculture development
Yuyao Zhong An Agriculture 9 November 2011 AR%20,000,0007C BERE
Development Co., Ltd. # RE/RERL
2011%F11A9A
S B IR e o #Tm PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 65.8% 65.8% Property management
BRAR 6 December 2011 AR%2,00000070 NEER
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square mE /e Rt
Commercial Management 2011F12 68

Co., Ltd. @
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. ZFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BB ATINESR (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) B ARFEBHT - (8&)
Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2015%12 831 H 2015 2014 activities
kS ERhERAS ERAEE /e 20156 N14F IBER
MNREREZHERA PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 90% 90%  Construction design
Hangzhou Zhong An 28 November 2011 ARE5,000,0007C BERE
Construction Design Co., Ltd. © HE/HE R,
011411 A28 H
MR EREFHRBARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 72% 72%  Housekesping service
Hangzhou Jia Ju Le Housekeeping 15 October 2012 AK%3,000,00070 R
Senice Co., Ltd. © E/HERH
20126108158
MM EERAREERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB37,500,000 90% 90%  Investment
Hangzhou Pulotos Investment 4 February 2013 AR 37,500,000 7T management
Management Co., Ltd. ¢ hE /R REER
2013F2 A4R
BERTEHEREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate 28 February 2013 AR 100,000,0007 MEER
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ E /T ER
20132 A 284
FUFEBERESREERAR PRG/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.8% 65.8%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 5 August 2013 AR 100,000,00070 MEER
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ HE/HE R
20138 A5H
AR RBREREEER AT PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 68.0% 68.0%  Property management
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square 13 August 2013 16,000,000 70 NEER
Property Co., Ltd. @ E/HERH
20138 A 138
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERERERS L Principal
Name of company S/ B K 20151231 H 2015 2014 activities
NREH EBHERAH BRTEE/fER 2015 0145  IEER
RAECNRZEXBRERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,204,100 90% 90%  Property management
Tianjing San Jiu Zhong An 5 September 2013 AR¥10,204,1007 EE
Property Consuiting Co., Ltd. ¥ HE /AR
2013F9A5H
LR R EREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.80% 65.80%  Property management
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long 9 September 2013 AR 50,000,000 WEER
Commercial Co., Ltd. fE /hER,
201394 9H
ELENEEERERAR PRC/Mainland China US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel management
Huaibei Run Znou Hotel 16 October 2013 1,000,000 BEER
Management Co., Ltd. ® el /Bl
2013107168
HEnEEEE (M) BRAR PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 73.10% 73.10%  Investment holding
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) 18 October 2013 14,900,000% 7 REER
Management Co., Ltd. (! BB/ HERH
2013F10A 188
BERREXERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.80% 65.80%  Property management
Cixi Zhong An 6 December 2013 AR#50,000,0007 NEER
Property Co., Ltd. mE /et
2013F12A6H
MM AR EEEER LR PRG/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% 90%  Investment management
Hangzhou Juntuo Investment 6 December 2013 ARE1,000,0007 REER
Management Co., Ltd.® FEL/ Bl
2013F12/i6R
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PR ER R M

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARERGRERS L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2015512731 A 2015 2014 activities
NRER EBHERAH BREE/fER 20155 0145  IEER
MIEREMERREBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.80% 65.80%  Investment holoing
Zhejiang Zhong An City 17 December 2013 AR 100,000,00070 RAER
Construction Investment Co., Ltd.¥ /BBl
2013F12 178
RAENRLBEREREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 55.90% 55.90%  Property management
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan Wellness 31 March 2014 AR 100,000,0007C NEER
Investment Development mE /hER,
Co., Ltd. 2014F3 318
MNRRESEREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Property 18 April 2014 AR%200,000,00070 ESE
Co., Ltd. /R
2014F4 F188
MNEZREEEMELERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 65.80% 65.80%  Property development
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long 21 April 2014 AR#20,000,0007C RS
Liyumen PropertyCo., Ltd. RE/FER
2014F4 5218
R EARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Consultation
Happy days Co., Ltd. ¥ 25 Jung 2014 AR 100,000,000 management
R/ RE N FHER
2014565258
MNRRBEEERITBRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90% 90%  Technology development
Hangzhou Zhong An network 23 July 2014 ARE1,000,0007 R
Technology Co., Ltd.@® dE /R E R
201457 H238
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INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNEN (&)

MBARELT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERREDL Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2015F 1231 F 2015 2014 activities
NRER EBHERAH BRTEE/AER 20155 0145 IEEE
BALEEEBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 65.80% 65.80%  Property management
Taoranshan Wellness Co., Ltd. 19 August 2014 AR#50,000,0007T S
/B
20148 F19A
LA RERMRRREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.80% 65.80% Investment holding
Runzhou (Zhejiang) Hotel 27 November 2014 AR 100,000,000 7 BEEE
Management Limited FE /Bl
2014511 A27H
SOkTREE R M PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 52.63% 52.63%  Property management
BRERBRAT 11 December 2014 AR100,000,0007T NEER
Yuyao Lubu Zhong An Small Towns BB/ HEAH
Developments Co., Ltd. 2014%12 4118
MR X —BRE PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 73.1% 731%  Hotel management
REEEARAR 26 December 2014 ARE10,000,0007C BEER
Hangzhou Lin'an Youyicun Homestay ~ HE /B it
Investment Management Co., Ltd.¥ 2014412 26
REAMERAT] PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 65.79% N/A  Investment management
Zhong An Tiandi Co., Ltd. @4 23 March 2015 AR 100,000,00070 T™ER  REER
thiE/hER,
201563 A 23R
REREBEXERBRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 73.1% N/A  Property management
Zhong An Homestay Development 26 October 2015 AR%100,000,00070 TER  nEER
Co., Ltd. @ e/ B
2015510 A 26 B
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBARFEBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRE L Principal
Name of company SR/ LK 2015512731 F 2015 2014 activities
NR%EH EBHERAH BRTER/fER 20155 0145  IEER
MNEZESEXER AR PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 73.1% N/A  Property development
Hangzhou Xixi Huiin Property 18 November 2015 50,000,000 TER  DERE
Co., Ltd. @ HE /B
2015611 A8H
MLRERZR UL ERERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% N/A~ Movie and TV Culture
Zhejiang Zhongan Movie and TV 15 December 2015 AR100,000,0007 TER A
Culture Development Co., Ltd, @ mE /hER,
2015512 R 158
N ERREIRRBRAR PRC/Mainland China 1US$30,000,000 100% N/A  Health development
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake 29 December 2015 30,000,000t TER  BRER
Zhongchuang Health Co., Ltd. @0 e/ hE
201512 A29H
Huiun (International) Holdings Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.10% 7310%  Investment holding
Limited 4 March 2005 100,000/ REER
&
2015F3 4R
BB BERBRAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Construction design
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction 26 February 2008 187 B
Design Limited &k
20082726 A
BAERMERRAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Property development
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate 26 February 2008 13T WERE
Limited BH
20082 A 268
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B ERR M

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group

Place and date of registered as at 31 December

incorporation/ capital as at 12A318

registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRED L Principal
Name of company FMARYL/ IR 2015F 12831 B 2015 2014 activities
REER EHHHRES BRTER/HMER 20155 014 TEER
RLEEME(EE) ARAR Hong Kong HK$780,000 72.90% 7290%  Shipping
Zhong An International Shipping 11 November 2011 780,000/ 7T fini#

(Hong Kong) Limited ¢ B

2001E11 A118
ERHEBRAT Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment Holding
Hengyuan Properties Limited ! 27 December 2013 18T RAER

&k

2013F 12 4278
EEEEERAT Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Zerun Management Limited 31 December 2013 18T RERK

&k

2013%12A31H
EEERERAH Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Shengze Management Limited (! 29 February 2014 187 RAER

&k

20142 H 294
HHEEERRAA Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Glorious Days Management Limited 23 June 2014 1B BB

&k

2014466237
ENERES (B%)ERARA Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
Grand Sall International Trading Limited 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7T RAER

Bl

2014%69A158
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B SRR M EE
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2FIRKEEH(8)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) MEBARFENT : (&)
Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRES L Principal
Name of company HREY/BIK 2015128318 2015 2014 activities
NRER EHHERAH BRAEE/ifEr 20154 N14F  IBER
BGERE S (B8 ERAA Hong Kong HK$100,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Chaoyang International Trading Limited 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 RAER
BH
2014F9 A 158
BEREHERRAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Hong Kong Time Honour Property 15 September 2014 100,000 77T RAER
Limited i
2014F9 A 158
EREX(EB)ERLA Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
Pannix Industrial (HongKong) 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 REER
Limited* &k
2014%F9 158
Bl (B%) BEEEERAR Hong Kong HK$10,000 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
Runzhou (HongKong) Hotel 15 September 2014 100,000/ 7 RAER
Management Limited &k
20149158
deal World Investments British Virgin Islands USS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 6 November 2003 1%L REER
SEERARNE
200311 A6H
China Bright Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 13 November 2007 (ES REAER
EBEBRES
200711 A 138
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRMBARNER (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) WEBAREBNT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group
Place and date of registered as at 31 December
incorporation/ capital as at 12A318
registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRES L Principal
Name of company HREY/BIR 201512831 H 2015 2014 activities
NRER EBHERAH BRTER/HMEX 201545 145 IEEE
Esteem High Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 13 November 2007 1%£71 RERR
EELRARES
2007411 A13A
Everplus Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 13 November 2007 1% REER
EREARES
200711 A 13H
Gain Large Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited @ 13 November 2007 o RARR
EREARES
200711 A 13
Plenty Management British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 18 November 2007 1% RERR
EREBRES
200711 A13H
FREE(TE)ERAR British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Property management
Zhong An Property 20 June 2013 1% NEER
(Ching) Ltd. RBARRNE
20134664208
BHLEBR DA British Virgin Island US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Greenfield Investment Limited @ 19 May 2014 ESr REER
EREARES
201455197
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. LFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

TENEARNER (&)

MBARENT : (&)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group

Place and date of registered as at 31 December

incorporation/ capital as at 12A318

registration and business 31 December 2015 AREEERERS L Principal
Name of company FMERL/ BIR 2015512731 F 2015 2014 activities
NEER EHnERAHS BRAEE/ifEs 20156 N14F  IEER
BREERARAT British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% 731%  Investment holding
State Smart Developments Limited 8 July 2014 E REER

EBRRARES

2014%7H8H
EARRERAA British Virgin Islands US$1 73.1% 781%  Investment holding
Hui Sheng Global Limited ¢ 11 July 2014 (ES RAER

EREARES

2014F7 118
BERKERAHA British Virgin Islands US$1 78.1% 781%  Investment holding
Time Honour Global Limited 11 July 2014 1% B

EBEBRES

2014F7F118
REERERAT British Virgin Islands USS$1 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
Shengda Developments Limited 31 July 2014 e RER

EREBRES

2014F7H31R
AERRER AT British Virgin Islands USS$1 73.1% 73.1%  Investment holding
First Achiever Holdings Limited ¢ 13 August 2014 1%7L RERK

EBRRARES

2014F8F 137
Zhong An Real Estate Australia AUSH 100% 100%  Investment holding

(Australia) Pty Ltd. € 31 October 2014 1271 RERR
A

2014410 A31H
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. DFRKEEH(]&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBENEBARINER (8)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) MEBARFEFLT : (8)

Percentage of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Group

Place and date of registered as at 31 December

incorporation/ capital as at 12A318

registration and business 31 December 2015 ARBEERRES L Principal
Name of company FMRL/ BIR 201551231 F 2015 2014 activities
NAER EBHERAS BRITER/EfER 20155 N14F  FEEE
Verdania Properties Ltd, 9 Canada CA$120 100% 100%  Property development

8 November 2013 12007 WERE

mex

2013%11 78R
Zhong An Real Estate Development Canada CA$100 100% 100%  Property management

(Canada) Ltd. 15 January 2014 100107 NEER

MEXR

2014%1 A158
RE T REEEERAR Cayman Islands HK$173,800,000 73.10% 73.10%  Investment holding
China New City Commercial 2 July 2013 173,800,000/ 7 REER

Development Limited REHS

2013%F7A2H
MMEREZERAR Hangzhou RMB100,000,000 90% N/A  Property management
Hangzhou Run’an Property Co., Ltd. @4 27 July 2015 AEK#100,000,0007C TER  DEEE

M

20157 A278
RRLBRAREH Japan JPY5,010,000 100% N/A Tourism Management
Zhongjiale Tourism Co., Ltd, @1 21 December 2015 5,010,000 BT TER  REER

B

201512 4218
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Notes:

N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group

(@) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2015.

(b) Types of legal entities:

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

1)
2 Sino-foreign equity joint venture
Q) Limited liability company invested by foreign invested enterprises
(4) Limited liability company
() These subsidiaries were disposed of by the Group in 2015.
(d) The name of the subsidiary changed from Zhong An Real Estate (Canada)

Ltd. to Verdania Properties Ltd. in 2015.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and derivative
financial instruments which have been measured at fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out below. These
financial statements are presented in RMB and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBR ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 mHEIEE (&)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee:

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

BHEE

AP EREBEAR A RENBA
BIEZE 20154 12 A 31 B ILFE M
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BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 fmHEIEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRS
to IFRSs

2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRS
to IFRSs

2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised Standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The Company has adopted the amendments to the Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange relating
to the disclosure of financial information with reference to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during
the current financial year. The main impact to the financial
statements is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective
International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 27

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception’

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations'

Reguilatory Deferral Accounts®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

Leases*

Disclosure Initiative'

Disclosure Initiative?

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses?

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of and IAS

38 Depreciation and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'

Amendments to a number of IFRSs'
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective 23 CEMERRERNELRE

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for
adoption

6 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is

not applicable to the Group

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. During
2015, the Group performed a high-level assessment of the
impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment
is based on currently available information and may be subject
to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional
reasonable and supportable information being made available
to the Group in the future. The expected impacts arising from
the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised as follows:

2R (&)

1 201691 A1 Bk 2 EFIRRIFE
AR

2 M2017F1 B1 Bk 2 EFRRRIFE
AR

3 7201841 A1 Ak 2 &R FE A
S

4 M2019F1 A1 Bk 2 BRI RIFE
S

5 i) AR BT (AT 5 il M AR 20 B R - HERT
T LA

6 HERMWBIERE R EE N E
A EAR201651 A1 B8 2145
I FEMBHRE - B SERRA
L

B E AR AR B % S B R B 75
WEERNNE—FERT ¢

R201457 A - ERGEREES
8415 B PR B 745 S o 2 B 28 O SR O B 4R
FRAS - 6wt T BIB B R AR ELE
SEARE B =5 %R 2 395 R E
X B 745 < 55 2 ) 28 9 5% ) 2 EB 5L BT HiR
N o ZERIS|ADERFE  BEK
SR ENIEE - AEETER
201841 A 1 B iR 4N BEFR B 75 5k
EHRAIF ISR - N2015F  AEED
LR AN B B TS5 3R 5 2E RI S5 O SR 1T
=G o N AHE TIIRBIR A Al
BERMEL - WARTAEERAREE
ZHE— BB MR EEING 12 R B
BRI e s P E) o BRANEFR BT 75
REERIE O 2 B EMT ¢

o

zrEESRAF —T—asfs 123



Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective

(a)

(b)

124 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair
value. Equity investments currently held as available for sale
will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the investments are intended to be held for the
foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option
to present fair value changes in other comprehensive income.
Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income
for the equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.

Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based
on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the
simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses
that are estimated based on the present value of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade and other
receivables. The Group will perform a more detailed analysis
which considers all reasonable and supportable information,
including forward-looking elements, for estimation of expected
credit losses on its trade and other receivables upon the
adoption of IFRS 9.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective

(b)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 was removed and need to be determined by IASB. The
Group will quantify the effect when the final effective date is
issued.

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in IFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not
apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption on 1 January 2016.
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B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective

(b)

126 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRSs. In July 2015, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS
15 regarding a one-year deferral of the mandatory effective
date of IFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group expects to
adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing
the impact of IFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements
in respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial
statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective

(b)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Impairment (continued)

(i) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method must be presented in aggregate as a
single line item, and classified between those items that
will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statement of profit or
loss. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1
January 2016. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS
16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic
benefits that are generated from operating a business (of
which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result,
a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in
very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption
on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-
based method for the calculation of depreciation of its non-
current assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHERHBE

policies

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in joint venture is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
investments for trading and derivative financial instruments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued) AREEE(E)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or ARFTEXBEEAABENEEE

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the FEBERAABEREASE  WOT
T\ L

At - HERY LA EEFEREM
FHEEEANKESRBAMETE

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F— EREREENE BERERE
markets for identical assets or liabilities SR HRE CGREFHE)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the FoH  ANRESRH ATEEK
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value MEBREH AL BETE
measurement is observable, either directly or BERTENGHERE
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=H AR RESREATTHE
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BHEEFEEEATEDN
measurement is unobservable HERE

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. FHEERSHEER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) FEmEERE(E)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting NE—REHART 2D EHRKB
period as to whether there is any indication that previously LA BT R SR KR (B B 18 AT BE B PR FE Y,
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may AIBEPRIK o tNRIFE Lt hg - B
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable Al Y O] S REHEITEET - ¥R —IARKRE
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment BLINNEERS  REERRER
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there BEA W E S RER (G EE B -
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the AR HER AR EEE A sedEE - B2
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher A% % & = R B A 18 R B2 (o] 1 38
than the carrying amount that would have been determined MHEEREERE  TEaREEMN
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment BIEERAERAREEERRENRES
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal BOREEMEBHEANTE) - E&R
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of BEEMNED T AHEZEA AR
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset * BEEREEHEBEHE B
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of BEEENEDZBZEEHEENS
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the FAETBERAR o

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties E2)ha)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETRIERT » A T& TR AR
SEEHEE :
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s @ WMEUANTELEMEARHER
family and that person S
() has control or joint control over the Group; ()  RESMIEGIER HEEEHIA S
;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) EESMHARBITHEERT
25
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEESIAEEGAT
the Group or of a parent of the Group; MEEEEAS
or %
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IEHIEERTETBEE (&)

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies;

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)~ the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Cost may
also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of
profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An
annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained
profits is made for the difference between the depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of
a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred
to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. EHIEERSHBER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation (continued) EERRERITE (&)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off WENEGERENEBENGSTA(E
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual FAEH - NESETRERKAE @ I
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual HBREREFTRE - Bt FRAREET
values and useful lives for this purpose are as follows: FIREERAIFEAERAT

Useful lives Residual values AFERER  FeMEE

Buildings 20 years 5% to 10% EF 20F  5%E10%
Hotel properties 20 years 5% B 204 5%
Machinery 10 years 5% s 10F 5%
Office equipment 5 years 5% WAERE 5% 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5% E 54 5%
Leasehold Shorter of - HEEE HREIN 55 =

improvements the lease (AEEE A%E)
terms and 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have MHEPEE N EBEBEEEES TR E
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated FSH > BIEZIEB RRKA T A S A
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is BEE LD DI RSB DD RIFHEYT
depreciated separately. Eo

Residual value, useful lives and the depreciation method are BE - AERFRRITE ARG
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial B FEEEAREZLEE A -
year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant HIEHE A EERENEEEE B
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or T EETE AT (] R R AL E M 2= - B4
when no future economic benefits are expected from its SHERNERE k&G RERE R D
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement ERITER - RZEERILTERNE
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the E - HESREEZEEN AU
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales B8 - R EEEERSMERIRFE
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset. HEBAEERAEMERNEZHENE

EFRIER ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement for profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at
the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sales and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) plan to held
these properties to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation; (b) the Group can demonstrate that it has the
resources, including the necessary financing or capital, to
hold and manage an investment property; (c) the change in
use is legally permissible; (d) if the property must be further
developed for the change in use, the development has
commenced and (e) change in use is approved by the board.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property and equipment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributed to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively, and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement:
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the assets.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset, and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BARSER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

154 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Provisions BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit of loss as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR YR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2.4 FESTHERUE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B SRR AE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

(b)  neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the properties is retained;

(c)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e) the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

158 Zhong An Real Estate Limited 2015 Annual Report

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

24 FEETHERUE (&)

BUFRERG ()

IAREERER S EREEMEIRT
FHEERERTIHKF 8 KG B
BFER - AIE BB ERE V6
EESAERNEEAERE - MBS
ERREX TERMBE] AENER

BOR A — R - BRI
ERTISKFBRGFT BOBFERE
sz 0 AZE ERYREREESEMRS
REME 2 E8  QEERAMRLRE
B WA REERNTARA £ H 53
WNIZERE S P ASFRABER °

LN

EREXEBBETHEMEMBRA
RIZERCFTA T PR R RER

@ HEMEHERBEENEARAR
KEHETER

b UERE-REFEBEEBN
FEEE2EBIMENT R
PRI

© WAEEREAEAE

(d) AEBERATERGERSEH
RRERZ - &

@ XHEELSHTEEORE
pETE R

& X

oIk



Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. FHEERSHBER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued) WA RERR (%)

The above criteria are met when construction of the EEAYENEZETIRERIKER
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has SEABNHAZHO YT IR
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant £ ESINFER LG @EKZIE
government authorities, the properties have been delivered AT U B 14 e B IR M IE (R AT - A&
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables AR o SHE WS RAIRES R
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold W ARERE BRGIASHEEAGRBE
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the PEEBREET o

consolidated statement of financial position under current

liabilities.
Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the KEHEAREEENHEEWERA
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis HATE & A R F s Rl EL I R RR o

over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision RERBEYEEE R EIERE Y
of property maintenance and management services is BIRE TN HEAE R RIS A FERR o

recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food HERLLWA(BIEEE - Bk
and beverage sales and income from the provision of other RHEE RIBHE M ERBHBKA)
ancillary services is recognised when the services are PR AR TSRS RERR ©

rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the T EU A AT R F| R K e L TR
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 2 MATFEARNFIR ASETARKIR
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the AL R T A8 8 F Bk &R0 2
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, B (ER) ERA R e S EAERR
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial FEZFIE -

asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to & B U A Ty E R R ERFIB R EFIE
receive payment has been established. T E R T UARER ©
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B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. EHIEERSHBER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Share-based payments DR BEENE A
The Company operates a share option scheme for the RAvRE —HERESE - BEY
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible AREBEBKINELBEINEEE
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s SHEERHGEEEE AEEES
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group (BRES) RO AERAOSZA AR
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, UeERER BN - & B BIIR L ARTSE A RE
whereby employees render services as consideration for mTAZRE(REZERS]) °

equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for ER20024F 11 A7 B 2 BERERERN
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the BEETRELEST IR ELRE
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is REBREZENAAEBEFE - &
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further REERINEMEERNEEE B
details of which are given in note 30 to the financial statements. FEERIETF  FRE—FHBIEN
B R R MIFE 80 o

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in [RIEEER 52 KA - EREmAE
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding BN - ERBE R LRB EE
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance EBETZHENMEBEHFESZ AR
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense R o JE5RE B HiRT - B {EHRE BRIE
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each RZBELEER G 2 B5THY - Rt
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to 558 BE B AR 9 R AR S B i A% 1
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best SRBEST EEE 2 &EMGT
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately EX —HEAEERR AR EE
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for B+ TR 251 S HE ) R HR 4R A
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense R EE) o

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not RETEENRLEBEHARBER -
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value TaZRiRERIEMGRER GG
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is M S AR IR A AT BE MEVE BT -
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of 1EANEB A BRREESRBERAR
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance TESENREMTZ—HD - M5
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other KHAKHEeNEEEBRALBENRN
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated F R o 252 8 B 5 & 4 ] L fh 544 (12
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting R BB RIS AR TE ) 48 B SR B F
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value %o EEBEHENEENAREE
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award A R 30 5| R BB 8 22 B S 8 - IR
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions. B R R /22 IR IR R BIBR AN o
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B ER R M

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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B SRR AE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. FHEERSHBEER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Borrowing costs B
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, WHE - EEsAEEABIKREE (BIE
construction or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets BAREFERMENA IR ERSEE
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready MEE)EHNEERERER B&
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the TMEAEBZEEEMNDI KA © 7%
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing ZERETR A {ERTE RS ER
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for RILERBEBRNERL - FHRERT
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on KA EM XS E R R ERRIEERT
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending REVAIEE WA » BEREAERE
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the Ak o FrA EMERKAEEE
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are HARIRBIER S - B A BIEE R
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing MEABLSELENT B R EMBA o

costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the M—REAES  RAERESEEE
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of BE HENEERZEANT 7%
7% (2014: 9%) has been applied to the expenditure on the (2014 % : 9%) NERNEARLR o

individual assets.

Dividends B’

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are REAME BRI R FEAR R R T At
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. In EREREAE RNBTFE &%
prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were EER SRR ERRR B 9 fR B E R AR
classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within the MERPESPOPEBOENREERE
equity section of the statement of financial position, until they A BEZSHREARERBREAS
have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. EHE - RMITEBENIE622E R
Following the implementation of the Hong Kong Companies AMER 2 18 -+ BER AR EIRR B R BT IS 3R
Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are disclosed RMTFEARER -

in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared. EF!HH BRETREERRELRTIR - &
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately » RHEARS B T iR R 3 N B R
as a liability when they are proposed and declared. B}fEﬂﬁE REELE -
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BA SRR EE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK ()

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China have Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Canadian
dollars (“CA$”), Australian dollars (‘“AU$”) and United States
dollars (“US$”) as their functional currencies, respectively.
The functional currency of Mainland China subsidiaries is the
RMB. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, the
RMB is used as the presentation currency of the Group. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.
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B SRR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measure at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.
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B ER R M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

166 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of presale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets when the estimated time to completed
construction is less than twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below:

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised

market value by independent professional valuers. Such

valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are

subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the

actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers

information from current prices in an active market for similar

properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on

market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar

properties, the Group considers information from a variety of

sources, including:

@)

current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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BARSER R M

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(ii)

168 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2015 was RMB5,273,900,000
(2014: RMB3,804,200,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

v)

(vi)

170 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised deductible temporary differences and tax
losses at 31 December 2015 was RMB184,258,000
(2014: RMB201,926,000). The amount of unrecognised
tax losses during the year ended 31 December 2015 was
RMB236,044,000 (2014: RMB104,179,000). Further details
are contained in note 20 to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and other
receivables requires management’s judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is
different from the original estimates, such differences will have
an impact on the carrying value of the receivables and doubtful
debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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S e
4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4, BESBEH
INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business MEEME @ ANEBRIBEERATEERAR
units based on income derived from business and has two SIESEBEAL - WA M E ] RS A= D Ehan
reportable operating segments as follows: T
(@) the residential segment develops and sells residential @ EEHE - EREAMRINEAFRE
properties, and provides management and security services RIHETEYEF - WREFEYERE
to residential properties in Mainland China and Canada; BIE NIRRT
(b)  the commercial segment develops and sells commercial b) REESEL EPRANMBFEELIEER
properties, leases investment properties, owns and operates Rz HMEREYHE  BEREE
hotel and provides management and security services to BE - WRRAERHEERRLY
commercial properties in Mainland China. AR7% ©
Management monitors the results of its operating segments EREECERERECESIXENELE
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources BB RS B R RIFTEENRE o DERIE
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance BRREDIBFE, BB (BB EL A%
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is ERFE, BT E) T ARHE ° H 2BMRE
a measure of profit/loss before tax from continuing operations. & NEE2ARREEESBTMEBRE = 1E
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to HHHEMEANEEBETRS o

the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEEDWEH(E)

172 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
=8 (SES st
Year ended HZE20154F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2015 12831 HILEE AR®T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Segment revenue: AEWA :
Sales to external customers HINBRFHE 2,379,160 503,986 2,883,146
Intersegment sales D EPEISHE 11,245 - 11,245
Sales to external customers HINBEPHE 2,390,405 503,986 2,894,391
Reconciliation: SBEN -
Elimination of intersegment sales 53 B R 8 Y 8 (11,245)
Revenue from continuing operations B EFEFRA 2,883,146
Segment results o EBEELE (66,841) 1,075,435 1,008,594
Segment assets DEEE 10,861,577 11,293,164 22,154,741
Reconciliation: SBEN -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 73 B FE U SR IR
#5H (65,334)
Total assets B E 22,089,407
Segment liabilities PHEE 8,528,653 6,073,322 14,601,975
Reconciliation: SBEN -
Elimination of intersegment payables D EPEER SR
Eac| (65,334)
Total liabilities wafE 14,536,641
Other segment information: HihpIEH :
Share of profits and losses: 45 T g
Joint ventures B - 2,208 2,208
Impairment losses recognised in F’Q‘?Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ@m
the statement of profit or loss HREE1E 58,620 - 58,620
Depreciation ﬁ% 5,154 12,523 17,677
Investments in joint ventures RE&ERSE
KR E - 774 774
Capital expenditure =R 6,347 7,203 13,550

2015 Annual Report




Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEEDWBEH(E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Residential Commercial Total
*= [SES “aEt
Year ended HE20144%F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2014 12 A31 BILFE AR¥ETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue: DEBUA
Sales to external customers HINBE P IHE 1,341,252 208,853 1,550,105
Intersegment sales D EBEISH & 6,291 - 6,291
Sales to external customers MR FIHE 1,347,543 208,853 1,556,396
Reconciliation: SHEN ¢
Elimination of intersegment sales 53 B 51 5 ) 8 (6,291)
Revenue from continuing operations S eI ON 1,650,105
Segment results D EBHELE (16,366) 655,779 639,413
Segment assets PHEE 10,829,245 10,043,821 20,873,066
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 7 EPFE FEUR
SRIBETEH (112,359)
Total assets BEE 20,760,707
Segment liabilities PEEE 8,293,272 5,586,397 13,879,669
Reconciliation: GHE -
Elimination of intersegment payables 73 2B FE AT
SRIBETEH (112,359)
Total liabilities HEE 13,767,310
Other segment information: Hith 5 ZEH
Share of profits and losses: 5B ¢
Joint ventures BEDE - 259 259
Impairment losses recognised in MBI AR
the statement of profit or loss BEEE 14,204 = 14,204
Depreciation e 5,823 13,413 19,236
Investments in joint ventures REETENRE - 46,228 46,228
Capital expenditure BARFX 2,655 2,696 5,351
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

4. EESBEA )

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

i B E R

(@) REIBEFHEA

2015 2014

2015 2014 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Mainland China IR 2,883,146 1,540,157
Canada nEx - 9,948
2,883,146 1,550,105

The revenue information of continuing operations above is
based on the locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

LPRFEEQEEBHBABHERE

FERLE °

(b) FARBEE

2015 2014

2015 2014 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Mainland China 10,343,505 12,358,942
Canada 121,639 127,825
10,465,144 12,486,767

The non-current asset information of continuing operations
above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under

common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

174 Zhong An Real Estate Limited
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GAINS

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5.

Revenue represents income from the sale of properties, property

leasing income, property management fee income and hotel

operating income during the year, net of business tax and other

sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

A - HAtll A B iz

WARFRHEDREA - RBEEHA -

WEERBWARE
i M EL A S AR R TE SR SH T 1R

WA~ B AR SR AT -

LEWA (FNRER

o

2015 2014
2015 £ 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Revenue KA
Sale of properties SHEMZ 2,882,015 1,471,965
Property leasing income YIEREWA 90,072 93,074
Property management fee income MESEEIWA 41,686 37,126
Hotel operating income B E & BRI A 48,107 47,613
Less: Business tax and surcharges AT R E (178,734) (99,673)
2,883,146 1,550,105
Other income HAg A
Interest income from a joint venture KE—MEECEANFEMRA 115,633 29,769
Bank interest income FRITHEUWA 27,310 7,373
Others HiIgE 5,818 3,059
Subsidy income* LN 476 1,438
149,237 41,639
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of investment properties 1 & & E Y28 U 1,397 =
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HESELENKE 125,954 -
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain FEH (F5R) s (244) 1,928
127,107 1,928
276,344 43,567
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. * BB E R B R e B R S o
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

176 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. FRIRAIFIE

AEBBRBATFEE DR (GEA) TFI%

g
2015 2014
20154 2014 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AR%T ARBTIT
Cost of properties sold B HEMEK K 22 2,317,028 1,103,320
Depreciation e 12 17,677 19,236
Minimum lease payments BELCEHED
under operating leases: =EHRSHE
— Office premises /NS 195 4,072 5,115
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN £ 5,299 4,069
Staff costs including directors’ and BTN (BREESREE
chief executive’s remuneration (note 8): TBAEME) (MiFES)
— Salaries and other staff costs —ITERHEEIKA 154,505 118,642
— Equity-settled share option expense —REAEEREE R 32 - 2,207
— Pension scheme contributions —iRIREFT B 19,401 13,488
Foreign exchange differences, net MERZER  FE 5 244 (1,928)
Direct operating expenses BEEEERY (BRI
(including repairs and maintenance HEWIREYZE
arising on rental-earning EENEERIER)
investment properties) 5,095 6,656
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMERE
properties (1,397) -
Fair value (gain)/loss, net: PREE(KS) BB T
Fair value gain upon transfer to BRI EYER
investment properties A EERE 13 (796,581) (656,784)
Changes in fair value of wEMENREE
investment properties A EERE 13 (29,361) (33,200)
Equity investments at fair value BEAREEFEAHEH
through profit or loss FTAE HiEmmEmEE
— held for trading —FHEEE 257 262
Write-down of properties under R R ES
development to net realisable value AR RE 14 58,620 14,204
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Notes to Financial Statements

S e
FINANCE COSTS 7. B¥EEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEENPHEERDTOAT ¢
2015 2014
2015 F 2014 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERAE 359,005 385,278
Interest on other borrowings E A AT E 188,703 185,196
Total interest expense S A% 547,708 570,474
Less: Interest capitalised B BAREFEF
in properties under development YIZERIF B (513,439) (532,665)
34,269 37,809

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

8. EFRFEITHARMSE

R ETAER - BB A BMEHIEE 383(1)(a)
©) * O ROEARAR(FEZEFEER)
BOIFE28 FAESREBTHRAEHE

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is WEMT :
as follows:
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Fees e 600 600
Other emoluments: E s
Salaries, bonuses and allowances E N A AW =4z 1 4,691 4,645
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 28 14
Equity-settled share option expense R sEE R EE A - 276
4,719 4,935
5,319 5,635
BREEERAR —Z—afsg 177
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

8. EERTETHARMS

(@) BUFHITES

FRAENBILFATEENERES N

the year were as follows: T
Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
IR EREER
Hue IBIRER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT
2015 20154
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BrEEE 200 - 200
Mr. Zhang Huagiao SRALB A 200 - 200
Mr. Loke Yu BEEM I E 200 - 200
600 - 600
2014 20144
Mr. Pei Ker Wei BREEE 200 13 213
Mr. Zhang Huagiao RACAE S 200 - 200
Mr. Loke Yu BEg RS 200 13 213
600 26 626
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

8. EBEREETHRARMNS

(b) BITEERERITHAER

executive
Pension Equity-settled
Salaries and scheme share option
allowances Bonuses contributions expense Total
Bk DRELEEN
HeREE i SRR BRERX ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET R ARET R ARETR ARETR
2015 2015
Executive directors HiEZE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REREE 609 160 23 - 792
Mr. Lou Yifei R4 668 128 - - 796
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan BRRT 727 198 - - 925
2,004 486 23 - 2,513
Chief executive and Executive director ~ #Z77HA &
RHnEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan HREEE 1,796 405 5 - 2,206
3,800 891 28 - 4,719
2014 2014 F
Executive directors HIEE
Mr. Zhang Jiangang REHEE 601 159 7 48 815
Mr. Lou Yifei B-REE 655 111 - 48 814
Ms. Shen Tiaojuan hEERT 713 198 - 52 963
1,969 468 7 148 2,592
Chief executive and Executive director ~ ZTHAS
RoiEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan BRELE 1,803 405 7 102 2,317
3,772 873 14 250 4,909

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration during the year (2014: Nil).

FAREESHEXRBBETAH
By (2014 4F « £8) -
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2014:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2014: two)
non-director, highest paid employee for the year are as follows:

9. AEEmeEHFAL
FAREZHRSHFATABIEENSE (2014 4F :
—Z)EE HMEHBEHN EXHE
8o FNT—H (20145 : MB)IFEEFH

SEATHBMESFBT
2015 2014
20154 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - TEALROERL
Pension scheme contributions RIS FT B
Equity-settled share option expense IS ERER R

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

1,027 1,874
- 7
- 86
1,027 1,967

FHNRNA TR IEEERSHIES A
IR ¢

Number of employees

EE A
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T AR 1,000,000 7T - 1
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AER# 1,000,001 TTE
AR# 1,500,000 7T 1 1
1 2
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and Canada
are not liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
profits currently arising in Hong Kong and Canada during the year
(2014: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2014: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

Notes to Financial Statements
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10. R

HRAEBMRESRINEAK KB A )
AN E A B S RN A 8 22 A FE SR B A
B MW EEL BB RINERFEHEE
(20144 « #) o

A B AT1S it B B AN S B 72 AR B A BT /B 2 B AY
BT AIE 25% (2014 4F : 25% ) &3 A P
SRR RIEL B o

B ) TR (B R B IR (E BN E Y
PSSR IR0 AT FR B 32 (B i LA - &
ERAREMYERER) BN 0%E
BO%EEER KU - REBERETEA
BRERER - 5T - (EH REBBENG
ALHIEETER - EARSEREE L
BEMREAEZA - DHIRERBERBDE
ERBREER L -

2015 2014
2015 F 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T

Current — PRC corporate income BNEAFRIE — F
tax for the year RS 64,819 40,266
Current — PRC LAT for the year BIHARR I8 — F A B L B (E 103,927 13,804
Deferred (note 20) EFERIAE (MI5E20) 246,546 183,587
Total tax charge for the year FRFIBLREE 415,292 237,657
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FRiG# (%)

REBEARBREAZHHE R R RERERE
B8 BSATE B R 5T E R B AT A EE A A B B
ERBERTEARENTAFSERRAOT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

2015 2014
2015 F 2014 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARET T
Profit before tax FR BRI A 1,008,594 639,413
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 1% 25% (2014 4 : 25%)
(2014 25%) EETRRETERFIIE 252,149 159,853
Effect of withholding tax at 10% N5 [ B B R ) T
on the distributable profits of o3I 5 MR AN 10% TRFIHR
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries R 2,883 21,296
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BB B HAREI 2= A O FR B &5 18 (3,231) =
Expenses not deductible for tax TR TR 26,535 20,110
Tax losses not recognised RERTIEEE 59,011 26,045
Provision for LAT T HbIB(E R B 103,927 13,804
Tax effect on LAT TR ER B R B (25,982) (3,451)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate ~ ANEB BRI RN IBFAL 415,292 237,657
Tax payable in the consolidated statement 53 & G B 75 ik it 3= HO FE A B
of financial position represents: THHE
PRC corporate income tax RIS 294,851 260,020
PRC LAT AP B 4 b 32 (B R 382,833 359,889
677,684 619,909
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE M. BOFRIEBREKESAEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY SRR F
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the ERERNANZREN QAL BRKRE
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent A8 AL A FDE A R 420,608,000
of RMB420,608,000 (2014: RMB319,725,000) and the weighted TC(2014F : A R #319,725,0007C ) °
average number of ordinary shares of 2,348,582,400 (2014: AR F N E 17 E @R A &5
2,366,604,616) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the 2,348,582,400 1% (2014 4 : 2,366,604,616
rights issued during the year. REE - B TRARARMENRHARET o
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on: TEERERAEF TIER :
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Earnings B&F|
Profit attributable to ordinary equity SN
holders of the parent A AEGFE 420,608 319,725
Number of shares
RGEAR
2015 2014
2015 £ 20144
Shares id4v)
Weighted average number of ordinary FREBITEER
shares in issue during the year DntEF 2,348,582,400 2,366,604,616
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares during the RNEFRE E2015F & 201412 31 B
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. |4 A (] BB A S R E A @ PR o
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. EERE{H
Office Motor Leasehold
Properties Machinery  equipment vehicles improvements Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
LES BE BAZRE RE HEEE @t
ARMTE ARMTE ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR
At 31 December 2014 and 2014F12A31B K
at 1 January 2015; 2015F 1818 :
Cost WAE 248,082 1,448 35,684 43,964 - 329,178
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (78,728) (995) (27,462) (33,925) - (141,110)
Net carrying amount REFE 169,354 453 8,022 10,039 - 188,068
At 1 January 2015, net of 2015F1 818
accumulated depreciation MR 25HE 169,354 453 8,202 10,039 - 188,068
Additions 1 - 84 4,330 3,570 5,566 13,550
Disposals HE (50) - (1,034) (146) - (1,230)
Depreciation provided FRHE
during the year (11,204) (57) (2,218) (4,084) (114) (17,677)
At 31 December 2015, net of 201512 8318
accumulated depreciation MR 25HE 158,100 480 9,300 9,379 5,452 182,711
At 31 December 2015: 201512 A31 A :
Cost KAME 248,032 1,532 38,980 47,388 5,566 341,498
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (89,932) (1,052) (29,680) (38,009) (114) (158,787)
Net carrying amount EHFE 158,100 480 9,300 9,379 5,452 182,711
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. EER W (1)
(CONTINUED)
Office Motor Leasehold
Properties Machinery equipment vehicles Improvements Total
LES BH  BAZRE RE HELE b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTL ARMTE ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR
At 31 December 2013 and 2013F 12 A31B K
at 1 January 2014; 20141818 :
Cost KAE 247,519 1,821 32,613 42,672 - 324,125
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (66,636) (%47) (24,873) (29,536) - (121,992)
Net carrying amount 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 - 202,133
At 1 January 2014, net of 2014F1 /18
accumulated depreciation MR Z5HE 180,883 374 7,740 13,136 - 202,133
Additions bl 563 127 3,204 1,367 - 5,351
Disposals L& - - (177) (3 - (180)
Depreciation provided FRiE
during the year (12,092) (48) (2,635) (4,461) - (19,236)
At 31 December 2014, net of 2014128318
accumulated depreciation MR E:HTE 169,354 453 8,222 10,039 - 188,068
At 31 December 2014: 2014512A318 :
Cost AME 248,082 1,448 35,684 43,964 - 329,178
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (78,728) (095) (27,462) (33,925) - (141,110)
Net carrying amount REFE 169,354 453 8,222 10,039 - 188,068
At 31 December 2015, certain items of the Group’s property MR2015F 12 A31H  AEEETWER
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately XAE1E B BREDFE XA R 144,327,000 7T
RMB144,327,000 (2014: RMB153,682,000) were pledged to (20144 : AR¥153,682,0007T) * 2AMI5E
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the 30(iil) FTHE & - EfEAR TASER SRTT
Group as disclosed in note 30(iii). B SRR E A fE KA
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. IEWM=E

186 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
EEMRENE EEREME et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARETT
At 31 December 2013 and 2013F 12 A31 B X
1 January 2014 20141 H1H 2,532,000 - 2,532,000
Transfers from properties EREMAEp
under development (note 14) 3 (HisE14) - 582,216 582,216
Disposal HE - - -
Fair value gain upon transfer ERENAR BENE - 656,784 656,784
Changes in fair value of BEMEREEE
investment properties 33,200 - 33,200
At 31 December 2014 2014912 A31H 2,565,200 1,239,000 3,804,200
At 31 December 2014 and 2014F12 A31 B X
1 January 2015 20151 B 1H 2,565,200 1,239,000 3,804,200
Transfers from properties EEREMAERYE
under development (note 14) (BfEE14) = 616,419 616,419
Disposal HE (2,990) - (2,990)
Fair value gain upon transfer HEBOATEERE - 796,581 796,581
Increase in investment properties R E YL
under construction - 30,329 30,329
Transfers from investment HEERENEES
properties under construction to BEERIREME
completed investment properties 502,000 (5602,000) =
Changes in fair value of REMERARBEE
investment properties 54,690 (25,329) 29,361
At 31 December 2015 2015412 A31H 3,118,900 2,155,000 5,273,900
2015 2014
20154 2014
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARET T ARET T
Current assets MENEE @) 29,800 31,000
Non-current assets FEREBEE 5,244,100 3,773,200
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HEREE 5,273,900 3,804,200
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@)

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in
accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Notes to Financial Statements
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13. WM (])

(@)

AEBEEZHREMERFREBILE
EEABRMEMEBRETCARAD
RRARBESEMN - HHRETAR
AINEMRREMELENTESR
AREEREENRANBEERE
BRNHERBREERGER
FRGIMEENETER °

el

i X 8
\?\<ﬂ°

X
S

TREJIMABERFREVENR
REBECLER  ARAN/ERIE
BB NERURBEAABEE
BARERBREEZE D AR EER
ENAREBERB(F—EF=4) °
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statement of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial position hierarchy  and key input(s)

SO BN R DAEE

FEBAHERENE ZER HERTR = EH A HIE
Property 1 - Level 3 Direct comparison
Property in Hangzhou & =4 approach and Income

(Guomao Building)
1SR — M
(EHEXRE)

188 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEELBUERIBAE (R
HERX)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield

(2) Reversionary yield
(3) Market unit rent
(4) Price per square

metre

FELEA
(1) FEHE=
@
@
@

/

)

) EERER
) MHEMNEE
) BEFRER
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13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

EXTUEERAME

Term yield, taking into account of

yield of 4% for office portion and

5.5% for retail portion, generated from

comparable properties and adjustment

to reflect the certainty of term income

secured and to be received.

Rt AR E E e (RO EG

R4% REERRH75.5%) KR

%&%WWE%%Amﬁmﬁmﬂ%
B TH B AR o

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office
portion and 6% for retail portion, taking
into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

B ABMISFEHRS WA KRS
WENELTE  PABOHERRSR
R16.5% NMAEHRE 6%

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day
for office portion and RMB4.8/sgm/day
for retail portion, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
EREEMSLE AL LT ALE
EREER - MEKDRRESEM
FHERZ mBEMASATTERXK
BRARBATTORRED) KBTS
KERARKEASTL(ZESD)

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
TUBREHABE
HAAEERBR

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHREEES 2
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

Bk ERE - A
 EEBE

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

misELEeHED -



(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position

BHBBRRRF

Fair value
hierarchy

AREE

FEBFRBARENE SR

Property 2 -
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)

25 ME— LiEYE
(iRgter)

Level 3
E=gp

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

HERITREZHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERIBAE (R
HERE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield

2) Reversionary yield

wW

@)

(3) Market unit rent
(4) Price per square
metre
Z2HR
fﬁﬁﬁuﬂz/\T
B
mizENEE

SEAEE

Tos =

ESgcopOoge

Notes to Financial Statements

13. WM (])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Price of RMB9,300/sgm for office
portion and RMB15,900/sgm for
retail portion, using market direct
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
etc.
ERAEEMSL VAT A R E B
HRE  DERRSEMERNER
B AETHARARK9,300T (A
#7) R&gFHRARE 15,9007 (T

=8

DH

Iff

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

T AR EER)5.5% 2 e
[ BR BT HEAR R A I ER AR ER AR A B B FE
TR RIG H ME B K -

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking
into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

R ABMEFEESRA LR

BA SRR YR

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
FABRZGARE
HAREEBE

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRREE  2rEE
B o

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHKEEES A
R EEBE

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

a[l]
1] D)'
S

£t

FlEREE - A
BYMENBUME  ERREER REEBE -
5.5% °
BEEERBAR ZT—AFFR
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)
Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statement of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial position hierarchy  and key input(s)

SO BARR R DAREE

FEEFREERENE ZER RERTREEGARE

190 Zhong An Real Estate Limited
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13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Market unit rent of RMB7.3/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road

frontage, size of property and facilities.

FREEMBLE R AV AL E
RERATIER - MEX D REHEEEM
EHEAE  MBBENESATTHK
BRARKT3T

Price of RMB46,000/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
ERAEEMSL VAT R E B
HRE  DERRSEEMERNER
BRAGTHARAR 46,0007 ©

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAABEEBER

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

TSELESHS -
AN

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BIRRHED - A7
B

>
|
[



(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position
SO BARR R
FEBEERENE

Property 3 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Integrated Service
Center)
3SEME - E
(A RBEHL)

Fair value
hierarchy
DREE
%

Level 3
FE=

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

HERITREZHABE

Direct comparison

approach and Income

approach (term and

reversion approach)
HELBERBAE

(12581

5E)

The key inputs are:

(1
2

w

@
©)
O

TN =

ESgCoOge

Term yield
Reversionary yield
Market unit rent
Price per square
metre

E2HR
fﬁﬁﬂ%z/\?
B =
minEMESE
B ARER

Notes to Financial Statements

13. WM (])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

FEET NS EE ) 5.6% 2 Wias &%
[ BR BT FE AR N A A ER AR ER AR A B HEFE
MR REGENE KRR -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into
account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

A B REBARRE
WMERNELTE  BEREREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB3.9/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEM BB AL LT ALE
NERETIER - MER/NRRIEEHA
FERAZ  mpBENHESRETHK
BAARKESIT

Price of RMB13,500/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
EABEEMSL VAT A R E B
BB MERRSHMERNER
BRAGTHARARE 13,5007 ©

REFEERRAT

BA SRR YR

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
FABRZGARE
HAREEBE

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

ERKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

je 88

mizEM AN
AREEYR -

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRREE  ArEE
it

o

it

—T—RFFR
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B R AR EE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position
SO BARR R
FEEEEREWE

Property 4 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Office portion of
Highlong Plaza)

R E S IALYES
(ERESHAHS)

192 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREE

£33 RERMTR = ZRm A HE
Level 3 Direct comparison
BE=4 approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BELBERBAE
(HEERE)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield

(2) Reversionary yield
(3) Market unit rent
(4) Price per square
metre
)E%WAT
) TnELEE
) BYFHARER

2015 Annual Report

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

REET NI E A H) 5% < Waa
Hﬁ%ﬁﬂfﬂ%&ﬁﬂﬂzﬁmﬁﬂﬂﬁv\ﬁ’ﬁ?ﬁm \E
H RS H AT B K o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking
into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

KA ABUMSFEESRARA
BYENELTE EEREER
5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
ERAEEMSLER AU LT ALE

MERETIER  MER/NRRIEEHAM
FEERAZ  mgBEUHASRETHK
FRARKEA9TT

Price of RMB12,000/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.

EREEM S BAT R KA E SR
HmiE  MERESEMEREE
BRAETHAARK 12,0007 °

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
RARZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

(LGRS VTN
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

mHEMNEEHE -
AREERS -

D

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.



(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position
SO BARR R
FEBEERENE

Property 5 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Retail portion of
Highlong Plaza)
Fin/E S TALYES
(EEESEHND)

Fair value
hierarchy
DREE
%

Level 3
FE=M

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

HERITREZHABE

Direct comparison

approach and Income

approach (term and

reversion approach)
HELBERBNE

(12581

5A)

The key inputs are:

(1
2

W

@
©)
0

TN =

Sy =

Term yield
Reversionary yield
Market unit rent
Price per square
metre

E2HR
fﬁﬁﬂ%z/\?

el Gt
minEMESE
B HARER

Notes to Financial Statements

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

FEET A\ YIS ) 5.6% 2 Wias &%
[ BR BT FE AR N A I ER AR B A B HEFE
MR RBGENERREE -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into
account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

EETA B mISZERERARRE
WMENELTE  BEREREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB8.2/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEM BB AL LT ALE
NEGETER - MER/NRRIEEHA
FERAZ  mpBENHESRETHK
BRAR%KB2TT o

Price of RMB22,000/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
EAEEMSL VAT A R E B
BB DERRSHMERNER
BRAGTHARARE 22,0007 °

REFEERRAT

BA SRR YA

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
AUABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

ERKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

j5es

mizEMASHE
AREEYR

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRREE  ArEE
i

o

it

T —RFFR
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B R AR EE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statement of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial position hierarchy  and key input(s)

SO BARR R DREE

FEEFRFERENE ZER RERTREEEARE
Property 6 - Level 3 Direct comparison
Property in Hangzhou ~ =4 approach and Income

(Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong
Plaza)

A /E S WALES
(ERESRBALNE)

194 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BELBERBAE
(HEERE)

The key inputs are:
Term yield
Reversionary yield
Market unit rent

EREECEE

Price per square
metre
E2HR
)E%WAT
) BFEREE

) TnELEE
) BFIKER

2015 Annual Report

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

REET NI E A H) 5% < Waa
%%Fﬁ&%%mﬁ%%%mﬁmﬁ
H RS H AT B K o

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking
into account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.
TSI ERES KA KRR
BYENELTE  ERREER
5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
FREEM SR AT ALE

MEGETIER - MER/ R RIS HA
FEERAZ  MaBEUHESRAETHK
BRARKEA19TT

Price of RMB10,700/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
EREEMSLBATE KA E SR
HRE  DERRSEMERNER
BRRETHIAARK10,7007T °

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
RARZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

(LGRS VTN
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

=4

Fﬁﬁt
REER

St
}\

mrmra
D 13
rt

o

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

(B S

b3
=
|
[



(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of
financial position
SO BARR R
FEBEERENE

Property 7 -

Property in Hangzhou
(Landscape Garden)
TRME-INDE
(1h7Kk%E)

Fair value
hierarchy
DREE

&

Level 3
FE=MR

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

HERITREZHABE

Direct comparison

approach and Income

approach (term and

reversion approach)
HELBERBAE
(REESZ)

The key inputs are:

(1)
2

W

@
(©)
@
e
1
2
3
4

)
)
)
)

Term yield
Reversionary yield
Market unit rent
Price per square
metre

E2UR

T
T

TS
SEIREIHE

Notes to Financial Statements

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

FEET NS EE ) 5.6% 2 Wias &%
[ BR B4R N A A ER AR ER AR A B HEFE
MR REGENE KRR -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into
account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

EETA B mISZEREBARRE
WMENELTE  BEREREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB2.6/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEM BB AL LT ALE
NEGETER - MER/ N RIEEHA
FHERAZ  MpBENHESRETHK
BRARKE267T -

Price of RMB11,700/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
EAEEMSL VAT KA E B
HEE  MERESEMERNIRE
BRAZFHAARE11,7007T -

REFEEARRD

BA SRR YA

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
AUABRZGARE
HAABEEBR

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

ERKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRREE  ArEE
=

il

o

Al —E—RFFR
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B SRR

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)
Investment

properties held by

the Group

in the consolidated

statement of Fair value
financial position hierarchy
SO BARR R DAREE
FEEFREERENE ZER
Property 8 - Level 3
Property in Hangzhou ~ =%

(Hidden Dragon Bay)
85 E —MNE
(E)

196 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERITREZHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
BELBERBAE
(HEERE)

The key inputs are:
Term yield
Reversionary yield
Market unit rent

ERCECEE

Price per square
metre
TELUA

) T
) EHMEE
) TIREAfS
) BFHARER

2015 Annual Report

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable
properties and adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

FEET N\ YIS 1) 5.6% 2 Wias &%
[ BR BT AR N A I ER AR ER AR A B EFE
MR RS NE KR -

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into
account of annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.

EETA B MISZERERARRE
WMERNELTE  EREREER6% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEM BB AL LT ALE
NEGETER - MER/NR RIS HA
FERAZ  MpENHESRETHK
BRARMK4.47T -

Price of RMB16,000/sgm, using
market direct comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.
ERAEEMSL VAT A KA E B
HRE  DERRSEMERNER
BRAGTHARARE 16,0007 ©

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAABEEBER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

EBtE RS - A
ABEE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

mizELHEeHS
AN
The higher the price,

the higher the fair
value.

L
=2
it
5>
>
|
[



(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held by
the Group

in the consolidated
statement of Fair value
financial position

BHBBRRRF
FEBFRRARENF

hierarchy
DREE

&

Level 2
EZR

Property 9 -

Property in Hangzhou
(International Office
Center)

SR -
(BEIBRH AL

Level 3
E=

Property 10 -
Property in Huaibei
(Vancouver City)
1055 — LY
OREF=ER)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

HERITREZHABE

Direct comparison
approach

ERLEA

The key input is:

(1) Price per square
metre

FEZHR

(1) BFHAKER

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
EELEBUERIBATE
(HEIES %)

Notes to Financial Statements

13. WM (])

Significant

unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Price of RMB17,500/sgm, using
market direct comparables and

taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.

FREEMSLBEL A RALE B
HRE VMESABSEEMENIEE
EBEREBTEHARARE17,5007T

Term yield, taking into account of yield
of 5.5%, generated from comparable

properties and adjustment to reflect the

certainty of term income secured and
to be received.

RET AR EL#5.6% 2 et M
RERFHE R R U AR A RO RETE
AR S MBS -

REFEERRAT

BA SRR YR

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
FABRZGARE
HAABEEBR

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

ERES  AAEE
S

The higher the term
yield, the lower the
fair value.

TGRS IEIIN
REEBE -

—z-—ngsR 197
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B SRR

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)
Investment
properties held by
the Group
in the consolidated
statement of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial position hierarchy  and key input(s)
SO BERR RS DREE
TEERBFERENE SR RERMTR = ZHAHE
The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield
(2) Reversionary yield
(3) Market unit rent
(4) Price per square
metre
TELYA
(1) MHEE =
@ EHUkEX
@) mHBEMNEE
(@) BEHKER

198 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

2015 Annual Report

13. WM (#])

Significant
unobservable
inputs

BEATUBEGAZE

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into
account annual unit market rental
income and unit market value of the
comparable properties.
EETABmISZFEREE S BARRR
WMENENLTE  EHEKRERE% -

Market unit rent of RMB1.1/sgm/day,
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of location and
other individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEMSLER UL ALE
NERATIEES  MERA/D R iEE A
FERAZ  MEENHESATTHK
BRAARE11T-

Price of RMB6,600/sgm per

square metre, using market direct
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
etc.
ERAEEMSL VAT R E B
HRE  DERRSEMERNER
BEAFTHARAREE,6007T ©

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s) to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BUCEEHS D
H BRI -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

ot 5%
=2
it
B>
53
|
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

13. WM (])

(CONTINUED)
()  The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold (o) AEBELARFBEAMAEE AR
land in Mainland China are as follows: BYENT -
2015 2014
20154 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Leases of between 30 and 70 years FAHI30F = 70 F 5,273,900 3,804,200
(6)  Investment properties leased out under operating leases © IRIECLHESEAEMIRENE
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEERE SRS ZHREEREY
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to ¥ . FERAEA—Z+RE WA
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the IRIBARH AR B HTER 2 IR
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. TEITHE - ANEERERABUSLE
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under I ERISEYEEN A ESER
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment ERIFHEEENT
properties are as follows:
2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREETT
Within one year —FR 71,694 89,626
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ —EEh4F (BEMFBIEENR) 164,498 231,585
After five years hFE 49,787 74,765
285,979 395,976
(d) At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s investment (d R2015512H31H © 1B & M 7

properties with a carrying amount of RMB3,692,270,000
(2014: RMB2,093,991,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 30().

30()FT#Ee - AEEREEA/ARE
3,692,270,0007T (20145 : A R #&
2,093,991,0007T) HY & TIREWHE
VEARE BB T BIRITIER R E A fE
EHEA o

ZrEESRAF —Z—ass®k 199



Notes to Financial Statements

PSRRI

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. WM (])

(CONTINUED)

()  The Group entered into certain sale and purchase agreements e AKEFTUETEEHZ LER
to sell certain investment properties with a carrying amount H B & A K ¥ 29,800,000t K & T
of RMB29,800,000. The Group had received deposits of BREWH - REBCDKBOARK
approximately RMB9,061,000 (2014: RMB9,061,000). As 9,061,000 TR (2014 4F : AR
the transfer of the property title were still under progress, 9,061,0007T) * HRYIZEFT B iR
the amount received was recognised as advances from EFEMNEETR - BATWERIFRIE
customers as at 31 December 2015. ERAN2015F12 F31 BB &P

BYEK o
() Investment properties under construction contains one ) EREEMESEMNTBEA—

property situated in Mainland China. The property is
designed to deliver fully furnished in December 2015. As at
31 December 2015, the property was undergoing internal
decoration. In the opinion of the directors, these properties are
considered as investment properties under construction.

14. PROPERTIES UNDER

E4%E - 2015128 » st
LBEREERE - R20154 12 A 31
H @ ZWEF#ETABEE - EFR
7 REMEWGRERIREYE -

14. AR %

200 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

DEVELOPMENT
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BEREE 9,626,541 7,508,457
Additions N 2,783,358 3,770,650
Transfer to investment properties (note 13) B R E W% (MizE13) (616,419) (582,216)
Transfer to completed properties EREREHEE
held for sale (note 22) BRI (MizE22) (2,484,146) (1,056,146)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 HERMEE 9,309,334 9,640,745
Write-down of properties under WO R R 5
development to net realisable value ER I HE (58,620) (14,204)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 BEREFE 9,250,714 9,626,541
Current assets mEEE 4,661,802 1,181,754
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,588,912 8,444,787
9,250,714 9,626,541

2015 Annual Report




Notes to Financial Statements

S e
14. PROPERTIES UNDER 14. AEPRPXE (18)
DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)
Except for one property located in Canada, the rest of the Group’s BR—IEMEMAINEX - NEBHEGRFAZEF
properties under development are all located in Mainland China. WAL B A, o
2015 2014
2015F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Canada mEX
Freehold KAZERE 121,639 127,825

The carrying amounts of the properties NG B R R R W 2 (R

under development situated on the AR A AR E ) BY
leasehold land in Mainland China FREENT :

are as follows:

Mainland China A B A 3
Leases of over 50 years FHHABB 50 & 6,140,875 6,054,261
Leases of between 30 and 50 years FAEAB0 F = 504F 2,988,200 3,444,455
9,129,075 9,498,716
9,250,714 9,626,541
The movements in provision for write-down of properties under R B B b Ay 2 7 AT B SR B B B N
development to net realisable value are as follows: T
2015 2014
2015 £ 2014 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt AR¥TT ARBFIT
At 1 January ®w1A1H 14,204 -
Write-down of properties under ERERAERYFERRT
development recognised 6 58,620 14,204
At 31 December »®12A831H 72,824 14,204

Included in the above provision for write-down of properties
under development is a provision for two (2014: one) individually
impaired properties under development of RMB72,824,000 (2014:
RMB14,204,000) with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB2,712,858,000 (2014: RMB203,049,000).

FF A E il 5 2 AR ) S OB B R R 1B
(20145 : — ) @RI RENFZEF Y
¥ AR #72,824,000 7T # (2014 F : A
R #14,204,0007t ) « #ERIBREERA
R %2,712,858,0007C (2014 F : A R ¥
203,049,000 7T ) ©
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14. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

There was a significant decline in the forecast future cash flows

for one individually impaired property under development during

the year. The directors consider that such a decline indicates that

the property under development has been impaired and an write-

down of properties under development of RMB58,620,000 was

recognised (2014: RMB14,204,000).

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB2,741,732,000 (2014:
RMB2,658,731,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note

14. SR HE (])

FA—EER D REMFE T Y ENTERIR
RAECREBRE TR - EEZRR - AEATRE
KARBTRYELCDRE  YEERARE
58,620,0007T(2014 % : AR¥ 14,204,000
TT) HIFAEE AR W) SR ©

2015812 B31 B + 1B 3 K 5% 30(ii) AT #
B ASEEEEAARK2,741,732,000
JL(2014F + AR¥E2,658,731,0007T) K95
THRBERYECEREERST BRITER

30(i). K E A EFRE AR -
15. GOODWILL 15. &
RMB’000
AR¥TT
At 31 December 2015: MR2015F 12 A31 8 :
Cost BN 63,928
Accumulated impairment 2EPRE (63,928)
Net carrying amount AR EE -
Cost at 1 January 2015, net of 201541 A1 BRI
accumulated impairment R REHRE
Impairment during the year FRRE -
At 31 December 2015 2015412 A31 H -
RMB’000
ARET T
At 31 December 2014: MR2014%F12 A31 8 :
Cost BN 63,928
Accumulated impairment EEPRE (63,928)
Net carrying amount BRI 58 =

Cost at 1 January 2014, net of
accumulated impairment
Impairment during the year

At 31 December 2014

R2014F1 A1 BRIBUK -
Mk 2aHRE
FERRE

R2014%12 A31 H
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S e
16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 16. A HEKRE

INVESTMENTS

2015 2014

2015F 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARET T

Unlisted equity investments, at cost JE ETiERIEE 3,300 3,300

17

The available-for-sale investments were the unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB3,300,000 (2014:
RMB3,300,000) stated at cost less impairment.

The investments were stated at cost because the investments do
not have a quoted market price in an active market. In the opinion
of the directors, the fair value of these investments cannot be
measured reliably and the underlying fair values of investments
were not less than the carrying values of the investments as at 31
December 2015.

A ERE AREEAS AR 3,300,000
(2014 4F : AR¥3,300,0007C)KIFE Eh
PRI E - IBRAHIBRRERIEE

HRNEERNER TS AT HRE - WHE
AN - EERBRZERENEHAAALE
BETEER Gt 8 RS R EN AR BETD
RZERER2015F 12 A 31 HHEREE °

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS 17. REATAFT
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARET T
Prepaid for land acquisition TEfTEEE T FRIE 293,320 18,347
Maintenance fund HEES 43,328 52,365
Construction completion deposits % T1F5R 22,673 10,000
359,321 80,712
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. W ELERNKRE

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREET T

Share of net assets PREEFE 774 46,228

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: BETENFBOT

Percentage attributable to the Group

Particulars AEEEGEDY
of issued Place of Indirectly held Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power  sharing activities
HACRT BERE
A R EFE i RARER RERE BN TEEE
Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Registered Zhejiang 26% 40% 40% Property
Management Co., Ltd. capital of PRC management
MMBRREEEEERAR RMB2,000,000
FHT AR AR BT MEER
AR 2,000,0007C
Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Registered Jiangsu 33% 50% 50% Investment
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC holding
IEHHREEBRAR RMB100,000,000
R Fh B L & REZR
A& # 100,000,000 70
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Registered Jiangsu 33% 50% 50% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC development
IHZEERERRF® RMB100,000,000
FHTAR AR BT &k MEFE
AR 100,000,000 7%

(1) Established on 16 September 2015 201549 A 16 BAIZ

=

¥ Disposed on 24 December 2015 ©) R2015F 12 24 AHE
The 40% equity interests in Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial MR R 5 B A R A BAI40% AR AN HE
Management Co., Ltd. is held through two subsidiaries with 90% w B BANR R D B ER90% K 73.1% KA
and 73.1% of equity interests respectively attributable to the ERRMENBAREA -

Company.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

The movements of the investments in joint ventures during the

reporting period are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

18. REERRAINE ()

RAEECENRERREHANEZNT

2015 2014

2015 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TF T ARET T

At 1 January 1H1H 46,228 46,487
Newly interest in an joint venture A —BeE D ENER 800 -
Share of profits and losses Dl ) & E5E (2,208) (259)
Disposal of shares of joint ventures (Note) HE A &b AL (FiFE) (44,046) -
At 31 December 12 A31H 774 46,228

Note:

Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Xiezhong”) and Jiangsu Jiarun

Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Jiarun”) were the Group’s joint ventures and the

50% equity interests in these joint ventures were held through China New City

Commercial Development Limited (“CNC”) and Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long

Commercial Co., Ltd. (“Sheng Long”), with 73.1% and 90% of equity interest

attributable to the Company, respectively. On 24 December 2015, Sheng Long and

Jiangsu GCL Real Estate Company Limited (“Jiangsu GCL”) entered into the Share

Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which Sheng Long conditionally agreed to transfer

its entire 50% equity interest in Jiangsu Xiezhong to Jiangsu GCL and Jiangsu

Xiezhong and Jiangsu Jiarun ceased to be joint ventures of the Group.

BiFE

L RREERAR (VISR Iz EEE
BRAR(NIFRE] AAEENEE R - 256
M S0% AR TIE BT BT EEEEERA
Al ([ R B ) AT I Rk EA R R A ([
B 1) (RRRIDBIMEME73.1% K% 90% M) 1548 K
20156 12 A24 B - BEET#HIHEEHERRAR]
(DI%WHE ) T RIEBF S - Bt - BREGRG
R B A LR LAk 17 R ) 2 BB 50% ARAR#8 38 T/ 1A
& - MIFRR R IHFEETHAREENS SR
% °
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

18. REERFRAMINE (W)

206 Zzhong An Real Estate Limited

(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial

information of Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Management

Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and

reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements:

TREGITMNRRAXREEERARIE
BEMEE - SMER S BERERFEL AR

N BB TSR MO RRE (B FEED -

2015 2014

2015 F 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARBFIT

Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 736 -

Other current assets Hithmh & & 1,200 -

Current assets MEEE 1,936 =

Net assets BESE 1,936 =

2015 2014

2015 F 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFME (T REmE) 1,936 =
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest EAREENEGE B

in the joint venture TS AN - -

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBEERER DL 40% N/A i@
Group’s share of net assets of the REEEMLEGERE

the joint venture BEFE 774 -

Carrying amount of the investment A REE 774 =

Total expenses sz 42 %8 (64) -

Loss after tax B2 e (64) -

2015 Annual Report




Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

19. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM A 19.%kg 2
JOINT VENTURE e #RIA

During the year, the Group granted interest-bearing loans to the FR - AEERNL NEHREFEER
following parties:

ELRMEREE

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Principal: A
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. LERZEEERRAR
(note) (B=E) - 390,931
Interest receivable: JEULFS, -
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. IERZEEEBRAR
(note) (B=E) - 29,769
Note: iz :
As disclosed in note 18, on 24 December 2015, Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long UM 18 FTHEEE - 201512 8248 I RE
Commercial Co., Ltd. (“‘Sheng Long”) and Jiangsu GCL Real Estate Company BEEEAR AT ([HE ) B TIHBEEMEGRA
Limited (“Jiangsu GCL”) entered into the Share Transfer Agreement, pursuant to A IEBS D REREHE - Bt - REAK
which Sheng Long conditionally agreed to transfer its entire 50% equity interest in R E A E AL A7 R A B2 E850% A% Ak 2 )T
Jiangsu Xiezhong to Jiangsu GCL and Jiangsu Jiarun repaid the shareholder’s loan HHE  MIt=BHESREESZICERERNE -

together with the interest thereon.
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20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

20. BERRBER AR

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
BEEREEE

Deferred tax assets

Losses available

Impairment of Unrealised  for offsetting Prepaid
other intragroup  against future corporation
receivables  profit or loss  taxable profits income tax Total
A{tE e
HitfElzE KEREE RRIERB BftE
AERE g Gilleli) | gz @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR ARBTR ARMTT ARBTR

At 1 January 2014 2014F1 /1R 15,742 19,714 70,355 36,974 142,785
Deferred tax credited ERPMERFERR)

to the statement of profit EREHE

or loss during the year - 8,344 29,211 21,586 59,141

At 31 December 2014 20145128318

and 1 January 2015 R2015%1 718 15,742 28,058 99,566 58,560 201,926
Deferred tax credited FRRBRTERR)

orloss to the statement of profit or loss EAEHE

during the year - 1,134 (33,465) 14,663 (17,668)
At 31 December 2015 2015%12A31 8 15,742 29,192 66,101 73,223 184,258

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
nil that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB419,730,000 (2014: RMB201,982,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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REPBIARRER - MEERAEE5F
VA SHE AR R ESRTLRIE - B RE W AREA
BMBERNEERREE REERBEH
FERT M BIAEZFRENIAE EESE A
BT SR -

REBRER LB ELR AUKHES L IRE
BAT B ERTIAES R TR EE -
REERFREAMITEEN R FIEER
A AR 419,730,000 7T (2014 F « AR
201,982,0007T) ' R —ERF A E|E -
LAHR SR B2 BRI ADE - BRZEHEB A
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B SRR M =E
20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 20.;EIERIAEERAR ()
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEEE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment  Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
REME
AAREE
RE BB Httr* @t
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TR AR®Tn  AR®Tx
At 1 January 2014 2014%1 A1 H 465,899 43,757 43,446 553,102
Realised during the year FRER - (32,155) - (32,155)
Deferred tax charged to the FARERE
statement of profit or loss M EERE
during the year 172,496 21,296 48,936 242,728
At 31 December 2014 201412 31 H
and 1 January 2015 %2015%F1A1H 638,395 32,898 92,382 763,675
Realised during the year FRER (596) - - (596)
Deferred tax charged to the FARBRERMGRN
statement of profit or loss RIERA
during the year 206,486 2,883 19,509 228,878
At 31 December 2015 2015412 A31 B 844,285 35,781 111,891 991,957
. Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * Hit FE0EEERN M ERRREN T
costs. R e
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT BEFBEPEMRFVE(HECEMGEH
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to L) BAINECEREETIRKRBRHE
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established R A 7 I HNE 1 5 2 IR BB 10% TE
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1 T o BREIATE B 2008F 1 A1 B4 © I
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. AR 2007 12 A 31 RgFEL 2 &7 -
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty s R B (A) 3 ER N B 48 1 2 P Bl AR [ 2 A
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. EABBEBHRERERENBT R - K
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore EBEZEALERAE10% ° Bt - AEBE AR
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those 2B B AR S 2 B A B 3t 2008 4 1
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings A1 BRREL 2 BHM DIk Z BB ER A
generated from 1 January 2008. o
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20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 20. RERMAEER KRR (])
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) EEFIEEE (F)
Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC withholding MR ER 751 Ay A BRI FE A0 BT 1S A AR R AE
income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has been HEEEIN  MENRES T KB QR
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately #) AR 989,413,000 70 (2014 4F : AR
RMB989,413,000 (2014: RMB1,020,854,000), which were derived 1,020,854,000 7T ) 4R B8 ¥4 7| 1 tH i 3E A 18
from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing Bty - AN B pe i f B R 4 2= 5E 1 B 1Y
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the BFf B BRI ERE R AT T8 R R R Al pE &
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. [g] o

21

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. R E A TS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling WA E A IR E R AN E BB A B
interests are set out below: BHIRAT
Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests: e RIS ERER DL
2015 2014
2015 2014 F
China New City Commercial BT MR R R B R AR
Development Limited (“CNC”) ([P BT ) 26.90% 26.90%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting iR B EAIE AR 2 B a4k
dates:
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

CNC o BT T 770,879 571,524
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FERDIE T IEFERSHEZS B A

2015 2014

2015 2014 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREET T

CNC R BTk T 199,355 128,311
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. R E A TIRIRE ()
(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TREFA LHBR RN HEERMEE AT
the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- WENSBEMEAARMYHEAT 2 ©58 ¢

company eliminations:

CNC
AR B T8

2015 RMB’000
2015 % ARETT
Revenue 1 ON 503,986
Other income and gains H A Rz 256,899
Changes in fair value of BEMEARBEE

investment properties 825,995
Total expenses X #%E (835,710)
Profit for the year F g 751,170
Total comprehensive income for the year  FRAZHEURES 4858 762,418
Current assets mEEE 2,849,154
Non-current assets EMENEE 8,444,010
Current liabilities mENBE (2,072,248)
Non-current liabilities FERBER (4,001,074)
Net cash flows used in operating activities & EEFEMAE L REFHE (383,773)
Net cash flows generated form REEBELER S REFE

investing activities 719,427
Net cash flows used in financing activites Bt & EEFERR SR EFE (119,395)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 334 I8 & S (E VL HNE 58 216,259
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of

the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-

company eliminations: (continued)

21. B2 FRKRE ()

TREINA LB ARNHBEREE - B
WEEH SR RPMER A FI I AT 2 88 ¢
(&)

CNC
R B4R T
2014 RMB’000
2014 4F AREFT
Revenue N 208,853
Other income and gains E A YA R i 7 35,377
Changes in fair value of BEMEARBEE
investment properties 689,984
Total expenses sz 4a %8 (471,710)
Profit for the year & A A 462,504
Total comprehensive income for the year A Z FIUW S A% 450,706
Current assets mENEE 2,530,083
Non-current assets FEMEEE 7,513,738
Current liabilities B E (2,629,837)
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE (2,956,560)
Net cash flows used in operating activities & EEFEAE L REFHAE (1,213,759)
Net cash flows used in investing activites & GEFERAR S REF5E (96,579)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEHEAR SRS FE 1,809,404
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 33& I8 & Z(E V16 HnF 58 499,066
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD 22, i3kt EE R
FOR SALE
2015 2014
2015F 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 B Z2ERmE 4,339,181 4,386,355
Transfer from properties EEE R (M 14)
under development (note 14) 2,484,146 1,056,146
Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) EEZEE HE WA (KizE6) (2,317,028) (1,103,320)
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 B2 REE 4,506,299 4,339,181

23

24

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB2,378,376,000 (2014:
RMB2,160,113,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note
30(iv).

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23.

2015612 A31H @ A& EE T H1EH
BEEEKMER A K ®2,378,376,000 7T
(20144 : AR¥2,160,113,0007T) » NH
FE30(v) T e « BEEAR TASE SR
ITE R R E M fE KA -

Listed equity investments, at market value Mz E © IHE

The above equity investments at 31 December 2015 were classified
as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition, designated by
the Group as financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past due
nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade and bills receivables are non-interesting-bearing and
unsecured.

24.

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
558 815

BRI AR 20154F 12 A 31 BN AR
EEZURENIERE - AEBERKESE
BUAARBEEBESEAE BN
SREE

FEN 38 55 R 7k B TR 4

AEERERFIUNESERERREE
HERWTR - EEHM—RA—EA  51E
ERFMe&ZERE=(EA - BKEHER
RERBERFRAMASRBESRAHSRE
ARk AS—==MEA -

EWE SRR RRE AR L MERR -

REFEERRAT
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. Ffi - e RHMER
®IR

2015 2014
2015 & 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREET T

Due from other related parties JFEE LA L Ath B S 5 RO
Advance to suppliers MEEREmTEMR
Deposits biria

Prepaid other tax TR EAL R IE

Other receivables L fEUGRIR
Impairment IE

(a) As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, all of the other receivables due from

related parties are due from a non-controlling shareholder.

(b) Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is a full
provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB62,966,000 with
a carrying amount before provision of RMB62,966,000 as at 31 December
2015.
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@

(b)

2,397 2,397
29,726 33,589
43,180 52,367

266,344 196,004

250,291 211,654

600,938 496,011
(62,966) (62,966)

537,972 433,045

R 2015F K% 2014512 A 31 H A fEUkES
Bt 5 At 5RIEYS A PRI IEFE AR AR R 5K o

P E R FIER R ER ERERERNE
SREH) E At R ROBE H B 2 B B AR
62,966,000 7T + 1M & &1 & & Al &) &R @ B 7
20154 12 A 31 H A AR 62,966,000 7T °
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

26.HEeERBEER/VEZR
AND RESTRICTED CASH R &

2015 2014

2015 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Cash and bank balances e MIRIT4E R 1,458,075 1,255,691
Time deposits TE BATF R 248,699 333,738
1,706,774 1,589,429
Less: Restricted cash B XBRHIRE (252,316) (620,123)
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 1,454,458 969,306
Current assets mEEE 162,216 620,123
Non-current assets IEmBEE 90,100 =
Restricted cash 2R HIR B 252,316 620,123

Cash at banks eamns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods

of between one day and three months depending on the immediate

cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective

short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted

cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property

development companies of the Group are required to place in

designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds of

properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related

properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of construction

materials and payments of the construction fees of the relevant

property projects when approval from relevant local government

authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2015, such guarantee
deposits amounted to approximately RMB76,526,000 (2014

RMB258,816,000).

RITERERRITAERHE

ELUFBFI%S

B BHERFERS —RE=EATZHH
ROEAEENEIRRSFLME) - KIET
RV B B EET R  RITHEBRRT
IR FIER 2 MU AN 8 KR S 1 (58

RIFZRTT

RIERBBEER - AEENE TR
A EZEHFTIRE R & T 78 & FTfS BB IR
TEERITIRS - (EAEAYEERNERIZ
© o RSB E HIR A IPIM R ER - IR
SE 0] IR B Y IE B RSN R K
STEEER o 2015412 8318 » %k
RIES KB AR 76,526,000 7T (2014 4 -

AR# 258,816,000 7T) °

REFEERRAT
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26.

27.

216 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s current time
deposits of RMB51,659,000 (2014: RMB41,355,000) were pledged
to banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group’s properties and certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits of RMB1,000,000 (2014: Nil) were pledged to banks
as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s non-current time deposits
of RMB89,100,000 (2014: Nil) were pledged to secure a long-term
interest-bearing bank loans and certain of the Group’s current time
deposits of RMB940,000 (2014: RMB292,383,000) were pledged to
secure short-term interest-bearing bank loans granted to the Group
as disclosed in note 30(v).

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB33,091,000 (2014: RMB27,569,000) were guaranteed to bank
for the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 30(v).

TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

26.5&RESFRMEZR

BB & (4§)

201512 31 H « ANEEANE TEHE
HATF AR ¥ 51,650,000 7T (2014 F « AR
#k 41,355,000 ) BEERTIRIT - EAAE
EYEERERRBERAER - MAKE
#% T 3E BN EA E BRfE SR A % 1,000,000 7T
(20145 : &) EEIFTRT - (ERAEAEHE
Y2 B REEIRIBE A ER o

R 201512 A31 H » # 24 M 5E30(v)Fr
BE ASBERENHATEHFRARE
89,100,000 7T (2014 4F : 4&) BB - LA
WEASERFZRPTEBRITERMSE TA
& [= BN HA F BT R A R 6 940,000 7T (2014
& AR%292,383,0007T) E fEHEKIF - A
WS AEEERCHT SRITER °

RN REBRETRITFEREOARE
33,091,0007C(2014 4 : AR¥ 27,569,000
TOERFARIT - DM IR EEE R (M
30(v) iz )

27. BT 8 IR

AEEENE ZRAN IS PRRRE B
HEtERRE T

2015 2014

2015 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within six months ~EA R 2,056,558 1,578,817
Over six months but within one year taxR <8R E—FR 206,986 152,400
Over one year BiE—F 56,935 53,492
2,320,479 1,784,709

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free and are
normally settled based on the progress of construction.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HftifEfI®RIAREREHA

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Deposits related to construction BARENZS 117,257 110,038
Payables for acquisition of LU BE B A B FE S YRR

subsidiaries 22,024 22,056
Interest expenses accrued FERTFI B R 20,842 13,642
Due to a non-controlling &S IR AR AR R B FRIR

shareholder 276,364 264,720
Other payables LA AT FRIE 346,044 97,487

782,531 507,943
Other payables are unsecured and interest-free. EAbENRAEEAREE -
29. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS 20. BRI

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from EFEMNRERASEREZ2015F &
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during 201412 A 31 H I F[E 578 P13 i SR
the year end 31 December 2015 and 2014. BRHIHEFTSHIA ©
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. it RSEBTERR HMER
OTHER BORROWINGS
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Group rEH
Current: BNER -
Bank loans — secured SRITER—H I 1,399,181 1,114,636
Bank loans — unsecured RITE R — EHIA 80,000 80,000
Other loans — secured HER— B 734,000 851,000
2,213,181 2,045,636
Non-current; FEBNER :
Bank loans — secured RITER — T 2,981,662 4,420,598
Other loans — secured HibER—HHEHA 1,000,000 500,000
3,981,662 4,920,598
6,194,843 6,966,234
Repayable: AR NI EAREE
Within one year or on demand —F e B R 2,213,181 2,045,636
Over one year but within two years ZR—FEDRME 1,745,245 615,100
Over two years but within five years ZRMFEBRLRAF 1,756,417 3,062,498
Over five years FEFLAE 480,000 1,243,000
6,194,843 6,966,234
Current liabilities mEBE & 2,213,181 2,045,636
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 3,981,662 4,920,598
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and floating
rates. The Group’s bank and other borrowings bore effective interest
rates ranging as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

B ERR M

30. 51 B &R 17 8 5 B H i i 5%

RITER R EAE IR EE M EAZ B K
TR« AEEMRITERREMMETIZAT

FIRET B -
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

EEFIE

Effective interest rates

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars

2.02%-12.00%  3.66%-13.00%

AEERFAMBERNEEEIAAR
¥ BT ELRINTEHE - RERE A

and Canadian dollars. The denominated amounts at the end of the LR ESREIN T ¢
reporting periods are as follows:

2015 2014
2015 2014 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB loans and borrowings ARG R R ETK 5,853,507 6,666,599
CAS$ loans and borrowings ITERRER 13,929 =
HK$ loans and borrowings BILE R R ER 43,990 42,604
US$ loans and borrowings ETERRER 283,417 257,031
6,194,843 6,966,234

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were
secured by:

(i) the Group’s investment properties with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB3,692,270,000 (2014:
RMB2,093,991,000) (note 13);

R2016%12 A318 » AEBRFTERIE
B TR A TS IBE ARG

() AN B RRE AR B4 A R #3,692,270,000

JC(20144F « A R #2,093,991,0007T )
HIRE S (MIFE13)

REFEERRAT
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(i

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the Group’s properties under development with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,741,732,000 (2014:
RMB2,658,731,000)(note 14);

the Group’s property and equipment with a net carrying
amount of approximately RMB144,327,000 (2014:
RMB153,682,000) (note 12);

the Group’s completed properties of RMB2,378,376,000

(2014: RMB2,160,113,000) (note 22);

the Group’s time deposits and certain bank accounts of
RMB123,131,000 (2014: RMB319,952,000) (note 26); and

the Group’s 100% equity interest in a subsidiary of
RMB6,000,000 (2014: Nil).

—~mj
il

0)

™

0

AR EIREAEL AR 2,741,732,000
TC(20144F « AR¥52,658,731,0007T)K)
R (FRE14)

REERREFEL AR 144,327,0007T
(20144 : AR¥153,682,0007T ) K03
BCAIGEARE

REEEE AR YA R 2,378,376,000
TT(20144F : AR¥52,160,113,0007T)
(FfzE22) :

REBE A AR®123,131,0007T
(20144 : AR#319,952,0007T ) HIE Ef
ERAEEFR (FiE2e) s &

ANEE [ A — P A B1HY 100% AR AE
AR 6,000,000 (2014 4F : £#) o

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s borrowings of RMB946,290,000
(2014: RMB922,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan

R2015F12A31H AEE M AR
946,290,0007T (2014 4F = A & # 922,000,000

(note 34(c)). TL) BB TR R 22 S AR FEIR (M 34(0) ©
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &%
Shares 80
2015 2014
20154 2014 4
’000 ‘000
Frx T
Authorised: VETE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 % ER% E & HK$400,000 HK$400,000
of HK$0.10 each 0108 THyE A% 400,000%& T 400,000 7T
Issued and fully paid: BETRER
2,348,582,400 ordinary shares 2,348,582,400 i AR EI (& RMB220,811 RMB220,811
of HK$0.10 each 0.10 8 TTHYERA% AR#220811 7t ARKE220,8117C
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 31.RE(18)
Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRHHA BE  RIOOEER @t

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB 000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR

At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 R2013%F12 831 B R
20141 A1H 2,367,635,400 222,319 2,983,238 3,205,557
Repurchase and cancellation of shares fABPS &) (19,053,000) (1,508) (16,986) (18,494)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 R2014%F12 831 B R

2015F1A1H 2,348,582,400 220,811 2,966,252 3,187,063
2015 movements 20155 # - - - -
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12 A31H 2,348,582,400 220,811 2,966,252 3,187,063

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. AR AR

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) ARARIGF —IERERAEEI([ZETEl ) - A
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible mAAEBESERINERERINEG EIR2H
participants who contribute to the success of the Group'’s EREEE R EEE) - ZErEINE B2 HE
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the directors, PREZ(BEBIFNTES) RAEE
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of HEiES - mAEEREERIRESHOERE
the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers B AEENER  AATRHRE E=5H
of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, third parties, and any LA R AR BT B A BRI E IR ARARER - 3%
non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The T8I 2009F5 B 15 B AR - BrIERTTES
Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and, unless otherwise 85 - BRIBHRZHBHBRT-FRER
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the offer
date.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. AR Rt B (88)

(CONTINUED)

The initial maximum number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options granted (excluding options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Group, if any) under the Scheme and
other share option schemes of the Group (if any) must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 15 May 2009,
being the date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Company
by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted under the
Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the Group (if
any) if the grant of such options will result in the maximum number
of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the Group
(if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee
within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five
years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.
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ERIRZ et S o 7R & B A h B Ak 51 21 (40
B) e 2 B ARE (TR EREZET
B AR S B E BRI (2NF ) 7 RK
B E R B A ) TR M Al T BC B R B
TS HREROHEE - TRBBAAFRN
20095 A 15 A (AR AR AR AR R A
FRE LHEZET 82 BE) B BITRG
10% ° AT © BES=RNEE ATRARR]
AR A ® ERARFRIEHEET « btoh - ikt
B B IR S SRR AR 8 R AR E
BRANEY E A B AR AERT 8 (0B ) B BB RAT
EH PR A AR A TR 1M Pl T AC 3% SR BE1THY
R0 EE BIBRAA RN B TR
30% - RIS AIAR RS AR R AT Bl S AN 6= B ER AN
B E A S AR R B (208 ) B 2 S AR IE -
PMER =16 A AR A A AR R BB AR R %R
BT EREER2HERTNEERMDE
B ' ERMAR AR E(AIEREE BT A
1% o fEfaIHE — 25 5% HH 8 8 I R KE 10 BB AR
BRIRRAE EEUSARR AR o

BIFARRES FETBABREZRE
S 1 S (T B A T OB ARAE - ZB R RS
B IEITE B RRUE o AN - IRAEMR
=& A B T AR A ERRR S B 3E
WITES - WEENEMBE AN ERE
P& AR R 8 2N A B] AT (] B P B BE AT AR (DAY
0.1% Sk HAAE (RIEA R RN R L B Br AR
{E51H ) RiE5,000,000/5 7T + BIZEE LA
RAE FEBREHAE -

ROBERENENEENAEE21 AR
AR AZRE.00B T AR KB
BZITEHAESET YN —ERFZE
BHIR R - EEBRERL R HENER
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. ISR fERT S (48)
(CONTINUED)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, BIREZITEEBRESETE - BRAER
but may not be less than the highest of: TEREE :
()  the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on () ARARD AR EREZ 4 B BER R
the date of offer of the share options; Fr 2 B :
(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s (i) ARRROREBEEZEZHAEEBRIAES
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the ¥HEBRZ FHKTHE : &
date of offer; and
(i)~ the nominal value of a share of the Company. (i) AREEFHRBHBEE -
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to BRI N B, T 358 A A R B SR AR
vote at shareholders’ meetings. e EIRE R -
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme FRNZTEITE N AREITE 2 BB T ¢
during the year:
2015 2014
2015 20144
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
InFEFS IE R fE NS fEARE
1THEE ®A TEE £ gE|
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRBT T4 FiRHTT 5
At 1 January ®W1A1H 1.85 190,473 1.85 193,874
Granted during the year FRERH - - = =
Forfeited during the year FREUL 2.25 (2,862) 2.11 (3,401)

At 31 December M12 A 31 H 1.84 187,611 1.85 190,473
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

32. fERx Rt &I (¥8)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015

Number of options

Exercise price*

RS B W AR TE BB 2 T E R 178
B -

2015 &

Exercise period

BRERE per share 1T

’000 TEE>

T4 =1

78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46787T 20137 A10BE 202347 A9H
70,200 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.8587C 2014F1 A22 BHE 202141 21 H
39,411 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 77T 20107 H9HZE 201947 A8H

187,611
2014

Number of options

Exercise price*

2014 4

Exercise period

BRESE per share 1TfEH8

’000 TEE>

T3 =1
78,000 HK$1.46 10 July 2013 to 9 July 2023
1.46 /87T 20137 A10BZE2023%7 A9H
71,500 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.85/87C 20141 A22 HE 202141 A 21 H
40,973 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.58 77T 20107 H9BZ= 201947 A8H
190,473

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BRENITEEERRKARETERA T

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

The Group recognised a share option expense of nil (2014:
RMB2,207,000) during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The expected life of the options is the validity of the options
upon grant date and until expiry. It is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The suboptimal exercise
behaviour multiple is applied to the exercise price, and indicates the
stock price at which the holders of the option may exercise prior to
expiration. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As none of share options was exercised during the year, there was
no impact on ordinary shares of the Company, share capital or share
premium.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 187,610,856
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 187,610,856
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB15,718,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 187,010,856 share options outstanding under the Scheme,
which represented approximately 7.96% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

33. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

Notes to Financial Statements
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32. RERx Rt &I (#8)

AREBREZE2015F12A318 IEF E
HRBERERAZ(2014F : AR
2,207,000 7T) °

BREZ IR FIAREZ A EERE MR
RIEZ BRI - BRVIRRARERHAE 21T
EER - RETERITABEERNITEER
RN BER B AR R AT 2 BB
1% o FEHAR IR SR BR AR AR R SR P FR/R AR 2R
B ETRVERERER -

R B 2 R B A 2 S
PO L

AR R BT - RABEHAR
AIEEkK - BAKBRDEEERTE

RBEBHKR NRAAIRZTETAE
187,610,856 10 HE AR #E M R 1T - 2032 55
MARITEEERE 2 BT - AIEAR R T
WIRARANEET  HEBUEBEINENT
187,610,856 IR AR A Al F i Ak R E & AR
15,718,000 7T Z FAIMKAS (HIBREZE1TE A
Al) o

R EN SRR RZ B - NARIRZETE
/& 187,010,856 (7 BB AR AE M ARTTHEE - #EE
RARA TR B E BT 4 7.96% °

33. fiti fil

(a) BHEE

Bt m (B R S N 2 BB & FR R
BEEE -

REFEEARAR —ZE-—AFFR
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

226 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value of
the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Group from 2006 to 2007 for
the purpose of preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong, and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor. Prior to the incorporation of the
Company, the contributed surplus represented the aggregate
of the normal values of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
of the Group.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the additional contribution made
by the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the
case of acquisition of an additional non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and
the book value of the non-controlling interest acquired.

Statutory surplus reserve and statutory
reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

2015 Annual Report

33. f#ifm (¥8)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BRARLR

REE N BB AIERIEE 2006 5F %
2007 FAEHEARN D RRDERBH R
BT R i AR SR BT T e AR PR
U BE BT B A Rl A BUR IR AN (B 4R RE 22
RNARFIBETIEARIBRORAOEER
ZF o RARRIFEMKMAT - BRA
HBARAEBHE R BBERAKIE
EEEAE -

At

RAEEIEA R TN B R RBRRER
BREIMNHE R — RSB R R
SMNIFFRRR AR - WRB RN AR AT RB IE
PR AR RO Z R ©

EEBBRABEREEERS

BEFEAFTERTFREEAFEH
MABAEEIZ AR - LR R B A A AN
EEFHB A R AR ERT &R
B 10% (RIBRESERERIER ) 2%
TESAB(EEBHAR]) 2R
ZIBRNEEEHFMERR50% °

BEAN - ARETHREEERRRINE
X WHABRNEEAERBARE -
REBEEBARINERENA BFFBEDX
B ZENBRARSARETESE
ERIFFEE MR R ENE TED
(TIR10%) BELZELEEE  BEE
ZIR T E T HEf E AR 50% °
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. AP A X H
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in MRS HRRTIRERR 5 RAEERIN -
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following RNEBRNERNEBR HHET T THEKRRZ
material transactions with related parties during the year: 2
(@) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group @ AEEFZEEAENFH(BEE
which comprises the remuneration of the directors is EHM) ERMIFES K -
disclosed in note 8.
(b)  As disclosed in note 25, the Group had balances due from (b) LAMIFE25FTHEEE B 2015 4F [ 2014
related parties at 31 December 2015 and 2014. The balances F12 318 - NEBE B RS
due from related parties were arising from non-trade activities, £k o RN REES H AR E IER BIEEI M
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ELE - THEEF - R ERREREE
(© As disclosed in note 30, the Group’s borrowings of ©  #NPIEE30FTHER - F20154 12 A 31
RMB946,290,000 (2014: RMB922,000,000) were guaranteed B REEMNER AR 946,290,000
by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2015. T0(20144 © ARM922,000,0007T) H
MER &2 e A HEAR o
35. COMMITMENTS 35. BE %R
The Group had the following commitments for property development MNIEHR - NEBGREMERZE Y HNE
expenditure at the end of the reporting period: AEPET -
2015 2014
2015 £ 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRTHEREE
Properties under development FEER Y 1,266,578 2,071,415
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

228 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

As lessor

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements on terms ranging from one to fifteen years and
with an option for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all
terms will be renegotiated.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

36. EEHEKIE
fEB A

AEBERBKEHELHLBEEREDE
MBENF—ZE+01%F  YAERERBIHBR
EEMER2BIEKTEIHE -

20156412 A31 8 » AEERIFHEEHES
RIS RN A] SRS AS T E T A T 51| HA R 2 HB
B SRERESFIEQENT

2015 2014

2015 20144

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within one year —FR 71,694 89,626
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEFRAF (BEMFREEA) 164,498 231,585
After five years A& 49,787 74,765
285,979 395,976

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be
renegotiated.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

ERAEMEA

AEERBEEHERHHAREETHAE
W - HEKERSHAE  WAEERE
H R E R 2 IR T BT EE -

R2015F 12 A31 H » NEBIRE A E44
AT E M NI ERM B EA B 1 R ER

follows: HEFBERZEINT ¢
2015 2014
20154 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Within one year —FR 7,961 6,646
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EZFERF(ERMEBRBEN) 18,580 15,659
After five years RFE 20,501 24,222
47,042 46,527
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 7. XFRR

b EL

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Guarantees given to banks for: FATIER 45 TIRITHIER ¢
Mortgage facilities granted REEYEERER
to purchasers IRITIEBER

of the Group’s properties

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled to take
over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ collateral
agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty,
and therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

3,867,074 2,520,813

AEERETRITAAREMEHERER L
MIIBEE HAER o RIBEARLYHEK -
fil B RREEERIBHNIA - AEBEEER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ% ERHVER MZIBE R L&A F

REIR - ARBEERAERZBEREIED
a%%ﬁ%°$E@W%%$E#EH@&
BEREHREEER BRI LERBHRR
1k e

RBER  AEETERAEEYENER
BT RIS S B AR e (R M & A ]
BAEE - EERA - MEBEAREERNE
T BRI EM IR ETAERRTH
RIRER R FERT SRS - Bt Rtz
SERIEL B -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. laplfloEm IR
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BFHSRITARNREHRNREEBERAT

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015 2015 F
Financial assets EREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
Available- through
for-sale profit or loss
Loans and financial ~ L\AREE
receivables assets FTEEHSZH
EXR AfHE FAEHES Total
WA CHEE WEREE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR

Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE - 3,300 - 3,300
Long term deposit RHER 66,001 - - 66,001
Loans and receivables from a joint venture  RE —fAA & CERNE T REKGIE - - - -
Trade and bills receivables WE SRR R 2K 72,198 - - 72,198
Financial assets included, in prepayments,  sF ATERZUE « & R E A

deposits and other receivables EUGIER R S REE 241,902 - - 241,902
Equity investments at fair value WA BETELHES

profit or loss AR BIERNEREE - - 558 558
Restricted cash XRHRE 252,316 - - 252,316
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 1,454,458 - - 1,454,458
At 31 December 2015 2015% 12 A31H 2,086,875 3,300 558 2,090,733
Financial liabilities SREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBER AW

SRasE

RMB’000

AR¥TT

Trade payables JEfTE SRR 2,320,479

Financial liabilities included in ST AT FRTE K

other payables and accruals ErrERATHNEmEE 748,707
Interest-bearing bank STESRITE R R H M ERK

and other borrowings 6,194,843

9,264,029
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY BB.LULAEAEsHEMT R
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) ()
2014 20144
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through
Available-  profit or loss
Loans and forsadle  MRAREE
receivables financial assets  sfE B H &)
Sk ENE  FAESRER Total
YR PREE  WeREE Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT  ARBETT ARBTT ARETR

Available-for-sale investments HHERE - 3,300 - 3,300
Long term deposit REBFER 62,365 - - 62,365
Loans and receivables from ajoint venture  RE—F & & REME TR EUIE 420,700 - - 420,700
Trade and bills receivables EUEZRZREE 16,954 - - 16,954
Financial assets included, in prepayments,  sF ATERZUE « iR e R EA

deposits and other receivables ERFIETNEREE 203,452 - - 203,452
Equity investments at fair value KAREEFEAHE

profit or loss AABHERNERRE - - 815 815
Restricted cash XBHERE 620,123 - - 620,123
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEED 969,306 - - 969,306
At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 2,292,900 3,300 815 2,297,015
Financial liabilities LSREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BRI AR HY

TREE

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Trade payables JESE SRR 1,784,709

Financial liabilities included in A AEMENFRIER

other payables and accruals ErrERATNEmas 487,015
Interest-bearing bank and STESRITE R R H M ETK

other borrowings 6,966,234

9,237,958
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BARSER R M

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

-

TRMAARERS
[H3R18

T
]

AEEERAR RS TANEEER AL E
BT HERAEEAAEEAEEEER
LN

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AREE
2015 2014 2015 2014
2015 2014 F 2015 F 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT AR¥TRT ARETT
Financial liabilities SREE
Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRITER R
other borrowings HAER 6,194,843 6,966,234 6,006,316 6,797,406

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade
and bills receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments. The non-current portions of restricted cash, long term
deposit and available-for-sale investments approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the insignificant amount or short
remaining maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the shares. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

39.
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EESREN AR BERTSRERETE
FEMAHHERERENRIABECKRA
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2015

39.

S
A

BARBETENEE :

MR
EZ%R48(])

53
o

-

R2015% 12 31 H

Fair value measurement using

RRERS

DMREEFEFRALE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EDNGIE S E BEAFRA
SRS RE i BEgE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E—& -t =R et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBT T ARBT T
Equity investments at fair value ’&ﬁ BEFEAR
through profit or loss FTAE BB
fzé SR A 558 - - 558
As at 31 December 2014 2014 12 531 H -
Fair value measurement using
RRBEFERATE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERAER EARH
E TSR (A LGS BIRER
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F—4) (F=) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Equity investments at fair value ’&ﬁ EBE;TEAH
through profit or loss FTAE BB
fffém&, g 815 - - 815
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors review and agree policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all increase
or decrease are deal with in profit or loss account, without
consideration of interest capitalisation.

Notes to Financial Statements
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AEENTRTATREEASRASEE
¥ - RGNS BRITER R EE
R BLERTATIZAN/AIEELES
S8 AKEREEMEREEREE
Pl E SRR R BN E SRR - REE
THZEEL -

ANEE SR T EFTELNE 2R R 2N EE
% HNERR - EERRIRBESER
AEETEHERETIESRTAEER
R - ATREFEERIARNZEE L
THE R HBRR R

(a) FRmEB

AEBUESAFLEE - AEER
M5 F RS AR AR E B
REBNZRRITERREMERSE
B - NEERA EREM N R %
MPEAM R -

TRIEFEZEEHT - BRFEF R
EENEE  RNEBERBATAERA
KEESNGURE (A REMBREER
FAE - WRERMBE MR NE
MR - ATERFBEARL ) °
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)

0. HERBEEERRKE

=

(a) F=mbz(F)

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
E2igm FR%E 51 R M
Om4) #hn, Cri2) ORl4)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AR®TT
2015 2015
RMB AR 50 (29,268) (21,951)
Us$ =TT 50 (1,417) (1,063)
HK$ BIT 50 (220) (165)
CA$ i 50 (70) (52)
RMB AR (50) 29,268 21,951
Us$ =T (50) 1,417 1,063
HK$ BIT (50) 220 165
CA$ i (50) 70 52
2014 2014
RMB ARHEE 50 (33,333) (25,000)
us$ £ 50 (1,285) (964)
HKS$ HBIT 50 (218) (160)
RMB AR (50) 33,333 25,000
us$ ETT (50) 1,285 964
HK$ I (50) 218 160
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

20 HERREEEMREE

(b) Foreign currency risk (b) IhEEELBS

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and REBMEREEEF R AHAETT -
FrERSHEEAARE - REEKES
DEERBBEUAAREHE - TN
EIT KRB TTEHMERRITARR RIRITE
BRI o

all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$
and HK$.

THRIFAEERHAFBRAEE
SR BEIRYETRATERS
A RBOGEE - AR
BRERETE -

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group profit before tax and the Group’s

equity.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
HEER BRBL A0 A R
#n,/ Ghd) #in,/ GRd) #in,/ ORd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
2015 2015 F
If HK$ weakens against US$ AT T (B 5 (16,480) (11,970)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ (VEVIBE Simani] (5) 16,480 11,970
If RMB weakens against the US$ i AR HETEE 5 7,215 5,411
If RMB strengthens against the US$ 4 AR E X ETHE (5) (7,215) (5,411)
2014 20144
If HK$ weakens against US$ AT T (B 5 (15,844) (11,883)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ BT H T E () 15,844 11,883
If RMB weakens against the US$ i AR HETEE 5 3 2
If RMB strengthens against the US$  fifi AR# 532 T FHE () ©) @

REFEERRAT
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

238 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with overseas
banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China. The
carrying amounts of the other receivables, restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The Group has no other financial assets which carry
significant exposure to credit risk. The Group has arranged
bank financing for certain purchasers of its property units and
has provided guarantees to secure the obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosures of these
guarantees are made in note 35.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and
other borrowings.

2015 Annual Report
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B IS SRR M =E
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MR EREHERB R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BEFTAORERNR  AEEERE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERRERROZIBHEMRET ¢
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2015
20155
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3MEAZ
REX SRR HR12f8A 125F 55 L st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETR AR®TT ARBTR ARET:R

Interest-bearing bank FTERTER

and other borrowings REMIER - 233,219 1,979,962 3,501,662 480,000 6,194,843
Interest payable in relation  AEAR(T REAER

to bank and other RIS

borrowings - 104,347 258,187 499,087 50,800 912,421
Trade payables EREZER 2,320,479 - - - - 2320479
Guarantees given to FETAEEYE

banks in connection EXNEBER

with mortgage BTHRITMER

faclities granted to

purchasers of the

Group’s properties - 2,506,012 - 1,361,062 - 3,867,074
Other payables HiERTUE

and accruals REEGHER 450,319 - - 298,388 - 748,707

2,770,798 2,843,578 2,238,149 5,660,199 530,800 14,043,524
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MR EREHERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (¥8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) KEBELER (&)
2014
20146
Lessthan 3toless than 1105 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
EAZE
®ER  PRIEA LR 12{EA 1E5F 5F AL st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank SERITER
and other borrowings REMfER - 1128636 917,000 4,294,972 625626 6,966,234
Interest payable in BERITREMER
relation to bank and HIERFIE
other borrowings - 130,952 414,437 522,159 104,546 1,172,094
Trade payables eSS 1,784,709 - - - - 1,784,709
Guarantees given to FETAEEYE
banks in connection ERMIRIBER
with mortgage RTHRITMER
facilities granted to
purchasers of the
Group’s properties - 2,130,171 - 390,642 - 2,620,813
Other payables Hi 508
and accruals KEER 200,239 - - 286,776 - 487,015

1,984,948 3,389,759 1,331,437 5,494,649 730,172 12,930,865
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MBRBRER B IR R BUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#&)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each of the
reporting periods were as follows:

(e)

EXEE

AEBEAREENTIEENEERE
AEBREHHELEREREFNE
AR - UXFHEERBRERRER
RAE °

REEBEREEERGEE - WRELHE
AR5 B 52 B FNFE B EE ) B B A R
HHELAE - AR ERE
& AEBER LA FREAR
B BERRETRERFETHR
15 - BZE2015F & 2014F 12 431 H
IEFE  AEEHEREAEENE
2 - BURSIRFFEH EEE -

AEBEREERABHLRETER
ZEBEERBLERAFERRAZEAM
FEE - FERBEERITERK
Hip a5 - [EAE ZRA R EMER
FAREER  BRASRAETEFE
Y o BARTIRARIBIREGER - X
BREPRNWEEABLENAT ¢

2015 2014
2015 F 2014 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

Interest-bearing bank and FTRIRITE R R E AL SR
other borrowings 6,194,843 6,966,234
Trade payables FERTE SR 2,320,479 1,784,709
Other payables and accruals H B R IERTE A 782,531 507,943
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERRESEEY (1,454,458) (969,306)
Net debt R EIE 7,843,395 8,289,580

Equity attributable to S RRHEA AELER
owners of the parent 6,410,223 6,002,548
Capital and net debt BRI FER 14,253,618 14,292,128
Gearing ratio BEAMELR 55% 58%
BREEARAT —ZT-hREFH 241
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

M. FAFMBERAER

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

242 Zhong An Real Estate Limited

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

B
N

R R RN & IR 2 B AR RO B N

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries YEKE 2,427,069 2,427,069
Property and equipment FEENEE 1,927 1,756
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 2,428,996 2,428,825
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BT A B ZRIE 340,188 364,031
Prepayments, deposits and TERER - HRE REAFRIR
other receivables 12,335 11,597
Equity investments at fair value AR EEZ A &)
through profit or loss FTAE HiEmmEmR & 558 815
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 1,860 2,322
Total current assets RENEERE 354,941 378,765
Current liabilities FREBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EPNGIE S 278,317 255,118
Other payables and accruals HAb e FRIE R IERTE A 1,016 1,166
Total current liabilities mENBEATE 279,333 256,284
Net current assets RBEERE 75,608 122,481
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 2,504,604 2,551,306
Net assets BEE 2,504,604 2,551,306
Equity i
Share capital A& 220,811 220,811
Reserves (G 2,283,793 2,330,495
Proposed final dividend R AR HIAE B - =
Total equity R 2,504,604 2,551,306
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

M. FLFMBRRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARATEEE R T
Retained
Share Exchange profit/ Share
premium fluctuation (accumulated option
account reserve losses) reserve Total
30 EX REE/ fR R
BBk KBRkE (REER) & #act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR AREKTE ARETR
At 1 January 2014 2014F1 A1 H 2,983,238 (642,782) (244,192) 157,707 2,353,971
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZEBRERE - 11,742 (20,439) - (8,697)
Equity-settled share option g S
arrangements T - - - 2,207 2,207
Repurchase 1Bl (16,986) - - - (16,986)
Transfer of share option reserve RERER I
upon the forfeiture or expiry o B
of share options BIRERE - - 3,589 (3,589) =
At 31 December 2014 201451231 H
and 1 January 2015 &2015%1 A1 R 2,966,252 (531,040) (261,042) 156,325 2,330,495
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FRZ2 EEEERE - (35,869) (10,833) - (46,702)
Transfer of share option reserve REERRERZ I
upon the forfeiture or expiry o R
of share options B E - - 3,572 (3,572) -
At 31 December 2015 2015% 12 A31H 2,966,252 (566,909) (268,303) 152,753 2,283,793

BRERERERERTENDREBREZ
DAEE - NPBRERME32H B ARD
REMONZ G BRAFL - SBHT
HRBRERETEREREROEERK
(AnERRE R E R S HOR K BRERER
R o

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments in note 32 to the
financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited.

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

42. MEGHRRNHEHR

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 22 March 2016.

ZEEEHN2016F 3 A 22 BB BT ERERL
= R I T2 o
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Properties Held for Investment

FIERENYE

As at 31 December 2015 72015412 A 31 B

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2015 (sg.- m.) the Group of land
Address R 2015 F BEEER AKEEEN T EHE
31k 12A BNREAR (FHK) EENEIL QOHR
1. Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 59.2% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant, and
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang serviced apartments
Province, the PRC
FEDMT AN AR LB MRET O35 MmEMMEhE=E Rk 12,225 59.2% 5 (P 5E)
BEEANEMEIEEE15E BARE
2. A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, No. Shop 341 65.8% Medium
433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai,
the PRC
B A TIRER KRR 4335 LIBIRRE 75 341 65.8% &
F1Ee 1 [ErRsh
3 Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Shops and portion of 5,913 65.8% Medium
Level 4, Integrated Service Center, East it is vacant
Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
TEHDIAMMNTRLUBEARRESRE BHNpnzE 5913  65.8% h HA
BGaREHOFEIELOME2EFE4E
4, Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Shops and portion of 60,014 65.8% Medium
Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin it is vacant
Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEHDIAMNTRLRILBERITIARE BHNHnzE 60,014  65.8% A
BESE2RERSRZE1EE5 BB
5. Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 24,491 65.8% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
HEUNT AN TR LRILBKEREESE  HRRMERHE 24,491 65.8% rh HR
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Properties Held for Investment

FERENMR

As at 31 December 2015 2015412 A 31 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2015 (sg- m.) the Group of land
Address R20154F BEEE AKEEEN T EFHE
3 12A BNREAR (FHK) EENEIL QOHR
0. Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of ~ Serviced apartments 21,094 65.8% Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
FEUNTEMHRELRILBEMTARE REXLS 21,094  65.8% R
EESESRREARZIRBEALE
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 (Phase Shops and portion of 10,885 65.8% Medium
1) and the whole block of No.43 commercial it is vacant
building (Phase 2), Landscape Garden,
Shushan Road and Panshui Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
BT A MM T RR L [ & LR AR L AR EE 10,885 65.8% H AR
IKFBE A BIZE 1 £ 55 2 [E 3 e 5 2 HA IR 43
5iig
8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 24,211 67.6% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
REUINIAMMTRILEEERREENEE SHENSO=E 24,211 67.6% Fh R
s
9. Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Office and shops and 152,135  73.1% Medium
International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, portion of it is vacant
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC
REUIIAMM TR R EE BN HABMEE LA 152,135 73.1% Hh
AL 28 4K61F =8
10. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 in Phase Shops and portion of it~ 4,487 100% Medium
| of Vancouver City, Jinhua Yuan, Remin is vacant
Road, Huaibei, Anhui Province, the PRC
PEZEEEIL T ARBRTER —HRE HENHhzEE" 4,487 100% h HA
BEAEFE 2B
Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired at the B : REAER BRI EFEEARE - B#tH b AEEN

end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years.

Investment property classified as held for sale

i Al A/ NA B0 46 - BT/ NA104F ©

DIERFHEHENREY R

REFEERRAT

—z-—hgsR 245



Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERER SHHEENYE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable
(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)
Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
=R i/ & U EEH NERENE ¥iK)  (AR¥TT) R (Fhx) BRAREER"
Zhejiang Province
1 Landscape Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new district in Residential 485 145,367 9R2.7% 215,334 300,012
e /&Ll Tier 2 city fre
-
2 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Centre of new district in Residential/retailoffice 1,491 360,360 67.6% 89,173 241,69
Bee /&l Tier 2 ciy b/ 5/ H0E
iR
3 Huifeng Plaza (A) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2cy  Residential retal 4107 280,671 90.0% 21,497 68,345
E2R5 (%) il /& ZRBERD ftx/ w8
4 Huifeng Plaza (B) Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier 2city ~ Commercial 679 8,500 90.0% 11,340 12,620
E2R% (A% fill/ &l AR oL
5 Phase A, International Office  Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Commercial 269 215,246 73.1% 92,610 798,795
Centre A/ &Il potential EE
BRHARLAS “hEER
6 Phase B & G, Intemational Office Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth  Commercial 458 502,512 73.1% 207,390 1,098,065
Centre /Ll potenta S
BRHARLBCH —RRER
7 White Horse Manor Xiaoheshan, Hangzhou Tier 2 ity with high growth ~ Residential 2,259 550,000 90.0% 145,265 243,497
BSILE UM/ ML potentia fr
—heER
8 Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run ~ Qiandao Lake, Tier 2 city with high growth ~ Residential/hotel 4,734 220,747 73.1% 119,398 46,691
Zhou Resort Hotel Hangzhou potentia =N
IITSHENEREE Wi/ TEH “BRER
9 [oeal Bay Yuhang, Hangzhou ~ Town centre of Tier 2city  Residential retai 1,648 834,000 459% 168,743 538,856
nee i/ & R FE/EH
10 Chaoyang No. 8 Xiaoshan, Hangzhou  Town centre of Tier2clty ~ Residential/retal 3,096 736,390  90%/65.79% 46,708 199,224
8% A& =Ll fre /a8
11 College Square Yuhang, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/retal 1,769 269,380 90.00% 52,359 146,605
Bzg M/ & potentie fre /e
“heER
12 Jiangeun Xihu District, Hangzhou Town centre of Tier 2cty  Commercal 4720 261,100 73.10% 39,708 59,69
Efis ll/ERE AR oL
Subtotal for Hangzhou 1,11 4,394,273 1,205,515 3,753,861
fuM et
13 Dragon Bay Yuyao, Ningbo Town centreof Tier 2 city ~ Residential 8,892 1,750,013 90.0% 330,135 196,809
i B/ Ak ZRBERD iz
14 Jade Mansion Yuyao, Ningbo Town centreof Tier 2 ¢ty Residential 3,804 1,113,764 93.0% 271,468 292,807
FRRe B5 /A =Ll =z
15 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 ¢ty Commercial/hotel 1,154 352,640 65.8% 65,159 305,478
(Phase ) B/ 40k R B% /B
TENRES—H
16 Zhong An Times Sauare Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier2clty  Residential/office/hotel 1,030 332,760 93.0/68.0% 71519 322,935
Phase ) ER/ ZABRD fi/H0g/BE
FENRES S
17 Zhong An Landscape Garden,  Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth  Residential/office/ 467 238,080 90.0% 197,655 510,125
Cixi 2 /4 potentia commercia
BERZIAE “KeER fFE/H0e/mE
SUEtTt:I for Ningbo 2,326 3,787,248 935,926 1,628,149
R
Subtotal for Zhejiang 1,520 8,181,520 2,141,441 5,382,010
et
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
TGE(TRR)
Development Phases Types
Including RRES REKE
Total GFA** investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &

Address aREmEe Hhaf sale® development®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office Il
it (FA%) REnE BIRE RET? GHARERS  HEREE BEI BERBAN
Ningwei Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Znhejiang 93,061 93,061 87,360 5,702
Province
FIANTRLIEZEE
Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District, 132,728 24,328 132,728 106,520 27,208
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
HranfmRLEREEERR
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 68,345 08,345 68,345
Province
HIEAmRLEST%
Yucai Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 12,520 11,320 12,520 12,520
Province
FIANTRLES %
Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 776,556 516,406 305,757 470,799 281,136 101,500 393,920
Zhejiang Province
B T =5: R
Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 1,098,065 998,015 1,098,065 1,098,065
Zhejiang Province
HIamMmRLESTELN
Liuhe Road, Xianiin Town, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, 136,684 136,684 130,685 5999
Zhejiang Province
HIamMmREREE R
Southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou, 46,691 23,801 46,691 22,890 23,801
Zhejiang Province
HIamimEz TENERs
Yuhang Economic Development Zone, Hangzhou, 538,856 538,856 522,648 16,208
Zhejiang Province
R e
Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 199,224 199,224 146,192 53,033
Province
HIanMmRLESLEE
Future Hi-Tech City, Yuhang District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 146,605 146,605 132,974 13,631
Province
AN ARERRR
Xihu District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province 59,65 59,556 59,055
HIEmMTERNE

3,308,891 1,573,868 668,230 84,111 1,855,889 2,595,815 125,301 581,776
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 49,463 49,462 49,463
LA AL %
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 243,708 56,340 187,368 243,708
FIAAKTHRLR
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Znhejiang Province 305,473 132,886 305,473 114,671 20,624 170,178
IE RT3
Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 322,935 322,935 203,038 71,679 48218
LA RRMATRLH%
Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cixi, 510,125 159,510 510,125 350,615 159,510

Zhejiang Province

MIEE2EFBRRELIH

1,431,704 292,396 105,808 1,325,901 961,495 92,303 377,906

4,740,595 1,866,264 774,033 2,110,672 1,855,889 3,557,309 217,604 965,682
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERERSHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
BRER fim/B EER NERAME ¥iK)  (AR¥TT) MEA (Frk) BEAREER"
Anhui Province
7HE
18 Phase 1B, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 266 11,645 84.2% 64,376 43718
BEBEZ1BE ZH/ A Tier 2 city £z
A
19 Phase 1C, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 302 27,356 84.2% 58,723 90,453
BEEESICH /AR Tier 2 ciy =
TR
20 Phase 2, Green Harbour Hefei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 376 40,708 84.2% 269,000 108,200
EE L %/ Tier 2 cty fr
AL
21 Phases 3-6, Green Harbour ~ Hefel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 5382 298,100 84.2% 1,395,000 560,300
HEBEEE6H 2/ A Tier 2 city £z
i T
iuﬂtﬁtj:t;l for Hefei 4n 317,809 1,787,099 802,671
=)0
22 Phase 1, Vancouver City Huaiei, Anhi Centre of new district in Residential 35 5809 100.0% 197,000 168,088
RFENEH ZH/ Tier 3 city frz
=AY
23 Phase 2 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Gentre of new district in Residential 3 3,483 100.0% 161,247 100,771
BTENE 8 2/ Tier 3 iy =
=AD
24 Phase 2 North, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 34 2,504 100.0% 84,330 75,027
JrEERE ) R/ Tier 3 oty frz
ST
25 Phase 3A, Vancouver Gty Hualbei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4974 100.0% 139,383 143,941
AT E A T/ Tier 3 iy frz
=BT
26 Phase 3B-3D, Vancouver ity Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 10,708 100.0% 214,217 309,712
BIFENEBEDS 28/l Tier 3 clty %
=R
2 Phase 4 North, Vancouver Gty Huaibe, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 10,286 100.0% 296,704 297,636
BEE 4B 28/ Tier 3 iy =
AL
28 Phase 4 South, Vancouver City - Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3b 3,863 100.0% 82,540 11,787
BTERE4EE R/ Tier 3 oty frz
SR
29 Phase 5 North, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 2,336 100.0% 265,310 67,607
BEEA S 28/ Tier 3 city =z
=R
30 Phase 5 South, Vancouver City - Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 1,228 100.0% 81,511 35,021
BEEAE 28/l Tier 3 cly 2
=R
31 Phase 6, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 2 1,952 100.0% 36,386 60.808
TS0 /¥ Tier 3 iy =
=D
32 Phase 6D, Vancouver City Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Hotel 30 2,025 100.0% 60,768 67,061
ATERE6DH R/ Tier 3 oty il
SR
33 Phase 7, Vancouver City Hualoei, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 3 4721 100.0% 80,291 136,772
BFENETH 2/ Tier 3 city =z
e
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
T (FAK)
Development Phases Types
Including LEGE REtE
Total GFA* investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &

Address aREmEe Hhaf sale”  development ®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office Il
it (FA%) REnz BRIHEC RET? GHARERS  HEREE BEI BERBAN
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 11,872 11,872 3845 8,027
ZHARETRIRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anhui Province 29,687 29,687 29,687
ZHEAETRAERER
Landu Road, Baohe Q[strict, Hefei, Anhui Province 108,200 108,200 108,200
ZHASETRTRRER
Landu Road, Baohe District, Hefei, Anfiui Province 560,300 560,300 560,300
RREAETEARHER

710,058 41,558 668,500 702,031 8,027
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 4,487 4487 4,487 4,487
ZHAELMRLEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 7211 7211 7211
ZHAEL AL AR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 9,760 9,760 9,760
ZHE R TRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiengshen District, Huaibe, Anfui Province 6,173 6,173 6,173
RHAEL AL ARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 309,712 132,637 177,175 302,061 7,661
ZHAELMALEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibe, Anhui Province 21462 21462 21462
ZHERITELEARS
Renmin Roagj, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 11,787 111,787 11,787
ZHERLTRLEARS
Renmin Road, Xiengshen District, Huaibe, Anfui Province 53967 53,967 53,967
RHAEL AL ARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 35,021 35,521 36,521
ZHAEL AL ARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibe, Anhui Province 60,808 60,808 30,289 30519
ZHERITELEARY
Renmin Road, Xiangshen District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061 67,061 67,061
ZHERLTRLEARR
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 136,772 136,772 136,772

ZREELTALEARS
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERERSHEENWE

% of
Land Cost interest
per sq.m. attributable

(RMB)  Land Cost to the Group Site Area
BEME  (RMB'000) A5H (squm,)

Project City/District Location Project Type (ARERL/  LfRE Pt R HEER  Project GFA*
BRER fim/B EER NERAME ¥iK)  (AR¥TT) MEA (Frk) BEAREER"
34 Southwest of Times Square, ~ Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential
Vancouver Cit 28/ Tier 3.ty frg
RFEN (RREAER) =AD
3b Northeast of Times Square, ~ Huaibel, Anhui Centre of new district in Residential 35 2,862 100.0% 87,072 82,815
Vancouver Cit 2/ Tier 3 iy frE
RFEH (BRERRL) =R
Subtotal of Huaibei Kl 56,802 1,835,759 1,657,546
i3 2\
Subtotal of Anhui 177 434,611 3,622,858 2,460,217
RENG
36 Tianjin Tianjin Centre of Tier 1 Cty Residential 125,000 17,282
R RE —BmRL fiz
Overseas
B *
8 AmberRise ABTRUE/ATE —HETH Residentia 11,20 86,497 100.0% 16,715 7,719
fr
Total 1,125 8,627,628 5,197,296 7,849,946
&5t
* including those with land use right and contractual interests
. including those with construction being completed but not sold and delivered
& Total GFA= D+Q+@ =1+ Il + 1ll
2 under renovation
a allocated land

- BIEEIGE L EREAREA S AR 2 i
* BEBRTERHERRNNEEDS

3 BEEEE=D+Q+Q@ =1+I+II

® HAETIZEITH

& iz
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Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

HERRR NHENWE

Land Bank (sq.m.)
T (FAK)
Development Phases Types
Including LEGE REtE
Total GFA* investment Hold for
(sq.m,) properties  Completed for Under future  Residential & Commercial &
Address aREmEe Hhaf sale”  development ®  development® Facilties | Hotel ll Office Il
it (FA%) ReEnx BRIHEC RERC BUARERS  HERER BEN  EEREAN
Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province
ZHEELTRLEARE
Renmin Road, Xiangshen District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 82,815 82,815 82,815 82,815
RHAELMIALEARE
907,536 154,363 103,060 260,406 544,070 701,620 67,061 138,855
1,617,59% 154,363 144,618 260,406 1,212,570 1,403,651 67,061 146,882
17,282 17,282 17,282
2185 Union Avenue, West Vancouver, 7,719 7,719 7,719
British Columbia, Canada
NEARBARLEZEE
RAETHAE2186%
6,383,190 2,020,626 918,651 2,378,798 3,085,741 4,985,961 284,665 1,112,564
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Summary of Financial Information

MBENHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

AEERFEEAMNERRYBRRNKIA
ERBEEFRENEE  BEIFEREROH

published audited financial statements. BEWT :
Results E
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
2015 F 2014 20134 2012 2011 £
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue A 2,883,146 1,550,105 2,437,605 2,395,625 1,688,699
Profit before tax IR 1,008,594 639,413 824,174 696,831 687,238
Income Tax FriS#i (415,292) (237,657) (366,160) (306,778) (308,671)
Profit for the year FRFE 593,302 401,756 458,014 390,053 378,567
Attributable to: AR A -
Owners of the parent SARIER A 420,608 319,725 420,539 336,228 351,391
Non-controlling interests EEaliig 172,694 82,031 37,475 53,825 27,176
593,302 401,756 458,014 390,053 378,567
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests ¥E - & RFZRER
31 December
128318
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
2015 2014 4 20134 20124 20114
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Total Assets WEE 22,089,407 20,760,707 17,143,648 14,885,603 13,648,782
Total Liabilities weE (14,536,641) (13,767,310) (10,954,046)  (9,184,457)  (8,380,674)
Non-controlling Interests PRI A (1,142,543) (990,849) (302,700) (303,925) (205,400)
6,410,223 6,002,548 5,886,902 5,397,221 5,062,708
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